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1 HEARING EXAMINER: Let's c a l l t h i s docket t o 

2 order. This i s Docket No. 33-09. This i s September 21, 

3 2009. I'm W i l l i a m B. Jones. This i s David Brooks, 

4 d i v i s i o n a t t orney, and he's going t o be handling the 

5 procedural issues today. 

6 MR. BROOKS: That means I can j u s t go ahead and 

7 r u l e on any obj e c t i o n s and I don't have t o go through the 

8 procedure of advi s i n g the Examiner. So I ' l l r u l e on 

9 o b j e c t i o n s , but h e ' l l do eve r y t h i n g else. 

10 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. And f i r s t l e t ' s c a l l 

11 the only case on the docket, l e t ' s c a l l Case No. 14330, 

12 A p p l i c a t i o n of Gandy Corporation f o r A u t h o r i z a t i o n t o 

13 I n j e c t . C a l l f o r appearances. 

14 MR. LAKINS: Good morning, Mr. Hearing Examiner. 

15 My name i s Charles Lakins, a t t o r n e y f o r the Applicant 

16 Gandy Corporation, along w i t h Pete Domenici, J r . 

17 HEARING EXAMINER: Good morning. Other 

18 appearances? 

19 MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, my name 

20 i s W i l l i a m F. Carr w i t h the Santa Fe o f f i c e of Holland and 

21 Hart. We represent V-F Petroleum, Inc. And I have two 

22 witnesses. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. W i l l a l l the witnesses 

24 who in t e n d t o t e s t i f y today, please stand, s t a t e your 

25 names and then be sworn in.? 
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1 MR. DUFFEY: My name i s Terry Duffey. 

2 MR. SMITH: My name i s J e f f r y Smith. 

3 MR. WHITE: My name i s Phelps White. 

4 MR. BEALL: I'm Tom B e a l l . 

5 MR. MAZZULLO: Lou Mazzullo. 

6 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Do you guys want t o do 

7 any opening comments? 

8 MR. LAKINS: Yes, s i r . Mr. Hearing Examiner, 

9 t h i s i s a very s t r a i g h t f o r w a r d a p p l i c a t i o n f o r 

10 a u t h o r i z a t i o n t o i n j e c t production f l u i d s . 

11 The Applic a n t , Gandy Corporation, has been i n 

12 the o i l business f o r a number of years, has operated other 

13 i n j e c t i o n w e l l s , has been before t h i s D i v i s i o n and the 

14 Commission i n the past. 

15 And what they have ap p l i e d f o r i s an a p p l i c a t i o n 

16 t o i n j e c t i n an e x i s t i n g wellbore t h a t -- What the 

17 evidence i s going t o show, t h i s i s an e x c e l l e n t candidate 

18 f o r i n j e c t i o n , and i t i s p e r f e c t l y s u i t e d f o r i n j e c t i o n . 

19 And under 19.15.26.10, t h i s p a r t i c u l a r w e l l can 

20 be operated i n such a manner as i t w i l l confine the 

21 i n j e c t e d f l u i d s t o s p e c i f i c i n t e r v a l s . And of course, the 

22 operator w i l l take a l l necessary actions t o prevent 

23 surface damage, et cetera, p o l l u t i o n . 

24 Through the a p p l i c a t i o n process, what has 

25 happened here i s t h a t t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n was f i l e d i n 
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1 January of t h i s year. We had i n i t i a l hearings set i n Ju l y 

2 of t h i s year. 

3 Based upon c e r t a i n f a c t o r s , here we are today, 

4 but e s s e n t i a l l y , we're l o o k i n g at coming up on a year, 

5 before we know i t , before a d e c i s i o n i s made on t h i s 

6 a p p l i c a t i o n . 

7 The Applicant took a l l necessary measures t o 

8 n o t i f y a l l of the e x i s t i n g operators w i t h i n the h a l f mile 

9 area of review. The only p r o t e s t a n t was V-F Petroleum. 

10 V-F Petroleum has one w e l l w i t h i n t h a t h a l f mile 

11 area of review. And what the evidence today i s going t o 

12 show, i s t h a t when you look at the proposed i n j e c t i o n 

13 w e l l , and the Blue Fin w e l l , which i s V-F's w e l l , t h a t i n 

14 our proposed i n j e c t i o n areas, p a r t i c u l a r l y the Wolf Camp, 

15 you w i l l see t h a t we have two proposed i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l s 

16 i n the Wolf Camp. 

17 The upper zone on our mudlog showed t h a t i t was 

18 a good candidate f o r production. So the current operator, 

19 Primero, which i s here under Mr. White, t e s t e d t h a t . And 

2 0 low and behold, i t turned out t h a t was 100 percent 

21 saturated w i t h water. 

22 When we also looked at our mud logs f o r the 

23 lower p o t e n t i a l Wolf Camp i n j e c t i o n zone, t h a t had a good 

24 show on the mudlogs too, but low and behold, t h a t zone as 

25 w e l l t e s t e d 100 percent water. 
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1 When you look a t the two Wolf Camp proposed 

2 i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l s and the mudlogs t h a t were obtained and 

3 compared, what you w i l l see i s t h a t the upper i n j e c t i o n ! 

4 zone, there i s n ' t any good show at a l l on V-F's mudlogs. j 

5 And the lower zone i s n ' t even there because i t ' s been 

6 pinched out. So what we r e a l l y have i s a demonstration 

7 t h a t there w i l l be no impact on c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . 

8 Plus, when we look at the e x i s t i n g Blue Fin, 

9 i t ' s a cu r r e n t production gas w e l l . I t ' s cased, and the ; 

10 areas where we propose t o i n j e c t i s protected. I t ' s j 

11 operating r i g h t now as a gas producer and i t ' s a good gas 

12 producer. 

13 I t doesn't look l i k e from a commercial 

14 standpoint there would be any reason t o stop gas 

15 production and reopen t h a t w e l l i n t o the proposed 

16 i n j e c t i o n s -- or our proposed zones, because there's j u s t 

17 water there already. | 

18 And so what we're going t o show today i s t h a t we j 

19 have taken all the necessary steps required by the I 

20 a d m i n i s t r a t i v e process f o r our a p p l i c a t i o n . 

21 The only p r o t e s t a n t i s here today. And when you j 

22 look at the mud logs, a l l the i n f o r m a t i o n , the geology, et 

i 
23 ce te ra , et ce te ra , i t w i l l be demonstrated t h a t t h i s w e l l | 

24 i s a prime candidate and a p e r f e c t l y s u i t e d candidate f o r ! 

25 i n j e c t i o n ope ra t ions . Thank you. | 
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1 HEARING EXAMINER: Mr. Carr? 

2 MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner. 

3 I n i t i a l l y , I t h i n k i t ' s important t o know t h a t V-F 

4 Petroleum i s before you today o b j e c t i n g t o the proposed 

5 i n j e c t i o n i n t o the Permo-Penn. 

6 And you're going t o hear a number of terms. 

7 You're going t o hear i t c a l l e d the Wolf Camp. Y o u ' l l 

8 maybe hear i t c a l l e d Cisco Canyon. But we're t a l k i n g 

9 about Permo Camp i n t e r v a l . 

10 Gandy Corporation stands before you today 

11 wanting t o i n j e c t i n t o a 1,780 f o o t open hole i n t e r v a l i n 

12 the Albacore w e l l . And our f i r s t concern i s t h a t the 

13 i n t e r v a l i s simply too la r g e . They want t o i n j e c t both 

14 i n t o the Abo, which we do not o b j e c t , and i n t o the Penn, 

15 t o which we do. 

16 W i t h i n the area of review, we have one w e l l , our 

17 Blue Fin w e l l t h a t ' s only 2,100 f e e t away. And yes, i t 

18 does produce from a deeper i n t e r v a l . But when you look at 

19 the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t w i l l be presented today, you w i l l see 

20 t h a t there i s p o t e n t i a l uphole, and t h a t i f you allow t h i s 

21 i n j e c t i o n across t h i s huge i n t e r v a l , they're going t o be 

22 p u t t i n g p o t e n t i a l reserves at r i s k . 

23 They say they -- there are two i n t e r v a l s . They 

24 have t e s t e d two i n t e r v a l s w i t h i n the Wolf Camp or the 

25 Permo-Penn, but they are going t o i n j e c t i n a l l of them 
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1 and they won't even know where the water they put i n the 

2 w e l l i s going t o go. 

3 We bel i e v e what they are proposing w i l l impair 

4 our c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s and w i l l u l t i m a t e l y r e s u l t i n the 

5 waste of hydrocarbons. 

6 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. 

7 MR. LAKINS: Mr. Hearing Examiner, before we 

8 proceed here, I j u s t want t o make sure t h a t we are c o r r e c t 

9 i n our understanding t h a t the p r o t e s t i s only i n t o the 

10 Lower Permo-Penn, Wolfe Camp and t h a t V-F i s not 

11 p r o t e s t i n g t o our proposal t o i n j e c t i n t o the Abo. 

12 MR. CARR: That's c o r r e c t . 

13 MR. LAKINS: So we w i l l proceed accordingly. 

14 A l l r i g h t , Mr. Hearing Examiner, I would c a l l Mr. Phelps 

15 White. 

16 PHELPS WHITE, 

17 the witness herein, a f t e r f i r s t being duly sworn 

18 upon h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

19 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

20 BY MR. LAKINS: 

21 Q. Mr. White, good morning t o you. 

22 A. Good morning. 

23 Q. Could you e x p l a i n t o us your current business 

24 company t h a t you operate? 

25 A. I own Primero Operating. We're an operator i n 
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New Mexico, west Texas, and operate several 

2 we l l s i n t h i s area. 

3 Q. How long have you been i n the business of 

4 operating wells? 

5 A. About 3 0 years. 

6 Q. And by t r a i n i n g , do you have any s o r t of 

7 education background concerning petroleum? 

8 A. My degree i s geology from New Mexico State. 

9 Q. Have you ever u t i l i z e d your geology experience 

10 i n your business? 

11 A. I have. 

12 Q. Have you t e s t i f i e d before the O i l Conservation 

13 D i v i s i o n before? 

14 A. Yes, I have. 

15 Q. Was t h a t as an operator or as an expert witness 

16 f o r somebody? 

17 A. As an operator. 

18 Q. Okay. Turning your a t t e n t i o n t o the Albacore 25 

19 w e l l , i s t h a t one of your wells? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. And how long have you been the operator on t h a t 

22 well? 

23 A. I t h i n k about a year and a h a l f . 

24 Q. Now, i f I could t u r n your a t t e n t i o n t o E x h i b i t 

25 No. 1 there, have you seen t h a t e x h i b i t before? j 
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1 A. Yes, I have. 

2 Q. And could you e x p l a i n t o me when you saw that? 

3 A. I b u i l t t h i s as we worked on the w e l l . We d i d 

4 some work over -- operations on the w e l l , and t h i s i s p a r t 

5 of my d r i l l i n g r e p o r t . 

6 Q. Was t h a t d r i l l i n g r e p o r t attached t o the C-103 

7 t h a t ' s E x h i b i t 2 before there? 

8 A. This wellbore diagram was attached t o the C-103. 

9 Q. Okay. Let's go through what you d i d on t h a t 

10 w e l l t h a t r e s u l t e d i n your b u i l d i n g t h i s diagram, 

11 Mr. White. 

12 A. Well, we went i n and we t e s t e d several w e l l s f o r 

13 several zones. We t e s t e d the Atoka and we set a bridge 

14 plug, came up the hole. We t e s t e d what I'm c a l l i n g the 

15 Wolf Camp No. 1 zone 10,660 t o 10,665. We aci d i z e d i t . 

16 We got water, a l o t of water. We set a bridge plug above 

17 i t . 

18 Came up t o Wolf Camp 2, t e s t e d t h a t zone, got a 

19 l o t of water. And both those zones were on vacuum. We 

20 came up the hole, set a r e t r i e v a b l e bridge plug. We 

21 t e s t e d the Abo. I t t e s t e d high, no shelves, water or gas. 

22 By the way, I ' l l mention, Wolf Camp 1 and Wolf 

23 Camp 2 zones, we saw no sign of gas or o i l at a l l . 

24 Swabbed a l o t of water out of those zones. 
i 

25 At t h a t t ime , we were l o o k i n g a t coming back t o 
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1 p l u g the w e l l . And I had t a l k e d t o Gandy, oh, i n the 

2 p r i o r year asking me i f I knew where there might be a 

3 candidate f o r water d i s p o s a l . 

4 So anyway, I went i n and I t a l k e d t o Gandy and I 

5 said I got t h i s w e l l out here I'm f i x i n g t o plug. Looks 

6 l i k e i t ' d be a good candidate. Would you be interested? 

7 And t h a t spurred t h e i r i n t e r e s t i n the deal. 

8 I helped them operate -- They d i d an i n j e c t i o n 

9 t e s t i n t o the Wolf Camp 2 zone. They were s a t i s f i e d w i t h 

10 the i n j e c t i o n r a t e s . Came back the next day, d r i l l e d out 

11 the c a s t - i r o n plug between the Wolf Camp 1 and 2, t e s t e d 

12 both zones together. Took a l o t of water on vacuum there. 

13 So t h a t ' s e x a c t l y what they were l o o k i n g f o r . 

14 Q. Do you r e c a l l how much water was used f o r 

15 t e s t i n g t h i s well? 

16 A. They pumped about a thousand b a r r e l s of water 

17 i n t o those zones. Or they a c t u a l l y d i d n ' t pump i t , i t 

18 took i t on vacuum. 

19 Q. Both before and a f t e r you took out the plug? 

20 A. Correct. A f t e r we took out the plug, t h a t lower 

21 Wolf Camp was the zone t h a t was q u i t e a b i t stronger as 

22 f a r as t a k i n g water. But both of them were t a k i n g water. 

23 I t should be noted t h a t during t h a t i n j e c t i o n 

24 t e s t , the Abo was open also. Based on my swab re p o r t s and 

25 whatnot, I don't believe the Abo was t a k i n g much f l u i d . 
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1 Q. Now, you could describe f o r me the c o n d i t i o n of j 

2 the casing as f a r as you know i t i n t h i s Albacore 1 
I 

3 wellbore? j 

1 
4 A. Well, the casing i s f a i r l y new. The w e l l was j 

i i 
5 d r i l l e d by Chesapeake Operating probably two years p r i o r . | 

i 

6 And we had a cement bond l o g there. Before we te s t e d 

7 these zones, i t looked l i k e we had r e a l good cement bond 

8 behind a l l zones, and eve r y t h i n g looked l i k e a r e a l stable 

9 wellbore. 

10 Q. Are the proposed zones p e r f o r a t e d , the proposed jj 

11 i n j e c t i o n zones? j 
12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. Did you undertake doing that? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. Okay. Were those p e r f o r a t i o n s done a f t e r you 

16 had taken over the operation of t h i s well? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Okay. Now, could you describe t o me your 

19 knowledge of where t h i s w e l l i s e x a c t l y p e r f o r a t e d , or i f 

20 you've got some la r g e , open i n t e r v a l s ? 

21 A. There i s no lar g e , open i n t e r v a l . E x h i b i t 1 

22 shows t h a t I've got the Abo open 8,918 t o 22, 8,926 t o 32, 

23 8,936 t o 46, 8,948 t o 52, two shots a f o o t . 

24 We go down what I'm c a l l i n g Wolf Camp Zone 2 

25 which i s the upper zone there t h a t ' s open. Pe r f o r a t i o n s 
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1 are 10,506 t o 12, 10,514 t o 22, 10,526 t o 32, 10,534 t o 

2 42, two shots a f o o t . 

3 And Wolf Camp zone 1, which i s the lower one, at 

4 10,660 t o 65, 10,674 t o 90, two shots a f o o t . 

5 Q. Now, would you describe t h i s w e l l as 

6 mechanically good? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. I n your o p i n i o n , i s t h i s w e l l mechanically sound 

9 f o r i n j e c t i o n as proposed under Gandy's permit? 

10 A. Yes. We went i n and i s o l a t e d these zones and 

11 there was no communication. And i t j u s t seems l i k e i t ' s 

12 very -- a l l these zones are i s o l a t e d . 

13 Q. Do you have an op i n i o n about the economic 

14 assistance of t h i s w e l l t o the o i l and gas production i n 

15 the proposed area? 

16 A. Well, i t ' s always good t o have a nearby place t o 

17 put your water. And there's q u i t e a b i t of production i n 

18 the area. Seems t o me i f Gandy put a water w e l l i n there, 

19 i t ought t o save a bunch of f o l k s some money t o dispose of 

20 t h e i r water. 

21 Q. Do you t h i n k i t would be good f o r the o i l and 

22 gas i n d u s t r y t o have t h i s i n j e c t i o n w e l l done? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. One o f the t h i n g s you had j u s t spoken t o 

25 Mr. White about was the i s o l a t i o n ? 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. Could you e x p l a i n t o me your basis and your 

3 experience i n being able t o give t h a t opinion? 

4 A. Well, when we d r i l l e d out our -- w e l l , when we 

5 a c i d i z e d our Abo zones -- I ' l l go from the top t o the 

6 bottom -- which was the l a s t zone we te s t e d , the t r e a t i n g 

7 pressures were s u b s t a n t i a l l y d i f f e r e n t . 

8 We swabbed the w e l l dry. There was no 

9 i n d i c a t i o n of any f l u i d coming from outside t h a t zone. We 

10 knew t h a t the zones below there were j u s t making massive 

11 amounts of water. 

12 And they t r e a t e d our vacuum and -- The Abo i s 

13 not connected w i t h e i t h e r of the Wolf Camp zones based on 

14 any k i n d of l o g i c a l sense on what we d i d out there. 

15 The Wolf Camp 2 zone, which was the f i r s t 

16 i n j e c t i o n t e s t we made, was t a k i n g about 3 1/2 b a r r e l s a 

17 minute, I be l i e v e , on vacuum. And when we d r i l l e d out 

18 t h a t -- Well, we d i d a c t u a l l y load the w e l l w i t h t h a t . I t 

19 was t a k i n g our vacuum, but the w e l l was loaded. 

20 When we d r i l l e d out the plug between Wolf Camp 1 

21 and Wolf Camp 2, j u s t -- the bottom f e l l out. So I know 

22 Wolf Camp 2 i s n ' t connected w i t h the Wolf Camp 1, or we 

23 wouldn't have had the increased r a t e of i n j e c t i o n , and i t 

24 was s u b s t a n t i a l increase. 

25 Q. Mr. White, have you done t h i s k i n d of analysis 
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1 and been i n v o l v e d w i t h other wells? 

2 A. Well, i n any w e l l you ever do, you want the 

3 an a l y s i s , you want t o be sure you're i s o l a t e d on your 

4 zones. Because i f we would have h i t o i l i n the Wolf Camp 

5 2 and the ocean i n Wolf Camp 1, we wouldn't have been able 

6 t o produce the w e l l . 

7 So i t ' s always important t o know t h a t you've got 

8 your zones i s o l a t e d . And I've been doing i t 30 years, so 

9 the answer i s , yes, I've done t h i s before. 

10 Q. So from the production and i n j e c t i o n standpoint, 

11 do you have a l o t of experience? 

12 A. I have never operated an i n j e c t i o n w e l l -- I've 

13 operated i n j e c t i o n w e l l s , but I've never operated a 

14 di s p o s a l . 

15 MR. LAKINS: Nothing f u r t h e r at t h i s time, 

16 Mr. Hearing Examiner. 

17 MR. CARR: Mr. Carr? 

18 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

19 BY MR. CARR: 

20 Q. Mr . Whi te? 

21 A . Yes, s i r . 

22 Q. I may be m i s t a k e n , b u t do you happen t o be 

23 f r i e n d s w i t h Examiner Jones? 

24 A . We knew each o t h e r a t NMSU back i n t h e day . 

25 Q. Do you b e l i e v e h e ' l l be f a i r and i m p a r t i a l i n 
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1 t h i s case? 

2 A. I've known W i l l t o be p r e t t y f a i r and i m p a r t i a l . 

3 Q. I want t o ask you, what i s the r e l a t i o n s h i p 

4 between Gandy and Primero? 

5 A. Well, Gandy, i n the 30 years I've been working, 

6 they've hauled a l o t of my disposal water over the years. 

7 And I've used t h e i r roustabout crews, t h e i r d i r t 

8 c o n t r a c t i n g crews. They're a b i g service company i n the 

9 area. And I've not known them p e r s o n a l l y , but I've sent a 

10 l o t of money t h e i r way. 

11 And my r e l a t i o n on t h i s -- Like I said, I was 

12 d r i v i n g through Lovington, stopped i n t h e i r o f f i c e one 

13 time, and one of the guys there behind the desk -- and I 

14 don't even know h i s name, but said, "Hey, what are you 

15 doing w i t h t h a t Shoebar w e l l over there i n Buckeye? We 

16 sure would l i k e t o see a disposal w e l l over there." 

17 And I said, "Well we're s t i l l producing i t . We 

18 don't have any use f o r t h a t -- or we don't have any 

19 i n t e r e s t i n g e t t i n g r i d of i t . " And he said, "Well, we 

20 sure would l i k e some i n j e c t i o n w e l l s i n the area." 

21 So anyway, I j u s t f i l e d t h a t away. About a year 

22 l a t e r I was working on t h i s w e l l . Like I said, we went i n 

23 there, i t was a t o t a l f a i l u r e on my p a r t t o f i n d any 

24 commercial production. 

25 So I thought, w e l l , maybe the guys would l i k e 
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1 t h i s w e l l , i t ' s close t o t h e i r shop. I t h i n k he knows the 

2 rancher, I t h i n k he'd make a good deal. There's a paved 

3 road a l l the way over t o i t . I t ' d be a p e r f e c t place f o r 

4 a d i s p o s a l . 

5 So I went t o t a l k t o h i s b r o t h e r John, and he 

6 said, "You bet. We'd l i k e t o take a look at i t . " So at 

7 t h a t time, I said, "Well, you guys are fr e e t o come out 

8 here w i t h some f r a c tanks and some f i l l t r u c k s , pump i n 

9 there, see i f you guys l i k e i t . I f you don't l i k e i t , 

10 don't worry, I ' l l plug i t . I f you l i k e i t , w e ' l l go from 

11 t h e r e . " 

12 Q. The a p p l i c a t i o n i n t h i s case i s f i l e d by Gandy 

13 Corporation? 

14 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

15 Q. Who i s the operator of the well? 

16 A. I am, Primero. 

17. Q. And who w i l l be the operator of the well? 

18 A. Gandy. 

19 Q. When w i l l Gandy become operator of the well? 

20 A. The deal I have w i t h them i s i t ' s c o n d i t i o n a l on 

21 them g e t t i n g a permit. I n other words, they're not going 

22 t o take over operations unless they can use i t f o r 

23 d i s p o s a l . 

24 Q. And i f t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n should be denied, then 

25 you w i l l be respons ib le f o r p l u g g i n g i t ? 
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1 A. Yes, I ' l l plug the w e l l . 

2 Q. And i f the a p p l i c a t i o n goes through, and Gandy 

3 then w i l l f o r m a l l y assume operations and they would be 

4 responsible f o r the well? 

5 A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

6 Q. What i s the r e l a t i o n s h i p between Primero and 

7 Everquest? 

8 A. I've j u s t met them through t h i s case. As f a r as 

9 I know, he's contracted by Mr. Gandy t o do the engineering 

10 services. 

11 Q. Okay, but there's no long-term r e l a t i o n s h i p 

12 between Primero and Everquest? 

13 A. 'No. i n f a c t , t h i s i s the f i r s t time I've ever 

14 done t h i s . I'm the operator of the w e l l . Frankly, I ' d 

15 j u s t as soon not plug i t . And they're i n the water 

16 disposal business. Frankly, they would love t o have a 

17 water disposal w e l l i n the area. And t h a t ' s our only 

18 r e l a t i o n s h i p there. 

19 Q. I f the a p p l i c a t i o n i s approved and Gandy assumes 

20 operations of the w e l l , w i l l you assign the acreage or 

21 j u s t the wellbore --

22 A. Only the wellbore. 

23 Q. And you w i l l be the owner of the acreage? 

24 A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

25 Q. And so Gandy w i l l be in j e c t i n g in t h i s well but 
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own any of the o i l and gas r i g h t s t o run the 

2 well? 

3 A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

4 Q. And l e t ' s go t o your E x h i b i t s 1 and 2, the 

5 schematic and C-103 t h a t you f i l e d . 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. Was t h i s schematic included i n the a p p l i c a t i o n 

8 f i l e d i n t h i s case? 

9 A. I b e l i e v e t h a t Everquest created t h e i r own 

10 wellbore diagram based on my r e p o r t . 

11 Q. As I understand what you're proposing, you're 

12 proposing t o i n j e c t i n an i n t e r v a l from 8,910 t o 10,690? 

13 A. Okay, I'm not proposing anything. Let's be 

14 c l e a r about t h a t . But what they --

15 Q. Are you the person t o ask about what i n t e r v a l s 

16 you're proposing t o i n j e c t in? 

17 A. No, I t h i n k t h a t would be them. They're the 

18 ones t h a t are applying f o r --

19 Q. So I should reserve those questions f o r them? 

20 A. Yeah. You can ask me anything about wellbore 

21 i n t e g r i t y , our t e s t s , what we d i d , because I d i d a l l t h a t 

22 work. 

23 Q. Are you the i n d i v i d u a l t h a t picked the Abo, the 

24 Wolf Camp 2 zones, and the Atoka t o do t h i s well? 

25 A. Me and a contract g e o l o g i s t there t h a t l i v e s i n 
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1 Roswell picked those zones, and some of those looked l i k e 

2 they d i d n ' t r e a l l y have much of a chance i n the f i r s t 

3 place. 

4 B a s i c a l l y , we found ourselves w i t h the wellbore 

5 there t h a t we had farmed out t o Chesapeake. Part of our 

6 farmout was t h a t before they plug the w e l l , we had the 

7 op t i o n of t a k i n g the wellbore over. 

8 Q. I s t h i s e n t i r e i n t e r v a l cased? 

9 A. Yes, i t i s . 

10 Q. And have you done anything t o t e s t t o make sure 

11 you have a good cement job and nothing i s going on behind 

12 the casing? 

13 A. Yes. We have a cement bond l o g . I f y o u ' l l 

14 n o t i c e , I put t h a t the top of the cement i s up in s i d e the 

15 surface casing. 

16 Q. And you have a bond l o g a l l the way through the 

17 base of the Wolf Camp or Permo Camp? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. You're proposing t o i n j e c t i n t h i s w e l l i n t o two 

20 pools, the Abo and the Wolf Camp or Permo Camp, correct? 

21 A. Again, I'm not proposing. 

22 Q. A l l r i g h t . Did you have any say i n the 

23 c o n f i g u r a t i o n of the wellbore t h a t those might be 

24 segregated or not? 

25 A. We i n h e r i t e d the wellbore from Chesapeake. They 
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1 t e s t e d several zones down i n the bottom of the hole. And 

2 then, l i k e I said, we got the wellbore back. 

3 Q. But i n terms of c o n s t r u c t i o n of the w e l l and how 

4 zones might be segregated, I should ask one of the other 

5 witnesses about that? 

6 A. Well, no, Chesapeake i s not here. They're the 

7 ones t h a t designed the wellbore. 

8 Q. But you submitted the schematic on the wellbore? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. I don't see any plugs i n the schematic t h a t 

11 would segregate the Abo from the Wolf Camp. 

12 A. Oh, okay. No, the Abo i s open, yes. 

13 Q. A l l r i g h t . 

14 A. I'm sorry, I was misunderstanding you. 

15 Q. And what we're t a l k i n g about when we're t a l k i n g 

16 about the Abo i s one pool, Townsend Abo, and we're t a l k i n g 

17 then about down i n the Wolf Camp about the Townsend Upper 

18 Permo-Penn pool, these are separate r e s e r v o i r s ? 

19 A. You know, I'm not sure of the designations of 

20 those two Wolf Camp zones. 

21 Q. You d i d t e s t i f y they were separate sources of 

22 supply, d i d you not? You di d n ' t see communication between 

23 the Abo and --

24 A. That i s c o r r e c t . That i s c o r r e c t . 

25 Q. Did you p i c k these zones, l abe l ed them as Wolf 
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1 Camp and Abo, was t h a t something you d i d , or --

2 A. When we got t h i s wellbore, we turned around and 

3 found a group of i n v e s t o r s . And so I put together a sales 

4 package which sai d we're going t o t e s t these. So I c a l l e d 

5 them Wolf Camp 1 and 2. 

6 I n o t i c e they're c a l l i n g them by a s l i g h t l y 

7 d i f f e r e n t designation. But t h e i r s i s maybe Zone 1 and 2. 

8 But anyway, yes, I'm the one t h a t --

9 Q. Are you the one t h a t concluded the p e r f o r a t i o n s 

10 from 11,236 t o 46 i n the Atoka? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. And i s there a c l e a r marker t h a t defines the 

13 Atoka -- between the Atoka and the Permo-Penn 

14 g e o l o g i c a l l y ? 

15 A. I don't know. 

16 Q. So you don't know. I f we go t o your E x h i b i t 

17 No. 2, the C-103 -- And c o r r e c t me i f I'm wrong on t h i s , 

18 but I be l i e v e E x h i b i t 2, t h a t ' s a form t h a t i s signed by 

19 you, i s i t not? 

20 A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

21 Q. And t h i s was f i l e d w i t h the Commission back i n 

22 June of 2009; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. And i t shows the p r o d u c t i o n t e s t s t h a t were run 

25 on the zones t h a t are shown on the schematic; i s t h a t 
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1 correct? 

2 A. That i s c o r r e c t . And I hope they a l l match up. 

3 Q. And I do, too. I n the n o t i c e l e t t e r t h a t was 

4 sent out i n t h i s case, i t contained the statement, 

5 "These proposed disposal zones 

6 were production t e s t e d by Primero 

7 Operating during 2008. Each i n t e r v a l 

8 was determined t o be nonproductive of 

9 o i l and gas as they produced 100 percent 

10 water only." 

11 Are these the fo u r zones -- I s t h i s the t e s t i n g 

12 you were referencing? 

13 A. This i s the t e s t -- Yes. And keep i n mind t h a t 

14 there i s bridge plug there between the top set of the 

15 Atoka. And so you would take the -- what c o r r e l a t e s t o 

16 the wellbore diagram t h a t we've got here are the bottom 

17 three p e r f o r a t i o n sets there. The top one i s behind a 

18 c a s t - i r o n plug. 

19 Q. T e l l me what you mean when you say production 

2 0 t e s t i n g , because I'm not sure what t h a t means. 

21 A. Well, I wouldn't have chosen t h a t term, t h a t ' s 

22 something they chose. But we went i n , we p e r f o r a t e d the 

23 zones, we swabbed them dry t o see i f anything came i n 
24 n a t u r a l , and then we acidized those zones. I bel i e v e we 

25 ac i d i z e d each of them w i t h 2,500 gallons i n separate 
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1 stages, and then we swabbed the lower back. 

2 I n the case of the Wolf Camp 1 and 2 zones, we 

3 swabbed and -- we swabbed back a l l our load which i s the 

4 amount of a c i d and water we pumped i n t o the w e l l , plus 

5 q u i t e a b i t e x t r a . 

6 We had a stabl e f l u i d l e v e l of r i g h t around 

7 4,000 f e e t from the surface. I n other words, no matter 

8 how f a s t we swabbed, the water l e v e l stayed there. Each 

9 morning we would go out there, there would be no pressure, 

10 which i n d i c a t e s there's no gas there, and we would check 

11 the f i r s t run and there would be no o i l on top of the 

12 f l u i d s . 

13 So I don't know i f I would c a l l i t a production 

14 t e s t , I would c a l l i t a t e s t . And -- Anyway, both those 

15 zones had very s i m i l a r f l u i d flows w i t h the No. 1 zone 

16 being q u i t e a b i t more permeable. 

17 Q. I f we look at the Wolf Camp No. 2 zone, the 

18 second e n t r y on t h i s C-103, i t says t h a t you swabbed 250 

19 b a r r e l s . I s t h a t the amount of f l u i d you took out of the 

20 well-bore when you te s t e d i t ? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 Q. And then i t says there was a steady f l u i d l e v e l 

23 a t 4,700 f e e t f rom the surface? 

24 A. Tha t ' s r i g h t . 

25 Q. When you stopped swabbing, there was s t i l l f l u i d 
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1 i n the w e l l , was there not? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. Why d i d you stop? 

4 A. Well, i t probably got dark, or we f i n a l l y 

5 decided, you know what, there i s n ' t going t o be any o i l or 

6 gas here, so l e t ' s j u s t stop and move t o the next zone. 

7 Q. You show t h a t t h a t t e s t took place between 

8 August 26th and August 29th? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. Three or fou r days. During t h a t three or four 

11 day period, t e l l me what d i d you do on the well? You go 

12 out, and then t e l l me the process t h a t you used t o run 

13 t h i s t e s t . 

14 A. Well, we have a p u l l i n g u n i t out there, which i s 

15 a service r i g . And i t ' s got a b i g , long l i n e , s t e e l l i n e 

16 w i t h rubber cups on i t t h a t are roughly the size of the 

17 i n s i d e of the t u b i n g . 

18 They w i l l go through the f l u i d , and when they 

19 come up, they s w e l l and they p u l l the f l u i d out, l i k e a 

20 reverse syringe t h a t ' s swabbing the w e l l . 

21 So we j u s t went i n repeatedly, p u l l e d the f l u i d , 

22 p u l l f l u i d , p u l l f l u i d , p u l l f l u i d . What you would hope 

23 i s t h a t e v e n t u a l l y the w e l l would k i c k o f f . You'd s t a r t e d 

24 seeing some gas. Maybe i t would k i c k o f f f l o w i n g or at 

25 l e a s t be swabbing enough o i l t o say, you know, t h i s --we 
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1 got i t now, l e t ' s put the pumping u n i t on i t and s t a r t 

2 producing. We never saw any shows of o i l or gas i n those 

3 l i n e s . 

4 Q. Did you then p e r f o r a t e a f t e r you -- I'm t r y i n g 

5 t o f i g u r e out, you say p e r f o r a t e , you ac i d i z e d and 

6 swabbed? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. What's the order of that? 

9 A. Well, we p e r f o r a t e . 

10 Q. F i r s t ? 

11 A. Yes. And i f I've got time, u s u a l l y I l i k e t o 

12 swab the w e l l dry before I put any ac i d i n the zone. And 

13 I can't r e c a l l -- One of these I probably d i d t h a t , one of 

14 them I probably d i d n ' t . 

15 Anyway, p e r f o r a t e the hole, and we throw a c i d i n 

16 the zone and t r y t o clean the p e r f o r a t i o n s out so wellbore 

17 f l u i d s can come out. And we swab the ac i d back. I f i t 

18 won't flow back, then you have got t o swab i t . I t ' s the 

19 only way t o get i t back out of the wellbore. 

20 Q. I n t h i s w e l l , you were running these t e s t s t o 

21 determine whether or not you could r e t u r n i t t o 

22 production; i s t h a t correct? 

23 A. Well, yeah, we were hoping t o f i n d a l o t of o i l 

24 and gas f o r us and our i n v e s t o r s . That was the purpose we 

25 were out there. Believe me, I wasn't lo o k i n g f o r an 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
61 fe694b-6911-4915-b384-c0856342c0dd 



Page 27 

1 i n j e c t i o n w e l l , I was lo o k i n g f o r a w e l l we could a l l get 

2 r i c h on. 

3 Q. And do you operate other w e l l s i n t h i s immediate 

4 area? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. I n your experience, i s swabbing a w e l l f o r j u s t 

7 a couple of days adequate time f o r you t o know whether or 

8 not i t w i l l produce? 

9 A. With the k i n d of f l u i d s t h a t we've got coming 

10 out of t h i s w e l l , yes. 

11 Q. And would you say t h a t two or three day 

12 production t e s t was adequate f o r both of the Wolf Camp 

13 zones? 

14 A. Well, we -- I bel i e v e we d i d two or three days 

15 f o r each zone. 

16 Q. Two or three days swabbing on each zone? 

17 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

18 Q. Same t h i n g i n the Abo? 

19 A. The Abo swabbed dry. I mean, we swabbed i t dry 

2 0 immediately and waited the next morning and came i n and 

21 swabbed dry immediately again and -- w i t h no shows. 

22 Q. You also swabbed the Atoka, d i d you not? 

23 A. I meant the Atoka, as w e l l . That's the one I 

24 swabbed dry. 

25 Q. And how long d i d you swab t o get t h a t zone dry? 
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Twelve runs would be probably h a l f a day. 

2 Q- So you were only swabbing on the Atoka f o r h a l f 

3 a day? 

4 A. Well, we came back the next day and swabbed 

5 again. The problem w i t h swabbing i s , once you swab i t 

6 dry, you can stay there a l l day long and pay the p u l l i n g 

7 u n i t and you're s t i l l not going t o get much f l u i d back. 

8 Q. You show 12 days working on the Atoka on t h i s 

9 e x h i b i t , what were you doing i n t h a t 12 day period? 

10 A. Let's see here. 

11. Q- What I have says t h a t you were on the Atoka --

12 A. Yeah. 

13 Q. -- from 8/15 t o 8/25. 

14 A. Well, I would imagine what we d i d -- and I've 

15 got my records here, I could t e l l you e x a c t l y what we d i d , 

16 but t h a t ' s probably from the time we said crap, we don't 

17 have anything here. 

18 And then I went and t a l k e d t o Gandy and said, 

19 you guys -- you know, we s t a r t e d t r y i n g t o go t o Plan B 

20 here. What are we going t o do next? And i t took a few 

21 days t o , you know -- I c e r t a i n l y d i d n ' t want t o plug the 

22 w e l l i f I thought there was a chance t o put i t on somebody 

23 else. 

24 Q. You picked these f o u r i n t e r v a l s shown on 

25 E x h i b i t 2 from the mud logs, i s t h a t c o r r e c t , or how d i d 

l 
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1 you --

2 A. Well, some of those d i d n ' t have mud log shows, 

3 but the e l e c t r i c logs looked worth t e s t i n g . And l i k e I 

4 said, some of these w e l l s I'm almost embarrassed t o have 

5 t e s t e d because -- w e l l , when you have a f r e e wellbore, 

6 might as w e l l . 

7 Q. You had a mud l o g throughout t h i s i n t e r v a l ? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. And d i d you only see shows i n fo u r or less 

10 i n t e r v a l s when you looked at your mud log? 

11 A. Well, the primary show -- the only one where the 

12 mud mudlog said, you know what, t h i s i s the zone we want 

13 r e a l l y look a t , would be the Wolf Camp Zone 2, the Upper 

14 Wolf Camp p a r t , and t h a t had p r e t t y good shows. 

15 Q. But my question was, when you looked at the mud 

16 log, d i d you see any other zones i n which you thought 

17 there was a show other than the fo u r t h a t you tested? 

18 A. I t ' s been a while since I've looked at t h a t . I 

19 t h i n k there were some i s o l a t e d shows t h a t d i d n ' t c o r r e l a t e 

20 t o any p o r o s i t y on the logs. 

21 Q. That's a l l I have. Thank you. 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: F i r s t of a l l , I apologize, 

23 Mr. Lakins, t o your witnesses, what are they going t o 

24 t e s t i f y t o , are you going t o have another g e o l o g i s t show 

25 up or -
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1 MR. LAKINS: No, a c t u a l l y , Mr. Hearing 

2 Examiner --

3 THE WITNESS: I wasn't t e s t i f y i n g as a 

4 g e o l o g i s t . 

5 MR. LAKINS: He wasn't here as a g e o l o g i s t , t h a t 

6 was j u s t as h i s background. He's j u s t r e a l l y here f o r the 

7 w e l l and what he d i d , the t e s t i n g before. E s s e n t i a l l y , we 

8 turned i t over t o Gandy. Mr. Duffey i s going t o t e s t i f y 

9 about the a p p l i c a t i o n process, what we d i d and Mr. Smith 

10 here i s the g e o l o g i s t t h a t ' s going t o do the comparison. 

11 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay, w e l l , I might as w e l l 

12 ask Mr. White here about a couple of t h i n g s . This looks 

13 l i k e i t says, "Swabbed 5 percent o i l on the Atoka." 

14 THE WITNESS: That's c o r r e c t . 1 
15 HEARING EXAMINER: So I guess you were hoping 

16 something would happen on the Atoka? 

17 THE WITNESS: Well, yeah, we t e s t e d i t . We 

18 thought i t had a chance. And we d i d get 5 percent o i l but 

19 very l i t t l e f l u i d . Just wasn't commercial. That's why we 

2 0 moved up the hole. 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: Yeah. Now, t h i s f i r s t zone 

22 up the hole, you went from almost 11,000 t o 106 --

23 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

24 HEARING EXAMINER: So d i d you n o t i c e any 

25 b a r r i e r s between those two zones or -- Based on the 
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1 performance of the w e l l , can you t e l l i f they were 

2 i s o l a t e d from each other? 

3 THE WITNESS: I f e e l l i k e they were. I know 

4 t h a t on the e l e c t r i c a l logs -- I don't have them here on 

5 me, but Mr. Smith can probably t e s t i f y t o t h a t . There are 

6 l o t of t i g h t spots i n there. 

7 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. I guess I b e t t e r wait 

8 and ask him on t h a t . The cement top below the DB t o o l , do 

9 you t h i n k i t c i r c u l a t e d below the DB t o o l ? 

10 THE WITNESS: Yes, i t i s up through the DB t o o l 

11 - - o r there's good cement through the DB t o o l . 

12 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. And do you know why 

13 they put DB t o o l s at t h a t p a r t i c u l a r spot i n t h a t - - o r 

14 t h i s w e l l or any surrounding wells? 

15 THE WITNESS: Well, I couldn't t e l l you other 

16 than they probably wanted t o c i r c u l a t e cement and might 

17 have wanted t o keep the h y d r o s t a t i c o f f the lower zones. 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: Off the Abo maybe? 

19 THE WITNESS: Well, not -- The Abo i s p r e t t y 

20 t i g h t out there. The w e l l s I operate are out there. I 

21 would expect i t was somewhere down the hole, lower down 

22 the hole, maybe even t h i s Wolf Camp. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. But t h i s went from, 

24 b a s i c a l l y , Pennsylvanian gas up i n t o Permian o i l ; i s t h a t 

25 correct? 
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1 THE WITNESS: That's r i g h t . 

2 HEARING EXAMINER: And at what p o i n t do you 

3 t h i n k i t switches from -- Between the Atoka and the Wolf 

4 Camp, u s u a l l y you have the Strawn. Did you look at t r y i n g 

5 the Strawn out here at a l l ? 

6 THE WITNESS: We d i d n ' t see anything worth 

7 doing. Frankly, I went through there and picked out some 

8 spots t o shoot, and we shot them, and I wasn't t h i n k i n g 

9 about what zone i t was or anything else when we looked at 

10 t h i s t h i n g . 

11 HEARING EXAMINER: Did you look at the producing 

12 o f f s e t s t o see i f what, i n conjunction w i t h l o o k i n g --

13 even your contract g e o l o g i s t --

14 THE WITNESS: Well, we knew t h a t the Atoka had 

15 produced out there i n t h a t area, and we knew t h a t Wolf 

16 Camp produced out there. I n f a c t , one of my w e l l s 

17 produces from the Wolf Camp back t o the west. 

18 And then the Abo was our main o b j e c t i v e out 

19 there when we got i n the area i n the f i r s t place. We 

20 bought t h i s acreage w i t h the producing w e l l t h a t was back 

21 t o the west of i t , and t h a t ' s how we came across t h i s 

22 acreage. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. So b a s i c a l l y , you 

24 d i d n ' t research the records of surrounding w e l l s except 

25 f o r the w e l l s you own y o u r s e l f , b a s i c a l l y you already had 
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1 t h i s knowledge? 

2 THE WITNESS: Our co n t r a c t g e o l o g i s t -- h i s name 

3 i s Floyd Ferguson there i n Roswell, he d i d a r e g i o n a l 

4 study. And he's got an ove r r i d e i n the t h i n g , so he's 

5 p r e t t y c a r e f u l not t o leave anything out. 

6 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. I j u s t wondered. 

7 There seems t o be some other producing pools around t h i s 

8 area t h a t show up on our records. 

9 THE WITNESS: Well, the Blue Fin over there 

10 produces. I t was a b i g producer down there. And.that's 

11 a c t u a l l y why Chesapeake came i n and farmed t h i s out from 

12 us was they were hoping t o f i n d something l i k e what they 

13 have. 

14 HEARING EXAMINER: That Wolf Camp, i t would be 

15 water sat u r a t e d and probably water wet; wet i s t h a t 1 
16 correct? Probably water wet? 

17 THE WITNESS: I would guess, yeah. 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: But i t d e f i n i t e l y wasn't an 

19 o i l prospect, i t wasn't a gas prospect? 

2 0 THE WITNESS: Well, we would have s e t t l e d 

•21 anything we thought we could s e l l . 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. 

23 THE WITNESS: We f i g u r e d the Atoka would be gas. 

24 But we f i g u r e d the Wolf Camp would be o i l . And we were 

25 very sure t h a t i f the Abo was there, i t would be o i l . So 
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1 I don't r e a l l y d i s t i n g u i s h when I'm l o o k i n g f o r something 

2 l i k e t h a t . 

3 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. And you d i d n ' t look at 

4 the other Wolf Camp we l l s i t t o see i f they were gassy or 

5 not i n t h a t area? 

6 THE WITNESS: I t h i n k they make gas and o i l . 

7 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. So there's nothing 

8 below the -- I guess Chesapeake d i d a good job of t e s t i n g 

9 everything below the Atoka i n t h i s w e l l , and you may not 

10 have even g o t t e n the r i g h t s t o anything b e l ow t h a t anyway, 

11 but --

12 THE WITNESS: Well, I t h i n k we had a back end or 

13 something. They've .got a l o t more money than I do. I'm 

14 sure they d i d a good job of t e s t i n g i t . I n f a c t , they 

15 produced i t f o r q u i t e a w e l l m a r g i n a l l y . 

16 HEARING EXAMINER: Chesapeake has had a l o t of 

17 i n t e r e s t i n g issues here l a t e l y , you know. Up hole, i s 

18 there any other p o t e n t i a l up hole, l i k e i n the Upper 

19 Permian or maybe St. Andres or --

2 0 THE WITNESS: Not t h a t I am aware of. We 

21 c e r t a i n l y would have t r i e d i t . 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. So the Abo looks 

23 t i g h t , based on what you were able t o swab and --

24 THE WITNESS: That's c o r r e c t . We swabbed i t 

2 5 dry. 
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1 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. But the Wolf Camp f o r 

2 some reason -- could you have p r e d i c t e d t h a t from l o o k i n g 

3 at the logs? 

4 THE WITNESS: Well, we knew the Wolf Camp was 

5 going t o be permeable, and even though we had the o i l and 

6 gas show, i t d i d look a l i t t l e wet. I was p r e t t y nervous 

7 about doing i t anyway, but the shale looked good on the 

8 mudlog, so we went ahead and gave i t a shot. 

9 Q. So the p o r o s i t y r e s i s t i v i t y looked dangerously 

10 wet, but --

11 THE WITNESS: I'm not going t o say dangerously 

12 wet, but i t sure looked l i k e t h a t was a good shot. 

13 

14 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. But i f i t was -- i f i t 

15 d i d have extremely good p e r m e a b i l i t y and p o r o s i t y --

16 THE WITNESS: I t looked l i k e a good permeable 

17 zone, i t had almost a p o r o s i t y t o i t , and i t looked not 

18 scary enough t h a t we convinced ourselves and other people 

19 t h a t i t was worth spending the money on. 

2 0 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. You don't t h i n k t h a t 

21 p o r o s i t y and p e r m e a b i l i t y would have masked some of the 

22 mudlog shows while they were d r i l l i n g through i t ? I n 

23 other words, your mudlog wouldn't have shown --

24 THE WITNESS: Well, I've seen good permeable 

25 zones t h a t d i d n ' t have a show t h a t made production, and 
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1 I've seen places t h a t had great shows t h a t d i d n ' t make 

2 production. You got t o t r y i t . 

3 HEARING EXAMINER: Worth t r y i n g . 

4 THE WITNESS: Yeah. That Wolf Camp 1 d i d not 

5 have a show t h a t I'm aware of, but the logs looked p r e t t y 

6 good, so we gave i t a shot. 

7 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. But i t j u s t turned out 

8 t o be too high on the r e s i s t i v i t y ? 

9 THE WITNESS: ( I n d i c a t i n g a f f i r m a t i v e l y . ) 

10 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Or I guess low. 

11 THE WITNESS: Low. 1 

12 HEARING EXAMINER: Low, yeah. Okay. I 

13 Mr. Brooks? | 

14 MR. BROOKS: Just out of c u r i o s i t y , I've heard J 
15 testimony i n a number of cases t h a t i n many areas there's 

16 not a c l e a r d i s t i n c t i o n between the Abo and the Wolf Camp. 

17 Mr. Carr made t h a t d i s t i n c t i o n here. I s there a c l e a r 

18 d i s t i n c t i o n i n t h i s w e l l between the Abo and the Wolf 

19 Camp? 

2 0 THE WITNESS: Well, I'm going t o be frank w i t h 

21 you. I don't know. A l l I know i s our ge o l o g i s t said, 

22 "This i s Wolf Camp and t h i s i s Abo." 

23 MR. BROOKS: So you haven't done a geologic 

24 a n a l y s i s . 

25 THE WITNESS: I came in here and they handed my 
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1 b u t t t o me on a p l a t e on t h i s prospect when we were 

2 lo o k i n g because of the -- same question he asked, where 1s 

3 the Atoka and where does the Morrow come i n , where i s 

4 t h i s ? Well, our g e o l o g i s t d i d n ' t know, I sure as h e l l 

5 d i d n ' t know, and they grew up there. Stagner d r i l l e d me 

6 f o r 45 minutes on t h a t , so I'm not even going t o get i n t o 

7 these tops here. 

8 MR. BROOKS: Okay. 

9 THE WITNESS: But from my understanding, there 

10 i s a good d i s t i n c t i o n there, and perhaps J e f f can... 

11 MR. BROOKS: Very good. Thank you. 

12 MR. CARR: Mr. Examiner, one t h i n g . I had 

13 questions on the i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t . I s Mr. White the 

14 proper witness, or i s there another witness I should 

15 address those questions to? 

16 THE WITNESS: I could probably. 

17 MR. CARR: I'm j u s t a l i t t l e confused as t o who 

18 i s covering what. 

19 HEARING EXAMINER: I t h i n k he would d e f i n i t e l y 

20 know about the swabbing, and t h a t would be maybe r e l a t e d 

21 t o what happened on the i n j e c t i o n t e s t s l a t e r . And I 

22 don't know i f he was there. 

23 THE WITNESS: I ' l l l e t the attorneys here decide 

24 who would do t h a t . My purpose here i s t o say, t h i s i s 

25 what I saw, I was out here p e r s o n a l l y d u r i n g these 
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1 operations and --

2 HEARING EXAMINER: There might be a p o i n t where 

3 you can ask him and he can always t e l l you. I s t h a t 

4 c o r r e c t , Mr. Brooks? 

5 MR. BROOKS: Yes. 

6 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

7 BY MR. CARR: 

8 Q. Mr. White, I ' d l i k e t o ask you a couple 

9 questions about the i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t i n g . The C-108 st a t e d 

10 t h a t an i n j e c t i o n t e s t t h a t i s o l a t e d the Abo zone from the 

11 Wolf Camp p e r f o r a t i o n s i n d i c a t e d good i n j e c t i v i t y . Here 

12 again, I'm not sure I know what i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t i n g i s , so 

13 I'm going t o ask you, what i s an i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t . 

14 A. Well, m t h a t would be b e t t e r by them. Because 

15 a l l I know i s , we pumped a l o t water down i n t h i s w e l l . 

16 That's what I can t e s t i f y as t o . 

17 Q. And do you know what zone i t was going into? 

18 A. I t was going i n t o the Abo, Wolf Camp 2, and --

19 Excuse me. The f i r s t i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t was going i n t o the 

20 Abo and the Wolf Camp 2. We went out and d r i l l e d out the 

21 cast i r o n p l u g we but i n between the Wolf Camp 1 and 2, 

22 and the second t e s t was i n t o a l l three of those i n t e r v a l s . 

23 Q. Can you t e l l me i f the f i r s t t e s t i s o l a t e d the 

24 Abo from the Wolf Camp, or d i d you -- The f i r s t t e s t was 

25 i n t o e i t h e r both zones or j u s t the Abo, and t h a t ' s what 
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1 I'm t r y i n g t o f i n d out. 

2 A. Yes. The f i r s t i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t , there was 

3 never an i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t other than when we a c i d i z e d the 

4 w e l l , i t i s o l a t e d the Abo. 

5 Q. And d i d the Abo take water? 

6 A. I t took water but not much. 

7 Q. Well, what do you mean by not much? 

8 A. Well, I don't remember t a k i n g h a r d l y anything on 

9 vacuum. When we a c i d i z e d the w e l l , we were pumping 

10 probably f o u r b a r r e l a minute, I can t e l l you t h a t , but at 

11 p r e t t y high pressure. 

12 Q. Okay. You don't know the pressure? 

13 A. No But I can get i t f o r you. My guess from the 

14 experience i n the area would be probably about 2,500, 

15 3,000 pounds. That was during the a c i d j o b. 

16 Q. And you were doing about f o u r b a r r e l s a minute, 

17 you said, at t h a t --

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. This i s a commercial disposal w e l l which you're 

20 proposing, correct? 

21 A. I'm not proposing i t , these guys are. These 

22 guys are proposing i t f o r a water disposal w e l l , yes. 

23 Q. "We t a l k e d about t h i s being a good place t o put 

24 water"? 

25 A. Yes. 
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Q. Those were your words? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. Whose water? 

4 A. This would be a good place t o put my water, 

5 t h e i r water, anyone else i n the area's water, i n my 

6 o p i n i o n . 

7 Q. Where are you p u t t i n g your water now? 

8 A. These guys are hauli n g i t somewhere, and I don't 

9 know where i t ' s going. Well, I'm not even sure these guys 

10 are h a u l i n g anymore. I t ' s a c u t - t h r o a t business r i g h t now 

11 w i t h those t r u c k s . 

12 Q. I f t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n i s denied, are you going t o 

13 have t o shut down a well? 

14 A. No. 

15 Q. That's a l l I have. Thank you. 

16 HEARING EXAMINER: Mr. Lakins, do you have 

17 anything f u r t h e r ? 

18 MR. LAKINS: I have nothing f u r t h e r , Mr. Hearing 

19 Examiner. 

20 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. I s anybody going t o 

21 want Mr. White t o be here f o r the r e s t of the hearing? 

22 MR. LAKINS: We might. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Sounds good. Let's go 

24 o f f the record and take a quick break. 

25 (Note: A break was taken.) 
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1 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay, are we ready t o 

2 proceed? 

3 MR. LAKINS: Yes. I c a l l Mr. Terry Duffey. 

4 TERRY DUFFEY, 

5 the witness herein, a f t e r f i r s t being duly sworn 

6 upon h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

7 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

8 BY MR. LAKINS: 

9 Q. Good morning, Mr. Duffey. 

10 A. Good morning. 

11 Q. Could you t e l l me what business you're in? 

12 A. I'm an o i l and gas operator i n the s t a t e of 

13 New Mexico and also do some engineering c o n s u l t i n g work. 

14 Q. Could you describe f o r me your educational 

15 background? 

16 A. I have a BS i n petroleum engineering from the 

17 U n i v e r s i t y Texas, 1977. 

18 Q. And what about your work background a f t e r 

19 college? 

2 0 A. I worked f o r several major companies through the 

21 years down i n the g u l f coast o f f shore. Moved t o Midland 

22 back i n the l a t e '80s and have been there ever since 

23 working more independent companies, more i n the operating 

24 side of t h i n g s during those years. 

25 Q. Have you ever t e s t i f i e d before the O i l 
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1 Conservation D i v i s i o n here before? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. Were you q u a l i f i e d as an expert when you 

4 t e s t i f i e d before? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. Do you r e c a l l what you were q u a l i f i e d as an 

7 expert? 

8 A. I be l i e v e as a petroleum engineer. 

9 Q. Now Mr. Duffey, could you describe f o r me your 

10 involvement w i t h t h i s Albacore 25 well? 

11 A. Yes. I prepared the a p p l i c a t i o n f o r s a l t water 

12 disposal on behalf of Gandy Corporation. 

13 Q. Do you r e c a l l approximately what time you got 

14 involved w i t h t h a t , what month? 

15 A. Probably about the time t h a t Primero was 

16 v e r b a l l y t a l k i n g t o Gandy about the p o s s i b i l i t y of t a k i n g 

17 t h i s w e l l over. A f t e r they had done a l i t t l e b i t of 

18 i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t i n g , Dale c a l l e d me and asked me i f I 

19 would look at i t from my perspective and l e t him know i f 

20 i t looked l i k e a good i n j e c t i o n candidate. 

21 Q. Did you do t h a t before you prepared the 

22 a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. T e l l me what you d i d . 

25 A. I ' m f a m i l i a r w i t h the requirements o f the 
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1 a p p l i c a t i o n as f a r as mechanical i n t e g r i t y t r y i n g t o 

2 i s o l a t e your i n j e c t i o n t o a p a r t i c u l a r i n t e r v a l , p r o t e c t 

3 f r e s h water, p r o t e c t c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . So I looked at 

4 i t from t h a t standpoint and q u a l i f i e d i t on a l l three 

5 p o i n t s as a v i a b l e place t o put water. 

6 And i t looked t o me t h a t as f a r as g e t t i n g 

7 approval f o r the a p p l i c a t i o n , i t had a very good chance. 

8 I d i d n ' t see anything t h a t would be something t h a t would 

9 come back and probably be a problem sometime i n t o the 

10 process. 

11 Q. Okay. Let's t u r n t o E x h i b i t 3. You have t h a t 

12 there i n f r o n t of you? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. I s t h a t your signature down there at the bottom? 

15 A. Right. 

16 Q. A l l r i g h t . When we look through t h i s 

17 a p p l i c a t i o n , i f you t u r n t o the map t h a t ' s i n there, t h i s 

18 page --

19 A. Okay. 

20 Q. Now, d i d you prepare t h i s map? 

21 A. I d i d . 

22 Q. I n your p r e p a r a t i o n f o r t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n on t h i s 

23 map, i s t h a t c i r c l e t h a t ' s on t h i s map, does t h a t 

24 represent the h a l f mile area from the wellbore? 

25 A. Yes. 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
61 fe694b-6911 -4915-b384-c0856342c0dd 



Page 44 

1 Q. Did you do a search f o r a l l the e x i s t i n g 

2 operators w i t h i n t h a t area? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. Did you ensure t h a t a l l those operators were 

5 n o t i f i e d of t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

6 A. I d i d . And there i s also a requirement t h a t i f 

7 acreage i s unleased, t h a t you've got t o n o t i f y the curr e n t 

8 mineral owners. So most of the land was fee acreage owned 

9 by the State, so t h a t was a p r e t t y easy process, but there 

10 were some fee minerals t h a t were owned by q u i t e a few 

11 p a r t i e s , so i t increased t h a t l i s t of n o t i f i c a t i o n t o l i k e 

12 25 p a r t i e s . 

13 Q. How d i d you a s c e r t a i n those mineral i n t e r e s t 

14 p a r t i e s ? 

15 A. I beli e v e t h a t Dale r e t a i n e d a q u a l i f i e d landman 

16 t o search the records w i t h the county c l e r k i n Lea County. 

17 Q. Okay. And you ensured t h a t a l l those people 

18 were n o t i f i e d ? 

19 A. Yes. 

2 0 Q. Now t u r n i n g t o the next page i n t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n 

21 f o r the proposed w e l l , could you ex p l a i n t o me the 

22 i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t you determined about the proposed 

23 Albacore well? 

24 A. Yes. This i s ki n d of a required t a b l e i n a 

25 format t h a t the OCD l i k e s t o see t h a t j u s t shows how the 
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1 wellbore was constructed. I t shows the various hole sizes 

2 t h a t were d r i l l e d , where casing was set, how many sacks of 

3 cement Were pumped, d i d they see c i r c u l a t i o n t o surface. 

4 So i t ' s r e a l l y t o a s c e r t a i n the mechanical i n t e g r i t y of 

5 the wellbore. 

6 I t also shows the proposed i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l 

7 from top t o bottom. They want t o know how are you going 

8 t o complete the w e l l and configure i t f o r i n j e c t i o n . So 

9 i t covers -- Type 2 being the packers, anything t h a t would 

10 be used t o the t r y t o i s o l a t e the i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l from 

11 anything up or down the hole. 

12 Q. From your review of the e x i s t i n g w e l l t o the 

13 proposed c o n f i g u r a t i o n f o r the w e l l f o r i n j e c t i o n 

14 purposes, was there any work t h a t needed t o be done on the 

15 w e l l before i t would be s u i t e d f o r i n j e c t i o n ? 

16 A. No I pai d p a r t i c u l a r a t t e n t i o n t o the DV t o o l i n 

17 the production casing, of where i t was set, and looked at 

18 the type of cement t h a t was pumped. Between the f i r s t and 

19 second stage, a f t e r they opened the DV t o o l and they 

2 0 c i r c u l a t e t o t r y t o see d i d they get any cement above the 

21 DV t o o l , they c i r c u l a t e d out -- I t h i n k 65 sacks of 

22 cement. 

23 So i t gave a p r e t t y good i n d i c a t i o n t h a t the 

24 cement was up t o the DV t o o l . And then pumped t h e i r 

25 second stage, ran a cement bond l o g t h a t e s t a b l i s h e d t h a t 
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1 type of cement w e l l up i n t o the intermediate casing. So I 

2 f e l t l i k e a l l i n d i c a t i o n s were they had a good cement jo b . 

3 Q. Okay. Now i f we t u r n t o the next page i n your 

4 a p p l i c a t i o n , the proposed i n j e c t i o n c o n f i g u r a t i o n , a f t e r 

5 the current c o n f i g u r a t i o n , you've got one t h a t i s a 

6 proposed i n j e c t i o n c o n f i g u r a t i o n . 

7 Could you e x p l a i n t o us what needed t o be done 

8 on the w e l l t o configure t h i s as per your proposed 

9 i n j e c t i o n of the w e l l . 

10 A. A f t e r the i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t was done, there 

11 r e a l l y was very l i t t l e they would have t o do t o set t h i s 

12 w e l l up f o r i n j e c t i o n . Run an i n j e c t i o n s t r i n g t h a t ' s 

13 p l a s t i c coded, a good i n j e c t i o n packer, set i t above the 

14 Abo. 

15 They're already i s o l a t e d from below the lower 

16 Wolf Camp w i t h a bridge plug at 11,155 w i t h cement on top 

17 of i t . So they're p r e t t y w e l l set up at t h a t p o i n t t o 

18 i n j e c t i n t o the proposed i n j e c t i o n zone. 

19 Q. Okay. And are you aware of whether or not there 

20 i s any i n j e c t i o n pressure t h a t i s a n t i c i p a t e d f o r t h i s 

21 proposed i n j e c t i o n well? 

22 A. Well, on the i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t , i t was t a k i n g 

23 water on a vacuum, but r a t h e r than j u s t say i t ' s going t o 

24 do t h a t the r e s t of i t s l i f e , we f e l t i t was prudent t o go 

25 ahead and apply f o r some i n j e c t i o n pressure t h a t would be 
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1 w i t h i n the -- I guess the maximum the OCD would c u r r e n t l y 

2 allow. So j u s t give us a l i t t l e cushion i n t o the f u t u r e . 

3 Q. Okay. And i f we t u r n t o E x h i b i t No. 4, d i d you 

4 prepare t h a t e x h i b i t ? 

5 A. I d i d . 

6 Q. Was t h a t p a r t of your a p p l i c a t i o n process? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. Could you give me a quick rundown of the h i s t o r y 

9 of t h i s w e l l t h a t you determined as set out i n t h i s 

10 E x h i b i t 4? 

11 A. Well, the backup i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t was used t o 

12 construct t h i s w e l l h i s t o r y came from m u l t i p l e sources. 

13 Much of i t a t the OCD website i s p u b l i c record. Since i t 

14 d i d go through several operators i n i t s l i f e t i m e , r a t h e r 

15 than j u s t assume t h a t a wellbore diagram t h a t we've seen 

16 e a r l i e r t h a t Primero prepared, I thought i t would be 

17 prudent on my p a r t t o make sure I could corroborate what 

18 was done, and we both come up t o the same conclusion. So 

19 Primero sent me a l l the t e s t records a f t e r they assumed 

2 0 operations from Chesapeake, and I j u s t used t h a t 

21 i n f o r m a t i o n t o construct t h i s , and e s s e n t i a l l y came up 

22 w i t h a very -- the same p i c t u r e t h a t they d i d . 

23 But I paid -- there were a few things t h a t -- I 

24 t h i n k you're going t o see some typographical e r r o r s . I 

25 can remember the Abo p e r f o r a t i o n s t h a t were mentioned i n 
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1 Primero's, sai d 8,112 t o -- and went down t o 89 something. 

2 I thought t h a t seems l i k e an awful long i n t e r v a l . And i t 

3 turned out, i t was r e a l l y 8,912. 

4 And I bel i e v e t h a t Mr. White acknowledged t h a t 

5 at one p o i n t t h a t -- So you may see 8,112 on diagrams. I f 

6 you do, i t ' s supposed t o be 8,912. 

7 Q. And t h a t ' s f o r the Abo? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. Okay. 

10 A. But, you know, I was l o o k i n g at i t the from a 

11 standpoint of -- e s p e c i a l l y w i t h Mr. White's t e s t i n g t h a t 

12 was done, t o see i f , as an independent p a r t y , would I draw 

13 some of the same conclusions on the way things were 

14 t e s t e d . Were they i s o l a t e d . 

15 And I was loo k i n g f o r t h i n g s t h a t would maybe 

16 r a i s e somebody's eyebrows saying, " I don't know about 

17 t h i s . " Maybe I wouldn't draw the same conclusion. So I 

18 j u s t wanted t o q u a l i f y from an independent standpoint 

19 would I f e e l comfortable i n t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n s t a t i n g what 

20 i s being s t a t e d i n the a p p l i c a t i o n . 

21 Q. And d i d you come t o any conclusion about whether 

22 or not t h i s p a r t i c u l a r w e l l would be a good candidate f o r 

23 i n j e c t i o n operations? 

24 A. I can't t h i n k of one t h i n g t h a t I was 

25 uncomfortable w i t h . I f e l t l i k e a l l the i n f o r m a t i o n l e d 
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1 t o what the a p p l i c a t i o n has on i t w i t h p r e t t y reasonable 

2 conclusions. 

3 Q. Did you t h i n k t h a t t h i s p a r t i c u l a r wellbore i s 

4 sound? 

5 A. I do. 

6 Q. Do you t h i n k t h a t there i s any concern about 

7 i n j e c t i n g i n t o these proposed i n t e r v a l s t h a t there i s 

8 going t o be some mechanical problem w i t h the w e l l , w i t h 

9 the wellbore? 

10 A. No I don't p e r s o n a l l y t h i n k t h a t much f l u i d w i l l 

11 go i n t o the Abo p e r f o r a t i o n s , not based on what came out 

12 of them. I would t h i n k the m a j o r i t y of the f l u i d -- I've 

13 got no r e a l science behind t h i s , but t y p i c a l l y , f l u i d i s 

14 going t o go the path of l e a s t r e s i s t a n c e , which appears 

15 t o be i n t o these Wolf Camp zones t h a t are p e r f o r a t e d down 

16 at 10,000 f e e t . 

17 Q. Okay. Let's move on t o your E x h i b i t No. 5, 

18 hydrology. I s t h i s p a r t of your a p p l i c a t i o n , as well? 

19 A. I t i s . 

2 0 Q. And could you t e l l me what you d i d as f a r as the 

21 a p p l i c a t i o n process t o a s c e r t a i n h y d r o l o g i c a l information? 

22 A. Yes. As p a r t of the a p p l i c a t i o n , we need t o 

23 i d e n t i f y i f there are any zones t h a t have useable d r i n k i n g 

24 water as defined by the EPA. The State of New Mexico has 

25 a department t h a t has a website t h a t they gather a l l t h i s 
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1 type of i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t ' s accessible. 

2 So I accessed the i n f o r m a t i o n i n the v i c i n i t y of 

3 t h i s proposed disposal w e l l t o look at -- where does f r e s h 

4 water, what depths do you see f r e s h water. What k i n d of 

5 q u a l i t y of water do you f i n d i n those f r e s h water zones. 

6 So t h i s i s e s s e n t i a l l y j u s t a n a r r a t i v e on what was found 

7 as f a r as the depths. 

8 F i r s t of a l l , the Ogallala i s the primary 

9 a q u i f e r . Records from Section 25, which i s the l o c a t i o n 

10 of the i n j e c t i o n w e l l , show the Ogallala t o be somewhere 

11 less than a hundred f e e t deep i n the v i c i n i t y . 

12 They also have samples t h a t were taken. I 

13 d i d n ' t f i n d any samples t h a t were taken i n Section 25, but 

14 t o the west, one s e c t i o n i n Section 26, they show 

15 c h l o r i d e s t h a t were taken from a w e l l there. 

16 Through time, from '79 t o '90, would show the 

17 c h l o r i d e concentration i s e s s e n t i a l l y s t a y i n g p r e t t y 

18 constant, 60 t o 65 par t s per m i l l i o n . 

19 So I f e l t l i k e , hey, the a q u i f e r looks l i k e i t ' s 

20 a good a q u i f e r , good water. And the l a s t piece of t h a t 

21 puzzle was t o go ahead and take a sample ourselves j u s t t o 

22 p r o t e c t ourselves, have i t i n our f i l e s , Gandy secured a 

23 sample from a rancher I t h i n k w i t h i n a mile of the 

24 proposed i n j e c t i o n w e l l . 

25 Took i t t o an independent lab and had the 
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1 q u a l i t y of t h a t water checked. So once again, i t 

2 confirmed t h a t the c h l o r i d e s -- i t was a l i t t l e b i t high, 

3 a hundred p a r t s per m i l l i o n , but i t ' s s t i l l c e r t a i n l y i n 

4 the useable d r i n k i n g water. 

5 Q. And d i d you come t o any op i n i o n about whether or 

6 not t h i s proposed i n j e c t i o n o p e r a t i o n w i l l impact on 

7 e x i s t i n g f r e s h water? 

8 A. Well, I knew t h a t the surface casing was set 

9 through the -- down t o 300 or 400 f e e t . I t was cemented 

10 t o surface. So I f e l t l i k e i t was pr o t e c t e d at l e a s t w i t h 

11 one s t r i n g pipe. But i n t h i s area they d r i l l -- set 

12 intermediate pipe at about 5,000 f e e t cement i n t o surface. 

13 So we had two s t r i n g s of pipe t h a t were cemented t o 

14 surface p r o t e c t i n g t h a t f r e s h water. So I f e l t l i k e , hey, 

15 we've got double the p r o t e c t i o n . 

16 Q. Okay. Let's move on t o E x h i b i t 6. Was t h i s 

17 p a r t of your a p p l i c a t i o n , as well? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. And could you ex p l a i n t o me what you found 

20 w i t h i n the area of review? 

21 A. Yeah. The second Page i s a l i t t l e one-half mile 

22 radius c i r c l e around the Albacore disposal a p p l i c a t i o n . 

23 And there are, I be l i e v e , f i v e wellbores t h a t appear 

24 i n s i d e t h a t c i r c l e . 
25 Four of the f i v e are producing w e l l s . The one 
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1 t o the very south r i g h t on the c i r c l e edge was a dry hole 

2 d r i l l e d back i n the mid '50s. But records were a v a i l a b l e 

3 on a l l f i v e wellbores t o look at them at e x a c t l y how they 

4 were completed, which i s the requirement of the h a l f - m i l e 

5 review t o look t o see i s there anything i n the w e l l t h a t 

6 would maybe compromise keeping water i n zone i n our w e l l 

7 t h a t may be could come out someplace on one of these 

8 surrounding w e l l s and cause a^problem. So, t h i s t a b l e --

9 Q. I s t h a t Page 3 of t h i s e x h i b i t ? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. Okay. Please continue. 

12 A. Table 3 shows the f i v e w e l l s , where surface pipe 

13 was set. A l l of them had surface pipe between 400 and 500 

14 f e e t . A l l c i r c u l a t e d cement t o surface. They a l l had . 

15 intermediate pipe set down close t o 5,000 f e e t , and again, 

16 had cement c i r c u l a t e d t o surface. 

17 Four of the f i v e were completed as producers i n 

18 one zone or another, and had f i v e and a h a l f or some s o r t 

19 of production casing set t h a t was cemented i n place. Top 

20 of cement i n various places depending on which w e l l . But 

21 i t ' s a l l noted. 

22 The w e l l t h a t I guess I pai d probably the most 

23 a t t e n t i o n t o was the w e l l t h a t was d r i l l e d and abandoned 

24 i n the mid '50s t o look at e x a c t l y how they plugged the 

25 w e l l , which they d i d n ' t recover any casing, placed plugs 
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1 where they were r e q u i r e d , across the shoe i n the 

2 intermediate pipe and below, as w e l l as up at the surface. 

3 So they l e f t i t plugged, I would say, even i n today's 

4 requirements, they plugged i t as i t would be req u i r e d 

5 today t o p r o t e c t anything t h a t may be a problem. But a 

6 couple years l a t e r , the w e l l was reentered. 

7 They t e s t e d the San Andres. I t t e s t e d wet. And 

8 again they plugged i t . No casing recovered. Squeezed the 

9 San Andres p e r f s , l e f t a plug at the surface, and then low 

10 and behold, years l a t e r , f i v e years l a t e r , somebody else 

11 comes out and t r i e s another completion. 

12 I be l i e v e t h a t ' s -- reentered i t , deepened i t 

13 j u s t s l i g h t l y and t e s t e d something at 10,746, which -- I'm 

14 not a g e o l o g i s t , but I t h i n k t h a t ' s probably somewhere 

15 what I would c a l l Strawn. And once again, i t ' s not a 

16 commercial and plugged the w e l l f o r good. That's the 

17 c o n d i t i o n i t ' s i n today. 

18 Q. Okay. Did you perform some s o r t of analysis on 

19 the Blue Fin w e l l t h a t ' s l i s t e d i n your table? 

2 0 A. I d i d the same t h i n g I d i d on the others, j u s t 

21 looked at where casing was set, d i d they have i s o l a t i o n 

22 w i t h t h e i r primary cement jobs. Once again, i t looked t o 

23 me l i k e what was reported t o the OCD, t h a t they d i d have 

24 good i s o l a t i o n . 
25 Q. Based upon your review of the i n f o r m a t i o n about 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
61fe694b-6911-4915-b384-c0856342c0dd 



Page 54 

1 the Blue Fin, do you bel i e v e t h a t the Blue Fin w e l l i s 

2 adequately cased and i n the proposed i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l s 

3 t h a t would e s s e n t i a l l y keep the Blue Fin w e l l safe from 

4 any i n j e c t i o n operations again t h a t you might conduct? 

5 A. Well, i n t h a t p a r t i c u l a r case, a DV t o o l was set 

6 at 8,800 f e e t . I f you r e c a l l , our proposed i n j e c t i o n 

7 s t a r t s at 8,912, somewhere below t h a t . When they pump the 

8 f i r s t stage i n between the f i r s t and the second, they 

9 c i r c u l a t e d 68 sacks of cement t o surface, which t e l l s me 

10 t h a t they had cement up t o the DV t o o l before they opened 

11 i t , and then pumped, you know, over a thousand sacks on 

12 the second stage, ran a CVL. 

13 I t ' s p r o t e c t e d up t o 3,400 f e e t w i t h top of 

14 cement, which again i s up above the shoe on the 

15 intermediate casing. So, i t looked very s i m i l a r t o the 

16 c o n f i g u r a t i o n of the Albacore proposed disposal w e l l . 

17 Q. A l l r i g h t . Let's t u r n t o E x h i b i t No. 7, the 

18 geology i n f o r m a t i o n . Could you t e l l me what you d i d t o 

19 o b t a i n i n f o r m a t i o n about the geology i n the area? 

20 A. Most of t h i s i s -- I prepared t h i s , and I 

21 w i l l -- j u s t u p f r o n t , I am not a g e o l o g i s t , but I used 

22 commercially a v a i l a b l e i n f o r m a t i o n t o -- I looked at some 

23 r e g i o n a l maps on top of the Wolf Camp, and on the Abo, and 

24 j u s t drew my own conclusions. 

25 I knew t h a t the Albacore was -- i t went updip as 
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1 you went t o the west, t h a t there was a r e g i o n a l f a u l t 

2 somewhere j u s t east t o the Albacore, and I f e l t l i k e we 

3 were -- the w e l l was s i t t i n g i n a trough t h a t t o me i s a 

4 great place i f you're going t o have on i n j e c t i o n w e l l , 

5 t h a t i f you're wo r r i e d about where i s t h a t water going t o 

6 go, there's a p r e t t y good chance i t ' s going t o stay 

7 downdip where the w e l l penetrates. 

8 But I don't know t h a t my terminology on Abo, 

9 Permo-Penn, I would agree w i t h -- you know, i t ' s very -- I 

10 t h i n k you could get several g e o l o g i s t s i n a room, you're 

11 going t o get d i f f e r e n t designations on what they're 

12 c a l l e d . 

13 So Permo-Penn t o me was j u s t as -- p r e t t y wide 
f 

14 t h i c k i n t e r v a l t h a t included some Pennsylvanian and some 

15 Permian horizons. 

16 Q. Okay. Now, d i d you do any research i n t o areas 

17 outside the h a l f mile area of review, look at any 

18 production, i n j e c t i o n operations t o make some comparisons 

19 and draw any conclusions? 

20 A. Well, the f a c t t h a t you have t o n o t i f y operators 

21 i n the area, and i n the i n t e n t i s t o make sure c o r r e l a t i v e 

22 r i g h t s are prot e c t e d . I f e e l l i k e as a consultant, I need 

23 t o look at t h i s from the outside l o o k i n g i n . . 
24 And so, i n answer t o your question, I made a 
25 cursory look t o see what w e l l s were producing t o the east, 
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1 t o the south, n o r t h and the west. But i t was more on a 

2 q u a l i t a t i v e approach j u s t t o see what was out there. 

3 Q. And what d i d you find? Let's go t o your 

4 E x h i b i t 8. I s t h a t a map you prepared? 

5 A. Yes. This comes from a p r e t t y well-known data 

6 base through Dwight's or IHS Energy. I t ' s a commercial 

7 data service t h a t connects up t o the State where you can 

8 p u l l production data. 

9 There are two d i f f e r e n t pages here. The top 

10 page, since the Abo was p a r t of the a p p l i c a t i o n as f a r as 

11 where we were going t o have a zone open t o i n j e c t i o n , I 

12 wanted t o look, where does Abo produce i n the general 

13 area. 

14 There was no Abo production w i t h i n a h a l f mile 

15 radius of the w e l l . As you continue t o go t o the west, I 

16 found 3 Abo producers t h a t were p r e t t y marginal r e l a t i v e 

17 t o -- i f you look t o the south i n t o t h i s Lovington Abo 

18 f i e l d , i t ' s been p r e t t y p r o l i f i c . 

19 I t looks l i k e there was j u s t a l i t t l e spot up 

2 0 here t o the west of the Albacore t h a t had some Abo 

21 production but nothing near what k i n d of production you 

22 saw down t o the south. 

23 Did the same map f o r the Permo-Penn. The f i r s t 

24 t h i n g t h a t jumps out at you i s the b i g Permo-Penn f i e l d 

25 j u s t west of Lovington, the Townsend, Permo-Penn, probably 
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1 a hundred w e l l s produced over the years. P r e t t y s p o t t y 

2 a f t e r t h a t . 

3 Once again, you see some Wolf Camp, Permo-Penn, 

4 Pennsylvanian. People have d i f f e r e n t names f o r i t t o the 

5 west of the Albacore, and the same t h i n g down t o the 

6 south. 

7 Q. Turning t o E x h i b i t No. 9, could you e x p l a i n t o 

8 me where you got t h i s i n f o r m a t i o n and what t h i s 

9 i n f o r m a t i o n i n E x h i b i t 9 r e a l l y i s intended t o convey? 

10 A. I f you r e c a l l the second page of E x h i b i t 8, I 

11 mentioned t h a t the Townsend, Permo-Penn f i e l d up t o the 

12 n o r t h of the a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

13 Q. Right. 

14 A. What I d i d i s , I looked -- I knew there was some 

15 i n j e c t i o n t h a t took place up i n t h a t f i e l d i n t o the 

16 Permo-Penn. And so I went t o the OCD website and p u l l e d 

17 the o i l production and water production from two d i f f e r e n t 

18 sections t h a t encompass p r e t t y much the heart of t h i s 

19 f i e l d , the Townsend Permo-Penn, and j u s t -- I p u l l e d the 

20 h i s t o r i c a l o i l production, water production, and the 

21 i n j e c t i o n from those two sections s t a r t i n g i n 1995. 

22 And I e s s e n t i a l l y wanted t o see, you know, what 

23 impact i s t h a t i n j e c t i o n having i n some of the surrounding 

24 producers. 

25 Q. Okay. 
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1 A. Since a p i c t u r e i s worth a thousand words, 

2 Page 2 i s r e a l l y j u s t a summary of year-by-year water 

3 i n j e c t i o n and water production. As you can see, u n t i l 

4 year 2001, there was very l i t t l e i n j e c t i o n i n t o those two 

5 sections. But once they d i d s t a r t i n j e c t i o n , they slowly 

6 climbed -- or p r e t t y q u i c k l y climbed over a m i l l i o n 

7 b a r r e l s a year i n j e c t e d i n t o two d i f f e r e n t w e l l s . 

8 And I wanted t o see what impact d i d t h a t have, 

9 and you can see on water production, i t e s s e n t i a l l y had no 

10 impact. Water i s not showing up anywhere o f f s e t s . So, 

11 you know, t h i s i s n ' t a water f l o o d t o have going. I f i t 

12 i s , i t ' s a p r e t t y b i g f a i l u r e . I t ' s probably j u s t a 

13 disposal p r o j e c t . 

14 But the key t o me was looking, hey, what k i n d of 

15 impact would you have nearby? And i n a case where you 

16 have m u l t i p l e w e l l s , I don't see any impact -- t h a t would 

17 be a negative impact on an o i l producer, or a p o s i t i v e 

18 impact, f o r t h a t matter. 

19 Q. I n the same proposed i n j e c t i o n --

20 A. I n the e x a c t l y same Permo-Penn i n t e r v a l . 

21 Q. Okay. Thank you. Now, i f we could t u r n t o 

22 E x h i b i t No. 10, i s t h a t an e x h i b i t t h a t you prepared? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. And could you e x p l a i n t o me the i n f o r m a t i o n t ha t 

25 t h i s char t t h a t you have represents? 
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1 A. The a p p l i c a t i o n submitted a curr e n t production 

2 h i s t o r y on a l l of the w e l l s t h a t were i n s i d e the area of 

3 review. This i s the Blue Fin 25 No. 1, produces down 

4 below the proposed i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l i n the M i s s i s s i p i a n . 

5 What I wanted t o look at i s what k i n d of l i f e 

6 does t h i s w e l l have. And i t ' s producing 100 MCF a day. 

7 I t ' s probably c l a s s i f i e d as an o i l w e l l , but i t ' s a high 

8 GOR w e l l , and i t ' s got a p r e t t y shallow d e c l i n e . And i t 

9 appears t o me t h a t i t ' s probably going t o produce i n the 

10 M i s s i s s i p p i a n f o r q u i t e a few years i n t o the f u t u r e before 

11 they may be ready t o t r y t o recomplete i t i n some other 

12 zone. 

13 Q. Now, d i d you form an opi n i o n as t o whether t h i s 

14 proposed i n j e c t i o n operation would impact on any 

15 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s ? 

16 A. Well, I concluded t h a t I d i d n ' t f e e l t h a t t h i s 

17 i n j e c t i o n i n t o the proposed w e l l would compromise a 

18 producing w e l l somewhere w i t h i n t h a t h a l f mile radius of 

19 review. 

20 Q. Do you have any reason t o beli e v e t h a t t h i s 

21 proposed i n j e c t i o n w e l l would compromise any operation 

22 f a r t h e r than a h a l f mile away? 

23 A. No. 

24 MR. LAKINS: Mr. Hearing Examiner I ' d l i k e t o 

25 f i r s t tender Mr. D u f f e y as an expert petroleum engineer. 
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1 MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

2 HEARING EXAMINER: No objection? Mr. Duffey i s 

3 q u a l i f i e d as an expert petroleum engineer. 

4 Q. Mr. Duffey, you were h i r e d by Gandy Corporation; 

5 i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. A f t e r you were h i r e d by Gandy Corporation, d i d 

8 you undertake any e f f o r t s t o provide i n f o r m a t i o n t o V-F 

9 Petroleum concerning t h i s proposed operation? 

10 A. Yes, I d i d . 

11 Q. Could you e x p l a i n t o me what you did? 

12 A. We received a copy of the l e t t e r from V-F's 

13 att o r n e y , Mr. Carr, t h a t n o t i f i e d us t h a t they were going 

14 t o p r o t e s t the a p p l i c a t i o n . 

15 Just as a -- Tom B e a l l and I know each other 

16 c a s u a l l y i n Midland. I f e l t , l e t me c a l l Tom and see i f I 

17 can understand what t h e i r concern i s . And my i n t e n t was 

18 t o t r y t o provide whatever i n f o r m a t i o n we could t h a t i f 

19 there was a lack of maybe understanding or 

20 miscommunication i n the a p p l i c a t i o n , t h a t -- you know, I 

21 i n d i c a t e d t o Tom -- which we had one meeting face t o face, 

22 t e c h n i c a l meeting. 

23 I brought i n f o r m a t i o n a f t e r the meeting. I t was 

24 a very c o r d i a l meeting. We exchanged f u r t h e r i n f o r m a t i o n 

25 several weeks l e t t e r , t h i n g s t h a t came up i n the meeting 
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1 t h a t I f e l t l i k e r a t h e r than j u s t v e r b a l l y say t h i s i s 

2 what we see i n maybe the mudlog, we provided some d e t a i l e d 

3 i n f o r m a t i o n on how Primero t e s t e d the i n t e r v a l s , what the 

4 mudlogs -- we send them mudlogs and -- With the i n t e n t 

5 t h a t maybe j u s t t h a t they would see some a d d i t i o n a l 

6 i n f o r m a t i o n , t h a t maybe t h a t would change what they were 

7 p r o t e s t i n g about. 

8 Q. Could you ex p l a i n t o me what i n f o r m a t i o n you 

9 gave t o V-F Petroleum? 

10 A. I beli e v e t h a t the a p p l i c a t i o n t h a t gets sent t o 

11 the OCD i s p r e t t y extensive. What we're req u i r e d t o 

12 a c t u a l l y send t o the o f f s e t operators i s p r e t t y l i m i t e d 

13 amount of data. And so I be l i e v e t h a t I took the e n t i r e 

14 a p p l i c a t i o n . 

15 I don't remember t h a t I gave them a copy of i t , 

16 but I c e r t a i n l y d i d n ' t f e e l l i k e i t was any b e n e f i t t o us 

17 t o t r y t o hide any i n f o r m a t i o n . So my i n t e n t was t o t r y 

18 t o t e l l them everything we knew and maybe we could head 

19 o f f some k i n d of a formal p r o t e s t or hearing here i n Santa 

2 0 Fe. 

21 Q. Could you describe f o r me any in f o r m a t i o n t h a t 

22 V-F Petroleum provided t o you about t h e i r e x i s t i n g well? 

23 A. I don't r e c a l l t h a t I t a n g i b l y brought anything 

24 back w i t h me from the meeting. They voiced what t h e i r 

25 concerns were. I t h i n k we r e a l l y f e l t l i k e we r e a l l y 
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1 couldn't make a dec i s i o n on whether or not i t was v i a b l e 

2 t o continue t o p r o t e s t . 

3 So I f e l t l i k e , hey, leave them i n f o r m a t i o n , l e t 

4 them have a chance t o work i t i n t o t h e i r understanding, 

5 and then, h o p e f u l l y , we would get back together again t o 

6 t r y t o see i f we were reaching a l i t t l e b i t closer 

7 understanding of where each p a r t y was coming from. 

8 Q. At some time, d i d you provide V-F Petroleum w i t h 

9 the mudlog f o r the Albacore well? 

10 A. I b e l i e v e t h a t we sent sections of the mudlog 

11 t h a t were across the i n t e r v a l s t h a t we were -- had p a r t of 

12 our a p p l i c a t i o n , across the -- I know i t was across the 

13 Wolf Camp zones f o r sure, and probably the Atoka. 

14 I don't r e c a l l , but I don't t h i n k i t was the 

15 e n t i r e mudlog, per se, I believe i t was j u s t selected 

16 i n t e r v a l s t h a t they expressed a concern about. 

17 Q. Now, a f t e r you provided those documents, d i d you 

18 have f u r t h e r discussions w i t h V-F Petroleum? 

19 A. I had several phone c a l l s j u s t t o f o l l o w up t o 

2 0 f i n d out where they -- you know, could we have f u r t h e r 

21 discussions, had they worked i t i n t o t h e i r understanding 

22 over about probably s i x week's time, probably two or three 

23 phone c a l l s . 

24 And was never r e a l l y given a, hey, l e t ' s meet 

25 again, t h a t they were ready. I t h i n k everybody's busy. 
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1 That i n f o r m a t i o n may or my not have been r e a l l y i n t e g r a t e d 

2 i n t o t h e i r data sets. 

3 But i t f i n a l l y reached a p o i n t where we had t o 

4 go forward w i t h t h i s hearing, and we never even, I t h i n k , 

5 requested a hearing date, t h a t was j u s t k i n d of looming 

6 o f f i n t o the f u t u r e . F i n a l l y , i t was Mr. Gandy's deci s i o n 

7 t h a t , hey, we've t r i e d t o work t h i s t h i n g through, i t ' s 

8 time t o request a hearing. 

9 Q. At any time d u r i n g your discussions w i t h V-F, 

10 d i d they give you any i n f o r m a t i o n or any documentation 

11 t h a t gave you reason t o question your opinions t h a t you 

12 had formed about the v i a b i l i t y of the Albacore w e l l f o r 

13 i n j e c t i o n purposes? 

14 A. I t was only -- only t h i n g s v e r b a l l y . I never 

15 had any t a n g i b l e evidence t h a t helped support what i t i s 

16 t h a t they have sent t o me. 

17 Q. And a l l the things they t o l d you v e r b a l l y , d i d j 
I 

18 any of t h a t lead you t o question your opinions about using 

19 the Albacore w e l l f o r i n j e c t i o n purposes? 

2 0 A. Well, i t d i d n ' t r e a l l y change my opinion t h a t I 

21 thought we had a v i a b l e , good reason t o want t o i n j e c t 

22 water i n t o the Wolf Camp, no. And I r e a l l y f e l t l i k e a 

23 reasonable -- i f you give them enough time, they were 

24 going t o draw the same conclusion. But t h a t never | 

2 5 happened. 
_ 
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MR. LAKINS: Nothing f u r t h e r , Mr. Hearing 

2 Examiner. 

3 HEARING EXAMINER: F i r s t of a l l , do you want t o 

4 admit these e x h i b i t s ? 

5 

6 

MR. LAKINS: Yes, Mr. Hearing Examiner, I ' d l i k e 

t o admit E x h i b i t s 1 through 10 at t h i s time. 

7 

8 

9 

HEARING EXAMINER: Any objection? 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

HEARING EXAMINER: The e x h i b i t s w i l l be 

10 admitted. 

11 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

12 BY MR. CARR: 

13 Q. Mr. Duffey, I t h i n k you t e s t i f i e d you were an 

14 operator? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. And a c o n s u l t i n g engineer? 

17 A. Correct. 

18 Q. And today, i s i t f a i r t o say, you appear as a 

19 c o n s u l t i n g engineer? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. Do you operate under the name of a p a r t i c u l a r 

22 company? 

23 A. Yes, I do. 

24 Q. And what i s that? 

25 A. That i s Everquest Energy. 
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1 Q. Okay. Has Everquest ever d r i l l e d any w e l l s i n 

2 the immediate area of the proposed i n j e c t i o n well? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. Does Everquest operate any w e l l s i n t h i s area? 

5 A. I operate a w e l l t o the east. 

6 Q. And how fa r ? 

7 A. I would say a mile t o -- between a mile t o two 

8 miles. 

9 Q. And what formation does i t produce from? 

10 A. I t produces from the Devon. I also have an 

11 i n j e c t i o n w e l l t h a t complements t h a t producer t h a t i n j e c t s 

12 back i n t o the Devon. 

13 Q. I s i t a commercial well? 

14 A. I t i s c l a s s i f i e d as a commercial w e l l . 

15 Q. Are you t a k i n g water from other operators and 

16 i n j e c t i n g i t at t h i s time? 

17 A. No. Just t o c l a r i f y , i t i s c l a s s i f i e d as a 

18 commercial, and t h a t was done by the previous operator. I 

19 have operated the w e l l since January of t h i s year, and 

20 I've j u s t except t h a t designation. 

21 Q. But what you're doing, i f I understand you, i s 

22 you're using t h a t i n j e c t i o n w e l l t o take care of water 

2 3 from your Devon producing? 

24 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

25 Q. You prepared the C-108 i n t h i s case f o r Gandy? 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. You also were i n charge of g e t t i n g the n o t i c e 

3 l e t t e r s sent? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. And.the n o t i c e l e t t e r provided b a s i c a l l y t h a t 

6 disposal zones f o r produ c t i o n t e s t s produced one hundred 

7 percent water only. Were you involved i n those production 

8 tests? 

9 A. D i r e c t l y , no. 

10 Q. Did you j u s t get your data and i n f o r m a t i o n from 

11 Mr. White on those? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. You weren't in v o l v e d w i t h deciding how long t o 

14 run the tests? 

15 A. No. 

16 Q. Or you d i d n ' t , as p a r t of t h i s study, any o f f s e t 

17 w e l l or any t e s t s run? 

18 A. No I r e a l l y had no p r i o r knowledge of anything 

19 t h a t had taken place between Primero and Gandy p r i o r t o 

20 s t a r t i n g on the C-108. 

21 Q. I t h i n k you t e s t i f i e d t h a t you thought t h i s 

22 looked l i k e a good i n j e c t i o n w e l l , a good place t o put 

23 water; i s t h a t f a i r ? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q. I n making t h a t d e c i s i o n , d i d you do any 
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1 v o l u m e t r i c a n a l y s i s from logs i n the area t o determine the 

2 volume t h a t the r e s e r v o i r could take? 

3 A. I d i d not. 

4 Q. Did you t r y and c a l c u l a t e an area t h a t might be 

5 a f f e c t e d by the i n j e c t i o n from t h i s well? 

6 A. No. 

7 Q. What volumes are you proposing t o i n j e c t ? 

8 A. The a p p l i c a t i o n requests, I bel i e v e , up t o 5, 000 

9 b a r r e l s per day. 

10 Q. And the way the w e l l i s constructed, i f you 

11 i n j ect 5,000 b a r r e l s a day, w i l l you know how much goes 

12 i n t o the Abo? 

13 A. No. 

14 Q. Or i n t o the Wolf Camp 1? 

15 A. You know, without doing some s o r t of maybe a 

16 t r a c e r survey, some ki n d of -- we would have t o do 

17 something t o t r y t o a s c e r t a i n t o q u a n t i f y . 

18 Q. But you're proposing t o i n j e c t i n t o these zones 

19 when you can't t e l l us today the volume going i n t o the 

20 Abo, or the volume going i n t o the Wolf Camp 1, or the 

21 volume t h a t would go i n t o the Wolf Camp 2; i s n ' t t h a t f a i r 

22 t o say? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. And what pressure l i m i t are you seeking? 

25 A. I be l i e v e i t ' s 2,500 pounds max. 
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1 Q. And how d i d you get t h a t number? 

2 A. I bel i e v e t h a t i n the s t a t e of New Mexico, the 

3 accepted maximum i s based on so many PSI per f o o t of 

4 depth. And I bel i e v e t h a t i t ' s .25 PSI per f o o t . 

5 Q. I f you needed t o go above t h a t , would you get a 

6 higher pressure approved by the D i v i s i o n by a step r a t e 

7 t e s t ? 

8 A. I f the step r a t e t e s t would j u s t i f y i t , yes. 

9 Q. I had some questions about i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t s . 

10 Were you inv o l v e d i n the a c t u a l i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t s t h a t 

11 were run on the o i l ? 

12 A. No. 

13 Q. Do you have an opi n i o n as t o whether or not 

14 Gandy would s t i l l want t o use the w e l l f o r i n j e c t i o n i f i t 

15 i s only approved t o i n j e c t i n t o the Abo? 

16 A. I can't answer t h a t . I do not know. 

17 Q. When I look at your E x h i b i t s 9 and 10 -- E x h i b i t 

18 No. 8, I'm j u s t t r y i n g t o understand what t h i s i s , 

19 Mr. Duffey. E x h i b i t No. 8, f i r s t page, has two c i r c l e s on 

2 0 i t . What are those intended t o show? 

21 A. I t ' s r e a l l y intended t o show ki n d of the 

22 r e l a t i v e -- j u s t look at the v i c i n i t y of the proposed 

23 i n j e c t i o n or disposal w e l l j u s t t o look at what produces. 

24 For the lack of a b e t t e r word, i t ' s j u s t k i n d of a 

25 production map t h a t j u s t p o i n t s out where Abo produces or 
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1 where Permo --

2 Q. And then we go t o the second page, which i s , you 

3 would agree, hard t o read? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. This i n f o r m a t i o n -- what does t h i s show on 

6 Townsend Permo-Penn on a l l of t h i s data t h a t s o r t of 

7 overlaps? 

8 A. Well, f i r s t of a l l , I would agree i t ' s hard t o 

9 read. I t p o i n t s out what produces i n the area, and i t --

10 The reason i t ' s so crowded up w i t h i n f o r m a t i o n i s , 

11 operators -- there hadn't been a r e a l hard set d e f i n i t i o n 

12 of what i s Permo-Penn, what i s Pennsylvanian, what i s Wolf 

13 Camp. So i t k i n d of runs the whole gamut. 

14 And I looked at what operators -- This i s not 

15 what the OCD looks at the name of t h i s producing horizon, 

16 i t ' s what IHS Energy has been given. But i t does show 

17 t h a t there's a heck of a l o t more w e l l s t h a t are producing 

18 Permo-Penn up t o the n o r t h than there are as you work your 

19 way t o the south. 

2 0 Q. Does t h i s map i n d i c a t e anywhere what i n t e r v a l 

21 w i t h i n the Permo-Penn these w e l l s are producing from? 

22 A. No. 

23 Q. I f we go t o E x h i b i t No. 9, t h i s o i l p r o d u c t i o n , 

24 water p r o d u c t i o n , and water i n j e c t i o n at the Townsend, 

25 Permo-Penn. Does t h i s i nc lude a l l w e l l s i n t h a t 
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1 r e s e r v o i r ? 

2 A. I t includes only the w e l l s w i t h i n those 

3 sections, Sections 1 and 6. 

4 Q. So we've only got a p o r t i o n approved? 

5 A. Yes. And the reason t h a t I l i m i t e d i t t o those 

6 two sections i s , i t was only i n those two sections t h a t 

7 there was any i n j e c t i o n t a k i n g place. So I f e l t t o be 

8 f a i r , l e t me look immediately around the i n j e c t o r s t o see 

9 what impact they have. 

10 Q. Do you know the r e l a t i v e depth of the i n j e c t i o n 

11 w e l l s as opposed t o the productive zones i n t h i s pool? 

12 A. I don't know i f -- I know I have a wellbore 

13 diagram of the w e l l t h a t i s i n Section 6 t h a t I don't see 

14 here, but i t shows the i n t e r v a l s t h a t c u r r e n t l y are 

15 p e r f o r a t e d and are being i n j e c t e d . 

16 Q. The i n j e c t i o n w e l l i n 6? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Do we know how t h a t compares t o the producing 

19 w e l l s i n Section 6? 

20 A. Well, w i t h only these two th i n g s , I would say 

21 i t ' s more of a q u a l i t a t i v e . As f a r as s p e c i f i c s of 

22 i d e n t i f y i n g p a r t i c u l a r i n t e r v a l s , I wouldn't say t h a t you 

23 could n e c e s s a r i l y draw any of those k i n d of conclusions. 

24 Q. Would you agree w i t h me t h a t t o be able t o 

25 understand the impact i n j e c t i n g i n any w e l l , the w e l l 
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1 o f f s e t , would have on o f f s e t t i n g w e l l s , i t would be 

2 important t o know what the i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l i s and what 

3 the producing i n t e r v a l i s i n these i n t e r v a l s ? 

4 A. I would say t o study i t i n d e t a i l , you c e r t a i n l y 

5 would have t o look a t a l l t h a t i n d e t a i l . 

6 Q. And t h i s e x h i b i t doesn't show us that? 

7 A. No but what i t does show i s t h a t i f t h a t water 

8 i s going t o show up someplace -- and these w e l l s are very 

9 close together, t h a t c e r t a i n l y are p e r f o r a t e d i n some of 

10 the same c o r r e l a t i v e zones as i n j e c t i o n , t h a t you would 

11 c e r t a i n l y expect t h a t water t o show up someplace nearby. 

12 Q. And how many w e l l s are you grouping together f o r 

13 the purpose of t h i s e x h i b i t ? 

14 A. I would say i t ' s probably maybe 4 0 producing 

15 w e l l s . 

16 Q. And wouldn't you t h i n k i f you r e a l l y wanted t o 

17 know i f i n j e c t i o n i s impacting a s i n g l e producing w e l l , 

18 t h a t you would want data on t h a t w e l l , not an average of 

19 40? 

20 A. I t h i n k t h a t i f I had seen t h a t there was an 

21 impact when I looked at the whole p i c t u r e l i k e I d i d here, 

22 then i t would have t o l d me I r e a l l y need t o go look at 

23 t h a t d e t a i l and f i n d out where i s t h a t water coming from 

24 and i s i t j u s t one p a r t i c u l a r w e l l . But t o be honest w i t h 

25 you, I stopped at t h i s p o i n t , f e l t l i k e I'm not seeing i t 
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1 i n a b i g p i c t u r e , so spending the time l o o k i n g at the 

2 d e t a i l was probably not going t o be time very w e l l spent. 

3 Q. Would you agree w i t h me t h a t i n a r e s e r v o i r l i k e 

4 t h i s , t h a t of 40 w e l l s , some would perform d i f f e r e n t l y 

5 than others at t h i s p o i n t ? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. So you r e a l l y need t o look at i n d i v i d u a l w e l l s 

8 t o know the impact of i n j e c t i o n , don't you? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. I f we go t o E x h i b i t No. 10, the production curve 

11 on the Blue Fin, I t h i n k you t e s t i f i e d t h a t i t looked l i k e 

12 i t would be a long time before V-F might be coming up the 

13 hole t o t e s t these shallow horizons. I s t h a t what you 

14 t e s t i f i e d ? 

15 A. That i s what I said. 

16 Q. When they come up hole, whether i t ' s s i x months 

17 from now, or s i x years from now, i f the zones watered out, 

18 i t w i l l be watered out, i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t , i f i t i s watered 

19 out? 

20 A. Well, I can't r e a l l y answer t h a t . 

21 Q. So as an expert engineering witness, you're 

22 saying i f a zone -- t h i s i s a h y p o t h e t i c a l , i f a zone i s 

23 watered out today, i t would be okay s i x years from now t o 

24 come back and probably i t would not be watered out; i s 

25 t h a t your testimony? 
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1 A. That i t would not be watered out? 

2 Q. Yeah? 

3 A. I mean, t y p i c a l l y , i f a zone i s watered out 

4 today, f i v e or ten years from now i f you t e s t i t again, 

5 i t ' s probably s t i l l going t o be watered out. 

6 Q. And so the p o i n t i s -- the p o i n t of t h i s 

7 question i s , j u s t because i t may be a while before we get 

8 there doesn't mean you're not i m p a i r i n g our a b i l i t y t o 

9 produce the o i l i n t h a t zone i f you watered i t out? 

10 A. True. 

11 Q. Now, i f I look at the -- I t h i n k i t ' s E x h i b i t 3, 

12 the C-108, i n your area of review map, we've got the h a l f 

13 mile c i r c l e around the Albacore w e l l shown. Are you w i t h 

14 me? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. And some of the acreage i s shaded and some i s 

17 not. What i s t h a t shading i n d i c a t i n g ? 

18 A. That was r e a l l y l o o k i n g t o d i s t i n g u i s h between 

19 what i s fee acreage and what was st a t e acreage. 

2 0 Q. The t r a c t on which the proposed i n j e c t i o n w e l l 

21 i s located i s fee acreage; i s t h a t correct? 

22 A. I don't remember e x a c t l y , but I t h i n k t h a t 

23 i t ' s -- I beli e v e i t was s t a t e acreage. 

24 Q. I s Gandy t r y i n g t o acquire any i n t e r e s t i n t h a t 

25 lease or j u s t i n the wellbore? 
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1 A. I do not know. f 

2 Q. Do you know i f there i s a v a l i d o i l and gas 

3 lease on t h a t acreage now t h a t the w e l l i s no longer 

4 producing? 

5 A. I do not know. 

6 Q. I f Gandy i s proposing o f f s e t t i n g you, wouldn't 

7 you want t o know how much water i s going t o go i n t o any 

8 i n d i v i d u a l zone i n the i n j e c t i o n well? 

9 A. On many. 

10 Q. And wouldn't you want t o know the volume t h a t 

11 the i n j e c t i o n zone would probably hold? 

12 A. Well, those are a l i t t l e d i f f i c u l t t o answer. 

13 When I say maybe I would want t o know how much water i s 

14 going where, i f I had no idea, i f I knew t h a t water was 

15 going t o go both i n t o the Abo and i n t o the Wolf Camp, I 

16 maybe would l i k e t o know, w e l l , how much i s going t o go 

17 i n t o the Abo. 

18 But I f e e l l i k e i t was reasonable l o o k i n g at the 

19 t e s t i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t the Abo i s t i g h t , and t h a t i t 

2 0 probably won't take very much water. So I d i d n ' t r e a l l y 

21 f e e l l i k e i t r e a l l y mattered a l l t h a t much. 

22 Q. Do you know where t h a t water i s going t o go? 

23 A. I could t e l l from the i n j e c t i v i t y t h a t a l o t of 

24 i t was going t o go i n t o t h a t Upper Wolf Camp zone, and 

25 then when they knocked the plug out and exposed the lower 
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1 i n t e r v a l , t h a t , you know, i t j u s t increased the amount of 

2 f l u i d t h a t was going. 

3 Q. But the increased volume, do you know how much 

4 i n t o each of those zones? 

5 A. No. 

6 Q. Do you know how f a r from the wellbore i t w i l l 

7 migrate out? 

8 A. No. 

9 Q. Don't you t h i n k t h a t i f V-F wants t o i n j e c t next 

10 t o you, they ought t o at l e a s t be able t o t e l l you what 

11 they estimate the impact of t h a t i n j e c t i o n t o be on your 

12 property? 

13 A. W i t h i n the h a l f mile review area? I would t h i n k 

14 t h a t they have every r i g h t t o c a l c u l a t e what they deem 

15 necessary t o see what the impact would be. 

16 Q. And i t would be up t o us, not you, t o c a l c u l a t e 

17 the impact you're having on other operators? 

18 A. I t h i n k from V-F's standpoint, t h a t would be 

19 something t h a t they would probably want t o c a l c u l a t e . 

2 0 From Gandy's standpoint, they c e r t a i n l y don't want t o 

21 s t a r t i n j e c t i n g and a year from now the whole i n j e c t i v i t y 

22 changes and they f i n d t h a t maybe t h i s t h i n g i s smaller and 

23 i t s t a r t s t o pressure up and here they s i t w i t h a 

24 i n j e c t i o n w e l l t h a t now they have t o s t a r t p u t t i n g a pump 

2 5 on i t t o t r y t o put the water away. 
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1 Q. Wouldn't a volumetric a n a l y s i s of Gandy 

2 determine tha t ? 

3 A. Well, when you s t a r t doing volumetric 

4 c a l c u l a t i o n s , i t ' s based on what the a v a i l a b l e i n f o r m a t i o n 

5 i s . We've got some, what I t h i n k a reasonable person 

6 could assume what the p o r o s i t i e s are, what the s a t u r a t i o n s 

7 are, and probably come up w i t h a b a l l p a r k number. But on 

8 the same hand, i f they had done volumetrics on how much 

9 o i l they thought was i n t h i s zone before they t e s t e d i t , 

10 i f they had a good show, the would have gotten a number. 

11 So i t ' s only as good as the assumptions t h a t go i n t o i t . 

12 And the Wolf Camp, Permo-Penn i s n o t o r i o u s l y 

13 d i f f i c u l t t o analyze q u a n t i t a t i v e l y on what the p o r o s i t y 

14 i s , much less t o assume what the extent t h a t p o r o s i t y i s 

15 l a t e r a l l y away from your wellbore. 

16 Q. And why i s that? 

17 A. I t ' s j u s t the nature of the Wolf Camp, 

18 Permo-Penn, t h a t -- i t ' s a carbonate t h a t comes and goes 

19 as p o r o s i t i e s -- I f nothing else, the e x h i b i t t h a t showed 

20 t h a t Townsend Permo-Penn, I t h i n k i t p o i n t s out t h a t i t ' s 

21 hard t o p r e d i c t what you w i l l impact w i t h i n j e c t i o n i n 

22 nearby w e l l s . 

23 But i f you look through the we l l s t h a t — or the 

24 areas t h a t are being water f l o o d i n the Permo-Penn, 

25 there's not r e a l l y very many successful water f l o o d s , and 
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1 i t ' s f o r a l l these reason, c o n t i n u i t y . 

2 Q. Here we're t a l k i n g about an i n j e c t i o n w e l l , one 

3 w e l l , i n the Permo-Penn and the Wolf Camp. I f I 

4 understand your testimony, you can't t e l l me today what 

5 zone the i n j e c t i o n water w i l l go i n t o or where i t w i l l go; 

6 i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. And when I look at the i n f o r m a t i o n presented, 

9 V-F Petroleum would have t o go out and run these 

10 c a l c u l a t i o n s and make these assumptions and t r y t o 

11 determine whether or not t h e i r hydrocarbons are going t o 

12 be impacted. I s t h a t what you were saying? Do you t h i n k 

13 they would do i t ? 

14 A. Well, t o back up j u s t f o r a second, you know, we 

15 looked w i t h i n t h a t area of review, was there anything t h a t 

16 appeared productive i n the i n t e r v a l t h a t we planned t o 

17 i n j e c t . And the answer t o t h a t was no. We f e l t l i k e the 

18 t e s t we d i d i n the zone proved t h a t downdip, we're wet. 

19 We see t h a t the s t r u c t u r e climbs going t o the west, i t 

20 f e l t l i k e you had t o get outside the area of review. 

21 So there was r e a l l y no sense f o r us t o do those 

22 c a l c u l a t i o n . We were lo o k i n g a t i t from an i n j e c t i v i t y 

23 i n j e c t i o n standpoint. 

24 Q. And you're t a l k i n g about the production t e s t s 

25 t h a t showed t o be wet as opposed t o the one by Mr. White? 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
61fe694b-6911-4915-b384-c0856342c0dd 



Page 78 

1 A. Right. 

2 Q. And as an operator i n the area, you've been 

3 involved i n running production t e s t s , have you not? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. And i n t h i s area, do you be l i e v e t h a t a two or 

6 three day production t e s t i s s u f f i c i e n t t o evaluate the 

7 Permo-Penn? 

8 A. I n my experience, I would say they gave 

9 s u f f i c i e n t o p p o r t u n i t y f o r hydrocarbons t o be produced 

10 during the t e s t p e r i o d i n the w e l l , i n both instances, of 

11 the Upper and Lower Wolf Camp. 

12 Q. Mr. B e a l l , V-F Petroleum, w i t h whom you have 

13 t a l k e d , has expressed concern t o you about the impact of 

14 what you're proposing on reserves they own; i s t h a t not 

15 correct? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. And you have suggested t h a t i f he's r e a l l y 

18 concerned, t h a t there are c e r t a i n t e s t s and things he 

19 should have undertaken t o a s c e r t a i n i f the e f f e c t ; i s t h a t 

2 0 r i g h t ? 

21 A. I don't know t h a t I would say t h a t . I'm not 

22 p r i v y t o the i n f o r m a t i o n he does have t o make h i s 

23 conclusions at t h i s p o i n t . 

24 Q. But you haven't made the volumetric 

25 c a l c u l a t i o n s , you have not asked Gandy's representative i f 
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1 they've done these t h i n g s , correct? 

2 A. I have not p e r s o n a l l y done those. 

3 Q. And i s t h a t because you have no o i l and gas 

4 reserves at r i s k , or are you j u s t wanting t o i n j e c t water? 

5 A. No I don't t h i n k t h a t entered i n t o my --

6 MR. CARR: That's a l l I have. 

7 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Mr. Duffey, I guess I 

8 b e t t e r ask you about the n o t i c e again r e a l quick. This 

9 map t h a t you have, t h i s area of review map, you have t h a t 

10 e n t i r e -- looks l i k e Section Oh, no the southwest 

11 quarter of i t colored i n yellow. That means i t ' s i t s own 

12 contiguous fee t r a c t ; i s t h a t correct? 

13 THE WITNESS: Are you i n Section 26, 

14 southwest -- Southeast 25? 

15 HEARING EXAMINER: Yeah. 

16 THE WITNESS: I bel i e v e t h a t -- i t ' s been a 

17 whi l e , i t was January or e a r l i e r t h a t I was c o l o r i n g these 

18 t h i n g s , but I believe t h a t t h a t was st a t e acreage. 

19 HEARING EXAMINER: This has been going on f o r a 

20 while here, hasn't i t ? 

21 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. When we p u l l up our 

23 data base, i t shows i t t o be fee, but do you have i n here 

24 a l l the people you no t i c e d and --

2 5 THE WITNESS: I know t h a t was i n the 
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1 a p p l i c a t i o n . We do not have i t as an e x h i b i t . 

2 HEARING EXAMINER: But i t ' s i n the a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

3 THE WITNESS: Yes. I be l i e v e there were 25 

4 p a r t i e s t h a t were n o t i f i e d v i a c e r t i f i e d m a i l . 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: I saw a whole bunch of 

6 n o t i f i c a t i o n s . Runnels was one of them? 

7 THE WITNESS: I ' d have t o look. That name does 

8 not r i n g a b e l l . 

9 HEARING EXAMINER: The former senator from New 

10 Mexico? Dorothy Runnels, they own some land between 

11 Lovington and Hobbs. I thought I saw i t . I t ' s on your 

12 map here too. 

13 THE WITNESS: Okay. 

14 HEARING EXAMINER: So b a s i c a l l y , a l l the 

15 evidence of the e x h i b i t s i s i n the a p p l i c a t i o n . And which 

16 landman d i d you work with? 

17 THE WITNESS: You know, Dale -- I believe 

18 Mr. Gandy r e t a i n e d those services. I never met the man. I 

19 don't know. 

2 0 HEARING EXAMINER: But i t was a r e a l landman 

21 t h a t worked on t h i s ? 

22 THE WITNESS: As f a r as I know. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. That's f i n e . And 

24 you're okay w i t h s e t t i n g a bridge plug w i t h i n 200 f e e t of 

25 the lowermost curve i f t h i s i s approved f o r i n j e c t i o n , 
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1 you'd be okay w i t h that? 

2 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

3 HEARING EXAMINER: And the Wolf Camp i s covered 

4 by cement i n the e n t i r e area of review? 

5 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

6 HEARING EXAMINER: And the Abo i s also? 

7 THE WITNESS: Abo, as f a r as I can t e l l , i t was. 

8 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Those DV t o o l s , do you 

9 have an opi n i o n about why they were set i n these w e l l s , 

10 what they were p r o t e c t i n g against? 

11 THE WITNESS: I don't, but I see t h a t i t wasn't 

12 j u s t a one instance, t h a t i t appears t h a t as time has gone 

13 on, and maybe there's been d e p l e t i o n i n the area t h a t , you 

14 know, operators are worr i e d about i t and they don't want 

15 t o take the chance of g e t t i n g a bad cement job. So I'm 

16 only assuming t h a t there was something t h a t they saw t h a t 

17 l e d them -- Unless i t ' s j u s t t h a t herd m e n t a l i t y t h a t 

18 somebody does i t and everybody does i t . 

19 HEARING EXAMINER: I understand the herd 

20 m e n t a l i t y . So i t could be e i t h e r an issue of corro s i o n 

21 problems i n the upper zone -- I'm worried about the San 

22 Andres being covered w i t h cement, or i t could be worr i e d 

23 about the breakdown of i n t e r v a l s below i f you put too much 

24 h y d r o s t a t i c on --
25 THE WITNESS: My opinion would be th a t i t ' s 
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1 something up above the Abo t h a t they're worried about, 

2 okay? And t h a t they wanted t o make sure t h a t they got 

3 t h a t covered -- i f they were wor r i e d about g e t t i n g the 

4 cement job deeper, I t h i n k they probably would have set 

5 the DV t o o l deeper. I f they're worried about something 

6 even f u r t h e r up the hole, i t may have been two DV t o o l s . 

7 So i t appears t o me, j u s t based on the evidence, i t ' s 

8 probably something up shallow. 

9 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. But not too f a r above 

10 the DV to o l ? Maybe the Abo or --

11 THE WITNESS: I don't know. I'm g e t t i n g i n t o 

12 guess work. 

13 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. What about any other 

14 p o t e n t i a l i n j e c t i o n zones i n t h i s w e l l , could there --

15 there wouldn't be any others, r i g h t ? 

16 THE WITNESS: Not t h a t are open up i n t h i s 

17 wellbore. 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: But t h a t could be open i n the 

19 future? 

20 THE WITNESS: You know, t o be honest w i t h you, I 

21 t h i n k we would love t o put water i n t o something l i k e the 

22 Devonian. But you got t o f i n d a wellbore t h a t ' s set up 

23 f o r you t o do t h a t i n l i e u of d r i l l i n g a w e l l top t o 

24 bottom y o u r s e l f . 

25 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. 
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1 THE WITNESS: And the f a c t t h a t they set casing 

2 above i t , you s t a r t t o l i m i t the hole size and you s t a r t 

3 g e t t i n g i n t o issues t h a t -- I t h i n k your r i s k s s t a r t t o 

4 increase. 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. There's a l o t of o i l 

6 pools t h a t appear t o be i n t h i s v i c i n i t y , and what I saw, 

7 there's -- l e t ' s see i f I can f i n d t h a t . There was q u i t e 

8 a few of them. I t appears t h a t t h i s i s a c t u a l l y i n one of 

9 the o i l pools. You guys weren't planning on moving t o 

10 c o n t r a c t any of these o i l pools t h a t -- t o -- i t looks 

11 l i k e t h i s w e l l i s i n the Shoebar Wolf Camp o i l pool, and 

12 i t ' s undesignated from a whole bunch of others, which 

13 means i t ' s w i t h i n one mile of other pools- Looks l i k e the 

14 Upper Penn, the Abo, and the Chester, which i s 

15 THE WITNESS: Deeper. 

16 HEARING EXAMINER: Deeper? 

17 THE WITNESS: Yeah. I'm not sure. And maybe 

18 Mr. White could say. When they f i l e d the paperwork t o 

19 t e s t the Wolf Camp and the Atoka, there probably was some 

20 k i n d of a designation of a f i e l d , unless they use Wildcat, 

21 but I'm not sure what they were going t o in t e n d t o 

22 c l a s s i f y i t as, but i t has been productive. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: But do you agree t h a t one of 

24 the b i g issues here i s whether t h i s disposal operation 

25 would a f f e c t any hydrocarbons, and -- What do you think? 
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1 You don't t h i n k i t would? 

2 THE WITNESS: Well, I t h i n k t h a t you'd have t o 

3 get w e l l outside the h a l f mile r a d i u s . I bel i e v e you'd 

4 have t o get s u b s t a n t i a l l y updip. 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: I n what formation? 

6 THE WITNESS: I n the Wolf Camp. 

7 HEARING EXAMINER: So the Wolf Camp i s on a --

8 Well, we can t a l k t o the g e o l o g i s t about t h a t l a t e r . 

9 THE WITNESS: Yeah, I t h i n k l e t him -- But from 

10 what I r e c a l l , i t shows t h a t t h i s w e l l s i t s i n a trough i n 

11 the Wolf Camp. 

12 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Do you have any idea 

13 of the volume of water you'd be disposing and f o r how long 

14 a time? 

15 THE WITNESS: Well, the f a c t t h a t i t ' s a 

16 commercial designation t h a t -- You know, you're r e a l l y 

17 l i m i t e d by what's the demand. The water has t o be trucked 

18 i n t o the l o c a t i o n . So you're somewhat l i m i t e d , I t h i n k , 

19 from j u s t a l o g i s t i c a l standpoint. 

2 0 HEARING EXAMINER: But you don't have a --

21 you're not proposing a c e r t a i n volume of l i m i t on t h i s 

22 permit. We normally don't do t h a t . But you wouldn't be 

23 proposing t h a t l i k e some other states do, i n t h i s case, t o 

24 l i m i t the a f f e c t of any hydrocarbons surrounding these 

25 other pools. 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
61fe694b-6911-4915-b384-c0856342c0dd 



Page 85 

1 THE WITNESS: Well, you know, I don't t h i n k at 

2 t h i s time we're wanting t o set a self-imposed l i m i t , l e t ' s 

3 put i t t h a t way. 

4 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Did you look at the 

5 gas production on any of these other pools as t o whether 

6 they were -- i t was mostly o i l -- I know these are o i l 

7 pools, but are any of them high gas production? 

8 THE WITNESS: I t h i n k the answer t o t h a t i s some 

9 of them do have a p r e t t y high h i s t o r i c a l GOR. So i t ' s not 

10 unusual t o get some p r e t t y good gas recovery. 

11 HEARING EXAMINER: I s t h a t because they're below 

12 the bubble p o i n t , or because they're -- Some of them are 

13 j u s t n a t u r a l l y i n i t i a l l y --

14 THE WITNESS: You know, I d i d n ' t r e a l l y look at 

15 the GOR h i s t o r y t o see i f you could see t h a t you s t a r t e d 

16 out above the bubble p o i n t and at some p o i n t you get below 

17 i t . The f a c t t h a t the i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t , i t ' s t a k i n g water 

18 out on a vacuum, t e l l s me there's not very much pressure 

19 i n t h i s Wolf Camp. Now, I don't know i f t h a t ' s p r e t t y 

2 0 normal or i f -- e x a c t l y why i t ' s t a k i n g i t on a vacuum. 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: Do you the know the pressure? 

22 Do you know the f l u i d l e v e l , s t a t i c f l u i d l e v e l w i t h i n the 

23 well? 

24 THE WITNESS: A l l I saw was on the i n j e c t i v i t y 

25 t e s t a f t e r they p u l l e d the b r idge p lug t h a t i s o l a t e d the 
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1 two Wolf Camp zones, t h a t pumping f o u r b a r r e l s a minute, 

2 they could never catch f l u i d . So i t was something lower 

3 than four b a r r e l s a minute and they could never catch up 

4 t o i t . 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: Have you had experience i n 

6 other disposal w e l l s i n t h i s Upper Penn Permo-Penn area? 

7 THE WITNESS: I operate a f i e l d q u i t e a ways t o 

8 the n o r t h i n Tatum, which i s Wolf Camp Penn production, 

9 t h a t we've got one disposal w e l l t h a t we dispose of j u s t 

10 produced water i n t o i t . But i t takes water on a vacuum. 

11 But again, i t ' s had a l o t of d e p l e t i o n surrounding t h a t 

12 wellbore. 

13 And the previous operator attempted t o , f o r the 

14 lack of a b e t t e r word, water f l o o d the f i e l d and shut i t 

15 down a f t e r a couple of years f o r the exact reason t h a t I 

16 pointed out t h a t Townsend Permo-Penn, they j u s t never saw 

17 any o i l bank b u i l d i n g . They weren't, apparently, pushing 

18 o i l i n t o some of the surrounding producers, so they 

19 abandoned the --

2 0 HEARING EXAMINER: What happened t o the water 

21 t h a t they i n j e c t e d , was i t c y c l i n g over t o the producers? 

22 THE WITNESS: No you j u s t never see i t again. 

23 There has t o be a l o t of compartmentalization i n t h a t 

24 case. So. 

25 HEARING EXAMINER: And Wolf Camp, you d i d n ' t 
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1 draw a t y p i c a l Wolf Camp decline curve t o see -- I mean, 

2 do you have any idea the volume of Wolf Camp o i l t y p i c a l 

3 f o r a w e l l or the t y p i c a l d e cline rate? 

4 THE WITNESS: I d i d not. 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: Because t h i s i s considered 

6 t o t a l l y a wet area. 

7 THE WITNESS: Yes. I know t h a t -- you know, on 

8 the l i t t l e b l i p t o the west of the disposal w e l l t h a t 

9 showed some Wolf Camp production, I b e l i e v e one of the 

10 w e l l s i s operated by Primero. There's one operated by 

11 V-F. I looked at the production h i s t o r y of them, and I 

12 see t h a t they were k i n d of not the greatest o i l producers, 

13 you know, made 30,000 or 40,000 b a r r e l s . C e r t a i n l y 

14 economic, but --

15 HEARING EXAMINER: Fast decline? 

16 A. T y p i c a l l y a -- yeah, you make a l o t of o i l 

17 upfront and then i t r e a l l y streams down. 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: And what about the water, 

19 what does i t do? 

20 THE WITNESS: I don't t h i n k they have very much 

21 water production at a l l from any of the w e l l s . 

2 2 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. 

23 THE WITNESS: C e r t a i n l y less than maybe a couple 

24 thousand b a r r e l s of water per w e l l , i s what I r e c a l l . 
25 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Was there anything 
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1 else on t h i s -- when you were doing t h i s C-108 t h a t stood 

2 out t h a t you would l i k e t o t a l k about? 

3 THE WITNESS: Not t h a t I r e a l l y -- I t h i n k we've 

4 covered most of the p o i n t s . 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: David? 

6 MR. BROOKS: Mr. Jones asked you some questions 

7 about the paperwork t h a t was sent, t h a t n o t i c e was sent 

8 t o , and you were not, apparently, very w e l l versed at the 

9 moment on t h a t subject, but I take i t , you, Gandy does not 

10 in t e n d t o c a l l a land witness i n t h i s proceeding today? 

11 THE WITNESS: Not t h a t I'm aware of. 

12 MR. BROOKS: Mr. Lakins, are you going t o 

13 present an a f f i d a v i t of notice? 

14 MR. LAKINS: I be l i e v e t h a t ' s i n the a p p l i c a t i o n 

15 i t s e l f . We don't have t h a t here as an e x h i b i t , Mr. 

16 Brooks, but i f I'm not mistaken, t h a t ' s i n the 

17 a p p l i c a t i o n . 

18 THE WITNESS: Yeah, p a r t of the o r i g i n a l . 

19 MR. BROOKS: Okay. Mr. Carr u s u a l l y presents i t 

2 0 at the hearing. Okay, w e l l --
21 MR. LAKINS: I ' l l l e a r n from Mr. Carr on t h a t 

22 one. 

23 MR. BROOKS: - - Mr. Carr and Mr. Bruce. I j u s t 

24 mentioned Mr. Carr because he happens t o be here. Since 

25 you obv ious ly are not versed on t h a t , I won ' t ask you any 
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1 questions about i t . I ' l l look a t i t du r i n g the break and 

2 i f I have any questions, I ' l l ask Mr. Lakins. I have no 

3 f u r t h e r questions. 

4 HEARING EXAMINER: Any other questions f o r t h i s 

5 witness? 

6 MR. LAKINS: Yes, Mr. Hears Examiner. 

7 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

8 BY MR. LAKINS: 

9 Q. Mr. Duffey, i f you could t u r n t o the back page 

10 of E x h i b i t 3, I t h i n k i t was t e s t i f i e d t o t h a t the 

11 a p p l i c a t i o n was up t o 5,000 b a r r e l s a day; i s t h a t 

12 correct? 

13 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

14 Q. Could you t e l l me how much fo u r b a r r e l s a minute 

15 on vacuum would be i n a day? 

16 A. Well, f o u r times fourteen f o r t y -- somewhere --

17 maybe 6,000 b a r r e l s a day, a l i t t l e b i t less. 

18 Q. Would 5,767 be the r i g h t number? 

19 A. That sounds -- l i k e you c a l c u l a t e d i t . 

2 0 MR. LAKINS: Nothing f u r t h e r . 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: Mr. Carr? 

22 MR. CARR: No questions. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Thanks a l o t , 

24 Mr. Duffy. And we probably should break f o r lunch. Let's 

25 come back at 1:15. 
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1 (Note: A break was taken f o r lunch.) 

2 HEARING EXAMINER: Let's go back on the record 

3 and continue w i t h Andy's case. 

4 MR. LAKINS: Thank you, Mr. Hearing Examiner. 

5 We c a l l J e f f r y Smith. 

6 JEFFRY SMITH, 

7 the witness herein, a f t e r f i r s t being duly sworn 

8 upon h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

9 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

10 BY MR. LAKINS: 

11 Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Smith. 

12 A. Good afternoon. 

13 Q. Mr. Smith. Could you t e l l us what you do f o r a 

14 l i v i n g ? 

15 A. I'm a c o n s u l t i n g g e o l o g i s t . 

16 Q. How long have you been a c o n s u l t i n g geologist? 

17 A. Since 1978. 

18 Q. Mr. Smith, could you describe f o r me your 

19 education, please. 

20 A. I have a bachelor's degree i n geology from Union 

21 College i n Schenectady, New York. I have a master's 

22 degree i n geology from Wensilary P o l y t e c h n i c a l I n s t i t u t e 

23 i n Troy, New York. 

24 Q. What year? 

25 A. 1970. 
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1 Q. Could you give me an overview of your work 

2 experience from 1970 up t o the present? 

3 A. Mobile h i r e d me when I was s t i l l i n graduate 

4 school. I had an i n t e r v i e w w i t h Mobile. They o f f e r e d me 

5 a j o b , gave me a choice of f i v e c i t i e s . Midland was the 

6 smallest one. I was a farm-town boy. I s a i d , "Let me go 

7 t o Midland." So I went t o Midland. 

8 Then a couple years l a t e r , they came i n and 

9 said, "We have great news. You're g e t t i n g a promotion. 

10 Your new job i s i n Houston." I said, "I've got some news, 

11 too. I'm not going." So I've been i n Midland f o r 3 9 

12 years. 

13 I've worked f o r Mobile, Midwest, Signal, Texas 

14 O i l and Gas. And companies kept g e t t i n g s o l d out from 

15 under me. I f i n a l l y decided, why don't I j u s t go t o work 

16 f o r myself. 

17 Now, I have a f f i l i a t e d w i t h companies. Harvard 

18 Petroleum i n Roswell, I was -- When B i l l Lamay came up 

19 here, I took B i l l ' s place and was a p a r t n e r w i t h Lee 

2 0 Harvard f o r four years. 

21 I t was a company based i n C a l i f o r n i a , LBO 

22 Energy. I managed the company. I d i d i t as a consultant, 

23 but I managed the company. We p r i m a r i l y operated i n New 

24 Mexico. I was responsible f o r , I don't know, about 70 

25 w e l l s i n New Mexico. 
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1 Q. Now, i n your time since 1970, has you geology 

2 experience been p r i m a r i l y i n the o i l and gas industry? 

3 A. Yes, i t has been. 

4 Q. Have you worked i n New Mexico and done geology 

5 work i n the Lovington area? 

6 A. I have. I have consulted f o r a l o t of 

7 companies. And f o r a number of years, I've been a 

8 consultant f o r Exxon and f o r VP and some others. 

9 I consulted f o r some time f o r EOG Resources and 

10 Pogo, and EOG and Pogo o f t e n have me working i n t h i s area. 

11 I j u s t go out t o d r i l l i n g l o c a t i o n s , evaluate shows, run 

12 logs f o r them, help them evaluate the logs. Say, okay, 

13 here's the ones I t h i n k are worth t e s t i n g , here are the 

14 zones t h a t I f e e l would be a waste of your time and 

15 a t t e n t i o n . 

16 So I won't t e l l you e x a c t l y where, but they were 

17 i n t h i s general area. I was on a number of we l l s there. 

18 Did a l o t work f o r Mobile j u s t south of here at Buckeye, 

19 but not so much Permo-Penn, i t was u s u a l l y the Abo, the 

2 0 Atoka and the Morrow. 

21 Q. Have you had any s p e c i a l i z e d t r a i n i n g f o r o i l 

22 and gas r e l a t e d geology i n your work experience? 

23 A. Mobile decided t o c r o s s - t r a i n me as a 

24 p e t r o p h y s i c i s t , l o g analyst. So I d i d a log analysis f o r 

25 Mobile O i l i n a number of places. 
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1 And I can f u l l y admit I have not kept up 

2 probably as much as I should have w i t h a l l the modern 

3 logs. Because most of these -- a l o t of these logs 

4 weren't invented back then, as n e i t h e r were c a l c u l a t o r s 

5 and computers. So we d i d i t w i t h s l i d e r u l e r s . 

6 But I g e n e r a l l y f e e l p r e t t y comfortable when I 

7 look at a set of logs t h a t I can f i g u r e what looks good, 

8 what looks bad, and what looks heavy. 

9 Q. And I see by your card, you c a l l y o u r s e l f a 

10 petroleum g e o l o g i s t . 

11 A. Yes, s i r . 

12 Q. Why i s that? 

13 A. Well, t h a t ' s -- my whole area of focus i s the 

14 petroleum business. I'm not a coal g e o l o g i s t , I'm not a 

15 uranium g e o l o g i s t , I'm not a h y d r o l o g i s t or groundwater 

16 g e o l o g i s t , I work i n the o i l and gas i n d u s t r y and have f o r 

17 coming up on 40 years. 

18 MR. LAKINS: Mr. Hearing Examiner, I tender Mr. 

19 J e f f r y Smith as an expert g e o l o g i s t w i t h a concentration 

2 0 i n petroleum geology. 

21 MR. CARR: May I j u s t ask a couple of questions? 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Yes. 

23 MR. CARR: Mr. Smith, do you have experience i n 

24 d r i l l i n g Permo-Penn we l l s i n southeast New Mexico? 

25 THE WITNESS: Yes. Not f o r myself, but f o r 
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1 consultants, f o r c l i e n t s , yes. 

2 MR. CARR: And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the 

3 l a y e r i n g of the various zones i n the Permo-Penn i n t h i s 

4 area? 

5 THE WITNESS: Yes, I am. 

6 MR. CARR: I have no o b j e c t i o n . 

7 HEARING EXAMINER: Mr. Smith i s q u a l i f i e d as an 

8 expert i n petroleum geology. 

9 MR. LAKINS: Mr. Hearing Examiner, thank you. 

10 Q. Mr. Smith, could you describe f o r me your 

11 involvement w i t h the Albacore w e l l , what you've done? 

12 A. I put together -- I took some work t h a t was done 

13 by Floyd Ferguson, who Mr. White has referenced before, I 

14 took a map t h a t he had and I expanded the map. 

15 I gathered up as many logs as I could t o see --

16 I kept the same marker. He c a l l e d i t Wolf Camp marker. 

17 I f I had s t a r t e d from scratch, I may or may not have done 

18 p r e c i s e l y t h a t . 

19 But I was engaged at a time when there wasn't 

20 much time. We thought the hearing was coming up 

21 imminently, so I wanted t o do i t as f a s t as pos s i b l e , so I 

22 expanded on the work t h a t he d i d on t h i s map. 

23 I gathered up the logs t h a t I could f i n d , made a 

24 couple cross-sections, evaluated the logs, the e l e c t r i c 

25 logs, the mudlogs t h a t I was -- t h a t were made a v a i l a b l e 
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1 t o me, and t r i e d t o determine what looked pro d u c t i v e , and 

2 p a r t i c u l a r l y w i t h i n the s t a t u t o r y radius of i n v e s t i g a t i o n , 

3 the h a l f mile, and said, i s t h i s a good candidate, f i r s t 

4 of a l l , i n my mind t o i n j e c t i n t o . And i f so -- At t h a t 

5 p o i n t I knew t h a t V-F objected, so I wanted t o t r y t o 

6 educate myself of what would be the reason they would 

7 o b j e c t . 

8 So I took a hard look at the Blue Fin w e l l , 

9 which i s j u s t n o r t h of the Albacore, t o see i f i t looked 

10 t o me i f there was any way t h a t c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s could 

11 be impinged upon by i n j e c t i n g water i n t o the Albacore. 

12 Q. And what was your opinion? 

13 A. My opi n i o n was t h a t the Blue Fin i s not capable 

14 of producing o i l and gas i n commercial q u a n t i t i e s or 

15 probably i n any q u a n t i t i e s from the proposed i n j e c t i o n 

16 zones. 

17 Q. Now l e t ' s s t a r t w i t h your E x h i b i t No. 11 t h a t ' s 

18 there i n f r o n t you. Could you describe f o r me what a l l 

19 t h a t on t h a t e x h i b i t says, those d i f f e r e n t c o l o r s of 

20 l i n e s , e t cetera. 

21 A. Well, the d i f f e r e n t c o l o r s are -- I had met 

22 w i t h Mr. Duffey and he had researched some data on the 

23 websites t o show what zones each of these w e l l produced 

24 from. I took t h a t data and t r i e d t o c o l o r code the map. 

25 I knew t h a t there could be a couple of wel l s i n 
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1 here t h a t might p o s s i b l y have produced or are producing 

2 from a d d i t i o n a l zones. But t h i s was h i s o r i g i n a l 

3 r e p r e s e n t a t i o n on the c o l o r coding of what each w e l l 

4 produces from. 

5 The s t r u c t u r e was simply t o show the 

6 r e l a t i o n s h i p t o the -- what I c a l l the sink, the low spot 

7 here on the eastern side where the Blue Fin and the 

8 Albacore are lo c a t e d t o the production up on the Shoebar. 

9 Even i f someone wanted t o quibble on the p i c k of the Wolf 

10 Camp marker -- and t o be honest, I might perhaps myself 

11 quibble w i t h i t on a couple of w e l l s , but i t ' s not 

12 appreciable. 

13 And what i t does show i s t h a t i t ' s approximately 

14 350 f e e t , 400 f e e t , p o s s i b l y , of s t r u c t u r e from the bottom 

15 up t o the producing f e a t u r e . 

16 Q. Okay. Please continue. 

17 A. Okay, w e l l , p a r t of the reason f o r the 

18 i n f o r m a t i o n , you always make a s t r u c t u r e map, t h a t ' s what 

19 we do. And I also looked at the commercially a v a i l a b l e 

2 0 geomaps which are not i n evidence, but they're 

21 commercially a v a i l a b l e . 

22 And i t shows a deep-seated sizeable f a u l t 

23 s l i g h t l y east of the Albacore t h a t trends 

24 northwest/southeast, which made p e r f e c t sense. 

25 You've got a popped-up s t r u c t u r e t o the east, 
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1 you have a popped-up s t r u c t u r e t o the west, and a b i g l o g 

2 i n between. That was probably a f a u l t dominated at depth. 

3 And t h i s b i g low at Permo-Penn age, i s a 

4 r e f l e c t i o n of t h a t . Water i s heavy, o i l and gas are 

5 l i g h t , o i l and gas go t o the top, water goes t o the 

6 bottom, and water also stays i n the bottom. 

7 And I f e l t t h i s was a p e r f e c t place t o put water 

8 here i n the low. And the water would, by a l l reasonable 

9 i n t e r p r e t a t i o n s , stay i n the low. 

10 Q. Along t h i s trough t h a t you're t a l k i n g about? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. And once again, where i s t h i s trough located? 

13 A. The trough runs a l i t t l e b i t northwest and 

14 northwest/southeast, and I t h i n k -- You know, the water, 
15 i f i t was going t o migrate, would very reasonably, you 

16 would assume t h a t the water would migrate along the low 

17 and stay i n the bottom. There's no reason t h i s water 

18 should want t o climb 350 or 400 f e e t u p h i l l . | 

19 Q. I s there some s o r t of d i p i n the formation or j 

20 slope i n the --

21 A. Yes, t h a t ' s what i t i s . I t ' s dipped from up 

22 here at the top, take the 3-C w e l l where I have i t picked 

23 as minus 6,203 down the Albacore minus 6,658, t h a t ' s 455 

24 f e e t of d i p . 

25 Q. So t h a t f o r m a t i o n i s b a s i c a l l y s l o p i n g f rom h i g h 
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1 on the west --

2 A. Sloping from the west t o low on the east. 

3 Q. Towards t h i s trough. 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. Now, i n your o p i n i o n , i f the water were i n j e c t e d 

6 as proposed under t h i s Albacore w e l l , would t h a t impact 

7 the Blue Fin or anything upslope t o the west there? 

8 A. I believe the water would migrate along the 

9 bottom. And from my i n t e r p r e t a t i o n , there wasn't anything 

10 i n the Blue Fin t h a t would be impacted. 

11 Q. A l l r i g h t . Now, Mr. Smith, d i d you look at the 

12 Albacore w e l l from a commercial v i a b i l i t y standpoint f o r 

13 a c t u a l o i l and gas production? 

14 A. Yes. A c t u a l l y , Mr. White had presented t h i s t o 

15 me as an investment o p p o r t u n i t y . I'm s u r p r i s e d I d i d n ' t 

16 get i t i n because I got i n almost every other dry hole f o r 

17 the l a s t couple of years. But I reviewed the logs and i t 

18 d i d n ' t look v i a b l e t o me and I stayed out. 

19 Q. What logs d i d you review and what d i d they t e l l 

2 0 you? 

21 A. I reviewed those logs t h a t are r i g h t here. 

22 Q. I s t h i s E x h i b i t 13? 

23 A. The p o r o s i t y l o g , mudlug, r e s i s t i v i t y l o g . 

24 Q. Could you go through E x h i b i t 13 and describe on 

25 there --
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1 A. This i s the r e s i s t i v i t y l o g , mudlog, and 

2 a c t u a l l y , q u i t e good show i n t h i s upper -- And I kept 

3 using the term Wolf Camp because they had begun w i t h the 

4 term. I probably would have c a l l e d i t Permo-Penn myself, 

5 but without paleo data, I couldn't t e l l you i f t h i s was 

6 Wolf Camp or Cisco or -- I don't know. 

7 But a p r e t t y good show r i g h t here. But I've 

8 seen a l o t of these w i t h good shows t h a t can't do 

9 anything. 

10 Q. That was squared --

11 A. I n the Upper Wolf Camp, what we're c a l l i n g Zone 

12 2 where t h i s goes t o the p e r f o r a t e d i n t e r v a l . And i t 

13 shows reasonable p o r o s i t y . I know a l o t of times these 

14 are depicted as being carbonates, a hundred percent 

15 limestone. More o f t e n than not, a l o t of times there's 

16 some mercuric mixed i n there. I t would confound the l o g 

17 analysis i n which you have a complete p i c t u r e of the 

18 l y t h o l o g y . But you can make p r e t t y good guesses. 

19 And I evaluated the lo g , the p o r o s i t y l o g 

20 v i s - a - v i s the r e s i s t i v i t y l o g . The r e s i s t i v i t y l o g shows 

21 very good p e r m e a b i l i t y . Excellent p e r m e a b i l i t y . 

22 And t o me, without t r u l y knowing what the RW, 

23 the r e s i s t i v i t y of the water i n the formation i s , I 

24 couldn't t e l l you e x a c t l y what water s a t u r a t i o n was there, 

25 but i t c a l c u l a t e d wet t o me. I n my mind, I thought i t was 

-1 
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1 wet, and so I stayed out of the p r o j e c t . j 

2 Q. Okay. And then d i d you look at t h a t mudlog and | 

3 analyze i t from an i n j e c t i v i t y standpoint? 

4 A. No I d i d not. 

5 Q. Okay. When you look at t h a t -- d i d you look at j 

6 t h i s l o g and compare i t t o the Blue Fin log? j 

7 A. Yes, I d i d . At the time t h a t t h i s was 

8 constructed, I d i d not have the Blue Fin muglog. Now, 

9 when you say l o g , now we have e l e c t r i c logs, we have j 
1 

10 mudlogs. So I constructed t h i s -- these are the Blue Fin j 

11 e l e c t r i c logs, but I d i d not have the mudlog u n t i l 

12 somewhat r e c e n t l y . 

13 Q. Okay. Comparing the e l e c t r i c logs f o r the Blue 

14 Fin and the i n f o r m a t i o n on there f o r the Albacore, what 

15 d i d t h a t say t o you? 

16 A. I t a l l f i g u r e s l i k e t o me -- c a l c u l a t e d very 

17 s i m i l a r t o the c a l c u l a t i o n s here, which have been 

18 demonstrated t o be wet. 

19 Q. I n the Albacore? j 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. Do you have any reason t o bel i e v e from l o o k i n g 

22 at t h a t e l e c t r i c l o g on the Blue Fin t h a t i t would be 

23 commercially v i a b l e i n those proposed i n j e c t i o n --

24 A. No I don't b e l i e v e i t would. 

25 Q. And why i s that? 
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1 A. Two reasons. One, t h i s one has been t e s t e d t o 

2 be wet. 

3 Q. The Albacore? 

4 A. The Albacore has been t e s t e d t o be wet, the Blue 

5 Fin i s q u i t e comparable. Nothing s t i c k s out i n t h i s t h a t 

6 you go, boy, t h a t ' s p r o d u c t i v e . The lower zone t h a t was 

7 p e r f o r a t e d on the Albacore i s not developed. You see Zone 

8 1 absent there, i t ' s j u s t not involved developed. I t i s 

9 not developed l i k e i t i s here. 

10 And I be l i e v e t h a t my c o r r e l a t i o n s are probably 

11 c o r r e c t . I'm sure i t ' s possible t o argue a l i t t l e b i t 

12 between d i f f e r e n t g e o l o g i s t s on c o r r e l a t i o n s , but I f e e l 

13 these are supportive. 

14 And the lower zone i s not developed, the upper 

15 zone appears t o me t o be no b e t t e r than the one we see 

16 r i g h t here. 

17 Q. Now, d i d you then also take a look at the mudlog 

18 f o r the Blue Fin well? 

19 A. I d i d , and there's no show evidenced. 

2 0 Q. What do you mean by that? 

21 A. There i s no show of o i l and gas. Go down t o 

22 10,500 f e e t . 

23 MR. LAKINS: For the Hearing Examiner 's purpose, 

24 here i s the same e x h i b i t . This i s sub jec t t o the 

25 c o n f i d e n t i a l i t y order i n t h i s case. Tha t ' s what he 's 
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1 l o o k i n g at r i g h t there. 

2 A. There's a drawing r i g h t here, and there's r e a l l y 

3 no show noted at a l l . 

4 HEARING EXAMINER: What depth i s that? 

5 THE WITNESS: I t i s at ten - - i t begins at 

6 roughly, I would say, around 10,525, 26, the b e t t e r p a r t 

7 of the d r i l l i n g break. 

8 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. 

9 Q. Mr. Smith, when you looked at t h i s mudlog and 

10 the Albacore mudlog and compared them, d i d you draw any 

11 conclusions? 

12 A. Yeah. I d i d n ' t t h i n k the Blue Fin has a chance. 

13 And I t h i n k i t was too bad f o r Phelps t h a t t h i s one had a 

14 b i g show, because i t caused him t o spend some money and 

15 f i n d out t h a t i t wasn't productive e i t h e r . 

16 Q. Do you have an opi n i o n whether or not i n j e c t i n g 

17 i n t o the Albacore as proposed would impact any c o r r e l a t i v e 

18 r i g h t s i n the Blue Fin well? 
19 A. I can't see how. I can't see how i t would. 

20 Q. Would i n j e c t i n g i n t o the Albacore w e l l waste any 

21 gas and o i l reserves? 

22 A. C e r t a i n l y none t h a t I can see. I t h i n k i t ' s a 

23 good candidate. 

24 MR. LAKINS: Pass the witness. 

25 
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1 CROSS-EXAMINATION j 

l 

i 
2 BY MR. CARR: J 

! I 
3 Q. Mr. Smith, j u s t a couple questions. I be l i e v e j 
4 you t e s t i f i e d t h a t there were a couple of zones where J 

1 
5 there were shows on the l o g on the Albacore, t h a t they 

6 t e s t e d w e l l ; i s t h a t what you said? 

7 A. I said one. 

8 Q. One. And which one was that? 

9 A. That's the one t h a t we have demarked as Zone 2. 

10 Q. I s t h a t the Upper Wolf Camp? 

11 A. Yes, i t i s . 

12 Q. And when you say t h a t i t t e s t e d w e l l , were you 

13 involved i n the production t e s t i n g or was t h a t --

14 A. Unfortunately, no. 

15 Q. That's a l l I have. Thank you. 

16 HEARING EXAMINER: Mr. Smith, the Wolf Camp 

17 lower zone, t h a t s t r u c t u r e t h a t you're t a l k i n g about, i s 

18 t h a t on the -- where i s t h a t s t r u c t u r e at? 

19 THE WITNESS: Okay, you mean the marker on t h i s 

2 0 map? 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: Yeah. 

22 THE WITNESS: I t ' s a c t u a l l y one of those gamma 

23 markers t h a t ' s between Zone 2 and Zone 1. And t r y i n g t o 

24 f o l l o w the exact gamma ray f i x from w e l l t o w e l l on here, 

25 I would say i t ' s imprecise, but i t ' s close enough t h a t i t 
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1 gives you the f l a v o r of the topography. 

2 HEARING EXAMINER: The guy before you s t a r t e d i t 

3 and you continued i t ? 

4 THE WITNESS: Right. 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: And you used the same marker? 

6 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

7 HEARING EXAMINER: And you drew the s t r u c t u r e 

8 map. And you had reasonable c o n t r o l t o draw t h i s 

9 substructure map? 

10 THE WITNESS: Yes, s i r . You can see there are a 

11 number of data p o i n t s i n here. 

12 HEARING EXAMINER: So a l l these w e l l s you show 

13 here were your data points? 

14 THE WITNESS: That's r i g h t . I was not able t o 

15 f i n d logs on a l l of those, so on some of those, I borrowed 

16 a p i c k t h a t had been made by Mr. Ferguson. 

17 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. That Upper Wolf Camp, 

18 i s t h a t -- between the Upper and Lower, i s i t a s i m i l a r 

19 thickness, gross thickness on these w e l l s t h a t you looked 

20 at? 

21 THE WITNESS: Between these two here, yes, I 

22 would say yes. But y o u ' l l see some expansion and 

23 d e v o l u t i o n between some of the other w e l l s r e g i o n a l l y . 

24 HEARING EXAMINER: And why i s that? 

25 THE WITNESS: I t ' s j u s t the nature of how these 
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1 rocks were l a i d down. One zone can be q u i t e t h i c k i n one 

2 w e l l , i t would j u s t be a fe a t h e r edge i n another at the 

3 expense of some other zones. They're j u s t t h i c k at one 

4 place and a feath e r edge someplace else. There's some 

5 back and f o r t h . 

6 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. What causes s t r u c t u r e 

7 - - o r what -- Does t h i s s t r u c t u r e extend on deeper i n t o 

8 the --

9 THE WITNESS: Yes. These are fault-bounded deep 

10 s t r u c t u r e s . What we see i n the Permo-Penn i s a r e f l e c t i o n 

11 of what we have been -- i s fault-dominated at depth. 

12 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. This w e l l , was i t 

13 o r i g i n a l l y d r i l l e d by Chesapeake, and obviously, they must 

14 have been going f o r , what, M i s s i s s i p i a n . 

15 THE WITNESS: I t h i n k they were going f o r 

16 M i s s i s s i p i a n . I know the Chesapeake g e o l o g i s t q u i t e w e l l , 

17 and I can't read h i s mind, but he was EOG's ge o l o g i s t i n 

18 t h i s area and I was h i s consultant. So he was always very 

19 attuned t o these Permo-Penn zones t h a t --he looked at 

2 0 those p r e t t y hard. 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: Oh, you mean -- They t r i e d 

22 the M i s s i s s i p p i a n and Morrow and Atoka, r i g h t ? 

23 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

24 HEARING EXAMINER: And they d i d n ' t f i n d i t . And 

25 they d i d n ' t even bother t o t e s t the Wolf Camp? 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
61 fe694b-6911 -4915-b384-c0856342c0dd 



Page 106 

1 THE WITNESS: Yes. And I'm not saying t h a t I 

2 have spoken t o him about t h i s , but I have been h i s 

3 consultant i n t h i s area and I know h i s MO. So, i t makes 

4 sense t o me t h a t he d i d not consider t h i s Permo-Penn zone 

5 t o be s u i t a b l e . 

6 HEARING EXAMINER: But t h i s has gone through two 

7 d i f f e r e n t operators and they both t r i e d t o e s t a b l i s h 

8 production i n t h i s w e l l and they haven't been able t o do 

9 t h a t . 

10 THE WITNESS: Right. And Chesapeake t r i e d the 

11 Peek, and Primero t r i e d the Permo-Penn and Abo. 

12 HEARING EXAMINER: And the Abo. What about the 

13 Abo, i s t h a t the same s t r u c t u r e as t h i s , p r e t t y much? 

14 THE WITNESS: The s t r u c t u r e , you're l o s i n g some 

15 s t r u c t u r e . And t h i s i s t y p i c a l . Structures are 

16 asymmetric. So you get a b i g , popped-up f a u l t block deep 

17 and i t c o n t i n u a l l y spreads, and you lose as you gain. As 

18 you become shallower, i t becomes broader w i t h lower -- I 

19 do not have an Abo s t r u c t u r e map, but I would not expect 

20 anywhere near as much r e l i e f at the Abo l e v e l as I would 

21 the Permo-Penn. 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. What paleo f o s s i l 

23 would you look at t o determine the d i f f e r e n c e between the 

24 Permian and the Pennsylvanian here? 

25 THE WITNESS: I pe r s o n a l l y hate f o s s i l s . I 
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1 would h i r e someone who's a personal f r i e n d of mine and Mr. 

2 Mazzullo's and I would say, "Please t e l l me what you see 

3 here." I never l i k e d paleo. 

4 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. I seem t o have n o t i c e d 

5 t h a t t h i s Wolf Camp was k i n d of gassy on the production, 

6 and I don't know whether t h a t was because i t was below the 

7 bubble p o i n t , and t h i s Shoebar-Wolf Camp, and t h a t ' s 

8 d i r e c t l y -- t h a t ' s a c t u a l l y i n t h a t -- t h i s w e l l i s 

9 considered i n t h a t pool. Do you have any comments on why 

10 i t would be, or --

11 THE WITNESS: I would only assume t h a t had 

12 something t o w i t h a Primero's operations t r y i n g t o 

13 e s t a b l i s h production from i t . But I was not involved i n 

14 i t , and I had nothing t o do w i t h any of the f i l i n g s --

15 HEARING EXAMINER: You mean the f a c t t h a t i t was 

16 included i n the pooling? 

17 THE WITNESS: Yeah. 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: But the issue of the 

19 production from Wolf Camp being k i n d of gassy, do you have 

2 0 any opinion on t h a t or why t h a t would be? 

21 THE WITNESS: No I wouldn't hazard a guess on 

22 t h a t , s i r . 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Nothing t o do w i t h the 

24 s t r u c t u r e , i n other words? 

2 5 THE WITNESS: Well, we know there are Wolf Camp 
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1 o i l f i e l d s , and there are Wolf Camp gas f i e l d s , and there 

2 are Wolf Camp gassy o i l f i e l d s , and I don't want t o hazard 

3 a guess as t o why t h i s one would be one or the other. 

4 HEARING EXAMINER: I s i t your o p i n i o n t h a t the 

5 Wolf Camp i s p r e t t y s t r a t i g r a p h i c a l l y l i m i t e d ? 

6 THE WITNESS: To determine t h a t would r e q u i r e a 

7 mapping i n d i v i d u a l advanced i n the Permo-Penn, which I 

8 have not undertaken. I do not t h i n k i t ' s l i m i t e d , but I 

9 have not mapped i n d i v i d u a l events f o r the e a r l y extent. 

10 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay, so i f they i n j e c t water 

11 i n t o t h i s w e l l , you sa i d i t would probably f o l l o w the 

12 s t r u c t u r e , but from your l o o k i n g at the logs from the 

13 c o n t r o l of t h i s map, you d i d see the -- you were l o o k i n g 

14 f o r t h a t marker, but d i d you see the c o n t i n u a t i o n of the 

15 Wolf Camp? 

16 THE WITNESS: On some of the zones, yes. Like 

17 f o r instance, we're j u s t d e p i c t i n g two logs here, two 

18 w e l l s , but Zone 2 has a nice c o r r e l a t i o n between the Blue 

19 Fin and the Albacore. Zone 1, which i s lower than the 

20 Albacore, i s r e a l l y not developed i n the Blue Fin, but i t 

21 i s developed i n some other w e l l s . 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. The gamma ray, i s i t 

23 the same -- i s i t j u s t as clean i n the Albacore as i t i s 

24 i n the Blue Fin w e l l or those Wolf Camp zones? 

25 THE WITNESS: Well, you're q u i t e s i m i l a r on Zone 
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1 2, you're not on Zone 1. 

2 HEARING EXAMINER: Zone 1 i s -

3 THE WITNESS: Yeah. Zone 1 i s very c l e a r i n the 

4 Albacore and --

5 HEARING EXAMINER: And i t ' s not i n the other 

6 one? 

7 THE WITNESS: And i t ' s not i n the other one, the 

8 Blue F in. 

9 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. What about the deep 

10 r e s i s t i v i t y reading i n those two w e l l s , what you would 

11 give those two wells? 

12 THE WITNESS: Deep reading r e s i s t i v i t y up here 

13 i s reading between 10 and 20 oms. And over here i s 

14 reading between 20 and 30, but w i t h , I t h i n k , a l i t t l e b i t 

15 less p o r o s i t y development. 

16 HEARING EXAMINER: So i t ' s a l i t t l e --

17 THE WITNESS: S l i g h t l y higher r e s i s t i v i t y but 

18 w i t h s l i g h t l y lower r e s i s t i v i t y . 

19 HEARING EXAMINER: And t h a t ' s the upper zone? 

20 THE WITNESS: That's the upper, yes. And 

21 s l i g h t l y lower p o r o s i t y . They're also a f f e c t e d by the 

22 c a l i b e r l o g which i s evidencing some f a l l o u t i n wellbore 

23 i n t e g r i t y which w i l l i n f l u e n c e the p o r o s i t y r a t i n g s . 

24 HEARING EXAMINER: I f somebody asked you t o 

25 p a r t i c i p a t e i n a p e r f o r a t i o n of any of those Wolf Camp 
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1 zones i n the Blue Fin, would you p a r t i c i p a t e i n i t ? 

2 A. Not w i t h my money. No, s i r , I would not. 

3 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. David? 

4 MR. BROOKS: The only question I have i s the one 

5 I asked the other gentleman e a r l i e r , the Abo and the Wolf 

6 Camp, I gather, are c l e a r l y d i s t i n g u i s h a b l e i n t h i s area 

7 and i n other places? 

8 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

9 MR. BROOKS: And the Abo, they said, was t i g h t . 

10 So i t ' s not a good prospect t o put an i n j e c t i o n --

11 THE WITNESS: No, s i r , i t i s not. 

12 MR. BROOKS: Thank you. 

13 HEARING EXAMINER: Any other questions? 

14 MR. LAKINS: Nothing f u r t h e r , Mr. Hearing 

15 Examiner. 

16 HEARING EXAMINER: Thank you, Mr. Smith. Do you 

17 want t o admit those e x h i b i t s ? 

18 MR. LAKINS: Yes. I'm going t o move t o admit 

19 E x h i b i t s 11, 12 and 13, and of course, E x h i b i t 14 i s 

20 subject t o the c o n f i d e n t i a l i t y order, so t h a t ' s not 

21 admitted. 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Any objection? 

23 MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

24 MR. LAKINS: And j u s t f o r c l a r i f i c a t i o n on the 

25 n o t i c e aspect, the a f f i d a v i t t h a t ' s included i n the 

•1 
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1 a p p l i c a t i o n i s not an e x h i b i t here, but -- and also, i t 

2 wasn't r a i s e d as any issue f o r us t o address e i t h e r . 

3 MR. BROOKS: Well, i t ' s i n the record and I have 

4 not had a chance t o look a t i t , but do you break down 

5 the -- What I l i k e t o see i s t o have the t r a c t s i d e n t i f i e d 

6 by the owners i n each t r a c t . 

7 MR. LAKINS: I t h i n k we d i d e x a c t l y t h a t . 

8 MR. BROOKS: Okay, i f you d i d t h a t , t h a t ' s f i n e . 

9 I f not, I ' d l i k e you t o supplement. Because a l o t of 

10 times, people w i l l j u s t send a l i s t and say, "We gave 

11 n o t i c e t o a l l these people." I t ' s not t h a t I don't t r u s t 

12 t h e i r word t h a t they're the owners, but I'd l i k e f o r 

13 somebody t o at l e a s t represent t h a t t h a t ' s the case. 

14 Presumably, i t ' s a landman t h a t ' s gone out and done h i s 

15 work. 

16 MR. LAKINS: We w i l l double check and v e r i f y , 

17 and i f i t ' s necessary t o supplement --

18 MR. BROOKS: I ' d appreciate t h a t . 

19 MR. DUFFEY: We do show the t r a c t s . 

2 0 MR. BROOKS: Okay, good. That's f i n e . That's 

21 what I l i k e t o see. And everybody got notice d , you've got 

22 green cards f o r --

23 MR. LAKINS: The green cards are i n the record. 

24 MR. BROOKS: Okay. I'm through. 

25 MR. LAKINS: That concludes our case. 
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MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, at t h i s 

2 time we c a l l Louis Mazzullo. 

3 LOUIS MAZZULLO, 

4 the witness herein, a f t e r f i r s t being duly sworn 

5 upon h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

6 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

7 BY MR. CARR: 

8 Q. Would you s t a t e your f u l l name f o r the record, 

9 please? 

10 A. Louis James Mazzullo. 

11 Q. Spel l your l a s t name. 

12 A. M-a-z-z-u-l-l-o. 

13 Q- Where do you reside? 

14 A. Golden, Colorado. 

15 Q. By whom are you employed? 

16 A. I am a self-employed petroleum g e o l o g i c a l 

17 consult ant. 

18 Q. What i s your cu r r e n t r e l a t i o n s h i p w i t h V-F 

19 Petroleum. 

20 A. V-F i s a c l i e n t and has been f o r a number of 

21 years. 

22 Q - Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the New 

23 Mexico O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n ? 

24 A. Yes, I have. 

25 Q. At t h a t time, were your c r e d e n t i a l s as an expert 
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1 petroleum g e o l o g i s t excepted and made a matter of record? 

2 A. Yes, they were. 

3 Q. Have you t e s t i f i e d before Mr. Jones and 

4 Mr. Brooks? 

5 A. Before Mr. Brooks but never before Mr. Jones. 

6 Q. Would you review your educational background? 

7 A. I have a bachelor's degree i n geology from C i t y 

8 U n i v e r s i t y i n New York, and a master's degree i n 

9 geophysical sciences from the U n i v e r s i t y of Chicago. 

10 Q. You would summarize your work experience? 

11 A. I have over 34 years of subsurface g e o l o g i c a l 

12 experience i n e x p l o r a t i o n f o r sedimentary type of deposits 

13 s t a r t i n g out w i t h uranium, but s h o r t l y t h e r e a f t e r g e t t i n g 

14 i n t o the o i l and gas -- i n t o the petroleum i n d u s t r y where 

15 I've been since 1981. 

16 Q. Do you have experience i n southeast New Mexico? 

17 A. I have considerable experience i n southeastern 

18 New Mexico. I've been working i n southeastern New Mexico 

19 since 1981. 

20 Q. Do you have experience w i t h the Permo-Penn 

21 formation i n the area t h a t i s of i n t e r e s t i n t h i s case? 

22 A. I have been working i n the Shoebar area w i t h 

23 Timber Sharp D r i l l i n g , w i t h Fuel Products, and then V-F 

24 Petroleum since 1996. 

25 Q. Have you published a r t i c l e s on these formations? 
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1 A. I have published numerous a r t i c l e s on the 

2 Permo-Penn d e p o s i t i o n a l systems i n southeastern New 

3 Mexico. 

4 Q. Are you a c e r t i f i e d petroleum geologist? 

5 A. I'm a c e r t i f i e d petroleum g e o l o g i s t w i t h the 

6 American A s s o c i a t i o n of Petroleum Geologists. 

7 Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the a p p l i c a t i o n f i l e d i n 

8 t h i s case on behalf of Gandy Corporation? 

9 A. Yes, I am. 

10 Q. Have you made a g e o l o g i c a l study of the area 

11 t h a t i s the subject of the a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

12 A. Yes, f o r the past 12 years or so. 

13 Q. Did t h a t study include a review of the mudlogs 

14 on the proposed i n j e c t i o n w e l l and the o f f s e t t i n g V-F 

15 Petroleum wells? 

16 A. Yes, I d i d . 

17 Q. And are you prepared t o share the r e s u l t s of 

18 your work w i t h the Examiners? 

19 A. Yes. 

2 0 MR. CARR: We tender Mr. Mazzullo as an expert 

21 i n petroleum geology. 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Any questions? 

23 MR. DOMENICI: Could I ask a question? 

24 HEARING EXAMINER: Sure. 

25 MR. DOMENICI: You said you're f a m i l i a r w i t h the 
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1 V-F mudlogs? 

2 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

3 MR. DOMENICI: What are those? What wells? 

4 THE WITNESS: The Blue Fin 24 1 and the 

5 Blue Fin 25 1. 

6 MR. DOMENICI: And were you inv o l v e d i n those 

7 other than reviewing the logs a f t e r the fact? 

8 THE WITNESS: I was the one t h a t caused them t o 

9 be d r i l l e d as w e l l s . 

10 MR. DOMENICI: And you've been involved since 

11 the d r i l l i n g ? 

12 THE WITNESS: Yes. I am also an i n t e r e s t owner 

13 i n these w e l l s as w e l l . 

14 MR. DOMENICI: No o b j e c t i o n . 

15 HEARING EXAMINER: Mr. Mazzullo i s q u a l i f i e d as 

16 an expert i n petroleum geology. 

17 Q. Mr. Mazzullo, would you b r i e f l y summarize f o r 

18 the Examiners what i t i s t h a t V-F Petroleum seeks i n t h i s 

19 case? 

20 A. V-F Petroleum simply seeks the i n j e c t i o n 

21 scenario proposed by Gandy t o be l i m i t e d t o the Abo 

22 formation, and we f e e l t h a t i n c l u d i n g the Permo-Penn would 

23 v i o l a t e V-F's and t h e i r i n t e r e s t owners' c o r r e l a t i v e 

24 r i g h t s t o the Permo-Penn which we f e e l can be productive 

25 i n t h i s area. 
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1 Q. Do you have an opinio n as t o the size of the 

2 i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l being proposed? 

3 A. To my way of t h i n k i n g , I am not a petroleum 

4 engineer, i t ' s a very long i n t e r v a l t h a t includes the Abo 

5 formation, which previous testimony has shown t o be 

6 p e r f e c t l y capable of accepting the types of volumes of 

7 water t h a t they're seeking t o i n j e c t . 

8 And my opinio n i s t h a t the Permo-Penn should not 

9 be included because i t would impair V-F's r i g h t s t o 

10 produce from what we f e e l may be productive horizons. 

11 Q. I n the Wolf Camp? 

12 A. I n the Wolf Camp and the Cisco. 

13 Q. And t h a t ' s a l l i n the Upper Penn? 

14 A. That's a l l i n the Upper Penn. 

15 Q. Have you prepared e x h i b i t s f o r presentation? 

16 A. Yes, I have. 

17 Q. Would you t u r n t o the one t h a t has been marked 

18 f o r i d e n t i f i c a t i o n as V-F Petroleum E x h i b i t No. 1 and 

19 i d e n t i f y the e x h i b i t and then review the i n f o r m a t i o n on 

2 0 the e x h i b i t f o r the Examiners. 

21 A. We have a 3-D seismic survey over t h i s area 

22 which I have been u t i l i z i n g f o r the past 12 or so years t o 

23 determine new d r i l l i n g l o c a t i o n s and o f f s e t l o c a t i o n s t o 

24 our e x i s t i n g production. 

2 5 And when I say "our," because I've been involved 
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1 i n t h i s area f o r q u i t e a long time and I am an i n t e r e s t 

2 owner. 

3 And we were using t h i s t o i d e n t i f y o f f s e t 

4 l o c a t i o n s t o e x i s t i n g Permo-Penn production t h a t V-F 

5 operates, t h a t being the Eidson 23 1 and the Eidson 26 1, 

6 which were i d e n t i f i e d on Gandy's E x h i b i t 11, as not 

7 productive from the Permo-Penn, but those are Permo-Penn 

8 w e l l s . 

9 And i n the course of studying t h i s e n t i r e area, 

10 t h a t ' s one of our primary o b j e c t i v e horizons i n a d d i t i o n 

11 t o the Chester and the Atoka. 

12 Q. When we look at t h i s e x h i b i t , would you j u s t 

13 t e l l us what i s shown by the seismic l i n e i n the upper 

14 l e f t - h a n d corner of the e x h i b i t ? 

15 A. Okay. I n the upper l e f t - h a n d corner of the 

16 e x h i b i t i s a seismic record s e c t i o n t h a t goes n o r t h t o 

17 south through the Blue Fin 24, the Blue Fin 25, and the 

18 Albacore 25 No. 1. 

19 On the upper r i g h t , y o u ' l l see a Cisco timed 

20 s t r u c t u r e map t h a t was generated from the 3-D seismic 

21 survey. I t does show a trough going through t h a t c o r r i d o r 

22 as Mr. Smith has i n d i c a t e d as shown on the Wolf Camp. 

23 There's no disagreement t o t h a t . 

24 But the seismic l i n e shows a couple of features 

25 i n the Cisco Canyon section, which i s p a r t of the 
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1 Permo-Penn t h a t we're t a l k i n g about here, t h a t i n d i c a t e 

2 the development of mound-type s t r u c t u r e s t h a t are very 

3 t y p i c a l l y formed i n these environments i n t h i s area. 

4 They're not only formed on i n the Eidson 23 and 

5 26 1, but you also f i n d them i n the deeper p a r t s of the 

6 basin t o the south of us i n several d i f f e r e n t w e l l s and 

7 several d i f f e r e n t f i e l d s . 

8 The seismic l i n e shows an orange bar. That 

9 orange bar i s the i n t e r v a l over which Gandy i s proposing 

10 t o i n j e c t water, p r i m a r i l y i n the Lower Wolf Camp, the 

11 Cisco, and -- i n the Lower Wolf Camp of t h a t s e c t i o n , and 

12 they d i d have some t e s t s i n the canyon p a r t of the se c t i o n 

13 as w e l l . 

14 But what we are l o o k i n g f o r on seismic l i n e s 

15 l i k e t h i s i s evidence of the accumulation of these 

16 deposits which are b a s i c a l l y carbonate mounds t h a t form as 

17 a se r i e s of shingles, you might say. 

18 And they can be found i n the deeper p a r t s of the 

19 basin as w e l l as up on the s t r u c t u r e s . They're not 

20 confined t o s t r u c t u r e s . We f i n d them i n deeper p a r t s of 

21 the basin. 

22 We f i n d them o f f s t r u c t u r e , on s t r u c t u r e , 

23 because t h e y ' r e l a r g e l y s t r a t i g r a p h i c f e a t u r e s , t h e y ' r e 

24 not s t r u c t u r a l l y - - t h e y ' r e not neces sa r i l y s t r u c t u r a l l y 

25 i n f l u e n c e d except f o r , you know, es tabl ishment of o i l , 
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1 water columns, and s t u f f l i k e t h a t . 

2 But there i s evidence on the seismic l i n e from 

3 my experience i n other areas, and I've worked areas l i k e 

4 the Dagger Draw F i e l d , and I've worked -- I developed a 

5 Cisco Canyon f i e l d up i n Eddy County where you see the 

6 s i m i l a r type of response on seismic t h a t i n d i c a t e s these 

7 small scale mound developments. 

8 And they can come anywhere i n the s e c t i o n . I 

9 t h i n k i t was a l l u d e d t o i n Mr. Smith's testimony t h a t , you 

10 know, you have some t h a t go a c e r t a i n distance and pinch 

11 out, and others t h a t develop. 

12 And t h a t ' s the nature of the Cisco Canyon. You 

13 have a l o t of d i f f e r e n t u n i t s t h a t are p i l e d up on top of 

14 one another and you don't r e a l l y know -- you r e a l l y can't 

15 t e l l from simple c o r r e l a t i o n i f one zone i s i n f a c t 

16 e x a c t l y c o r r e l a t i v e t o another one j u s t because they look 

17 s i m i l a r on l o g responses. 

18 You r e a l l y have t o look at a l o t more 
19 i n f o r m a t i o n , i n c l u d i n g p a l e o n t o l o g i c a l i n f o r m a t i o n , which 

20 I do b e l i e v e i n . 

21 P a l e o n t o l o g i c a l i n f o r m a t i o n has proven t o be 

22 very valuable i n the discernment of these d i f f e r e n t 

23 r e s e r v o i r groups i n the Permo-Penn, and the seismic data 

24 helps us define at l e a s t the low order c y c l i c i t y of these 

25 mound sequences. And t h a t ' s what I t h i n k I'm seeing on 
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1 t h i s seismic s e c t i o n --

2 Q. So you've got the north/south section? 

3 A. Right. 

4 Q. And what we see i n the Cisco i s a fe a t u r e t h a t 

5 might be what Mr. Smith would c a l l a t h i c k zone w i t h a 

6 feathered edge? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. Okay. Now, i f we go t o the seismic s e c t i o n i n 

9 the lower r i g h t , what does t h a t show? 

10 A. I n the west t o east s e c t i o n , yes. 

11 Q. The west t o east s e c t i o n . 

12 A. Right. This i s a s e c t i o n t h a t ' s b a s i c a l l y 

13 coming up from the high area down i n t o the trough, and 

14 then back up onto another high area t o the east. 

15 And i t too i s showing -- the green shading and 

16 the purple shading t h a t I show i n the Cisco and the Lower 

17 Wolf Camp, r e s p e c t i v e l y , are responses, are amplitude 

18 responses t h a t are f a i r l y t y p i c a l of e i t h e r mound 

19 development, or i n the case of the Cisco, mound 

20 development w i t h f r a c t u r i n g . 

21 Which could be very s i g n i f i c a n t , because those 

22 f r a c t u r e s could go through several d i f f e r e n t mound u n i t s 

23 t h a t are v e r t i c a l l y stacked on top of one another. 

24 And again, the orange bar on t h a t i s the 

25 i n t e r v a l t h a t they've t e s t e d through the production t e s t s 
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1 and i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t s t h a t they ran. 

2 Q. And i f you're able t o t i e i n t o one of these 

3 t h i c k zones w i t h a feathered edge and get the water out of 

4 i t , you can have a very --

5 A. Yes. Very commonly, very t y p i c a l l y , the f i r s t 

6 t h i n g you u s u a l l y get out of these -- and t h i s comes from 

7 being i n v o l v e d i n the d r i l l i n g of a l o t of these types of 

8 t h i n g s , i s water. And a l o t of water. Sometimes -- and I 

9 t h i n k Mr. B e a l l w i l l t a l k about -- elaborate on t h i s , a 

10 l o t of times you can s i t on t h a t f o r weeks -- a couple of 

11 weeks, at l e a s t , before the hydrocarbons break through the 

12 i n i t i a l water production t h a t you get out of the zones. 

13 Q. I f you only swab those w e l l s f o r two or three 

14 days, when you q u i t , they would s t i l l look wet? 

15 A. Yeah, they might s t i l l look wet. But i f you 

16 stay on them -- and we've got experience i n t h a t too, 

17 and -- For example, the Eidson 23 1, I bel i e v e we 

18 swabbed -- we, Timber Sharp D r i l l i n g , swabbed on t h a t f o r 

19 at l e a s t 18 days before we got commercial production out 

20 of t h a t Lower Wolf Camp zone t h a t i t produces out of . 

21 Q. I s there anything else you want t o show w i t h 

22 E x h i b i t 1? 

23 A. No. 

24 Q. Let's go t o your E x h i b i t No. 2. 

25 A. E x h i b i t No. 2 i s a s t r u c t u r a l cross-section t h a t 
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1 b a s i c a l l y f o l l o w s t h a t north/south seismic s e c t i o n from 

2 the previous e x h i b i t . And I recognized e a r l y t h i s morning 

3 t h a t you probably couldn't read the depths on here, so I'm 

4 going t o give you a couple depths t o o r i e n t you where we 

5 are i n the s e c t i o n . 

6 I n the Chesapeake Albacore 25 No. 1, the top of 

7 the Lower Wolf Camp, the black upper horizon i s at 10,467. 

8 And below t h a t , y o u ' l l see the two zones t h a t Primero has 

9 t e s t e d and swabbed on i t f o r three days and recovered 

10 water i n t h a t time p e r i o d . 

11 The top of the --my top of the Cisco -- and, 

12 you know, t h i s i s -- top of the Cisco i s subject t o 

13 i n t e r p r e t a t i o n by d i f f e r e n t g e o l o g i s t s , but my top of 

14 Cisco i s at 10,974. And the top of the canyon marker, 

15 which i s the b l ue horizon, i s at 11,275. That's not the 

16 Atoka, t h a t ' s the canyon sand. The Atoka i s much f a r t h e r 

17 down i n the s e c t i o n . 

18 What t h i s cross-section shows i n the c o l o r 

19 shading t h a t I'm showing, the c o l o r shading yellow or 

20 green i s e i t h e r p o r o s i t y and/or p o r o s i t y w i t h mudlog 

21 shows. Mudlog shows being e i t h e r gas kicks and/or sample 

22 shows. 

23 So as you can see from l o o k i n g a t , f o r example, 

24 the two Timber Sharp w e l l s , you see q u i t e a b i t of green, 

25 which are what we would consider mudlog shows i n our 
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1 experience. Because you're d r i l l i n g through t h i s 

2 b a s i c a l l y w i t h cut b r i n e . And you don't always get the 

3 best l o o k i n g shows out of best zone, out of u l t i m a t e l y 

4 best producing zones. 

5 And as you see, we have q u i t e a b i t of p o r o s i t y 

6 and show p o t e n t i a l w i t h i n the Blue Fin 24 and 25 No. 1, 

7 and even more so i n the Chesapeake Albacore w e l l . There 

8 are a number of zones i n the Chesapeake Albacore w e l l t h a t 

9 I would have t e s t e d . P a r t i c u l a r l y , ones t h a t weren't 

10 t e s t e d by the Primero program. 

11 But t h a t would have been -- you know, t h a t ' s our 

12 c a l l , t h a t ' s what we would have normally done i n t h i s 

13 area. 

14 The other t h i n g t h a t t h i s cross-section shows, 

15 and most s i g n i f i c a n t l y , i s a d r i l l stem t e s t t h a t we ran 

16 i n the Blue Fin 24 No. 1 down i n the canyon. 

17 And as you can read, i t recovered 279,000 MCF of 

18 gas a day, gas t o surface i n s i x minutes on the d r i l l stem 

19 t e s t , 3,300 f e e t of f r e e o i l and gas, and sample chamber 

20 recovered gas and o i l w i t h no water. And t h a t ' s below 

21 most of the zones t h a t were t e s t e d -- supposedly t e s t e d 

22 wet i n the Albacore w e l l . 

23 On t h a t basis alone, we look at the shows t h a t 

24 accompany t h a t d r i l l stem t e s t and we look at some of the 

25 other shows above i t , and we conclude t h a t we are going t o 
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1 be t e s t i n g those zones, i f not d r i l l i n g w e l l s , sometime i n 

2 the f u t u r e f o r the Permo-Penn i t s e l f because of the nature 

3 of the shows and the nature of the development of these 

4 mounds. 

5 And we're not going t o go i n t o great s c i e n t i f i c 

6 d e t a i l . These mounds are there because sea l e v e l might 

7 have dropped at some p o i n t i n time, and even though t h i s 

8 was a low area, sea l e v e l dropped t o the extent where 

9 these mounds were able t o d r i v e . 

10 And as sea l e v e l rose and f e l l i n succession, 

11 you get these mounds s h i f t i n g back and f o r t h . And t h a t ' s 

12 what I t h i n k you see r e f l e c t e d i n the yellow and green 

13 p a t t e r n s on t h i s cross-section. 

14 Q. I f you go t o the l o g on the Albacore. 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. And we have i n the center of these l o g columns 

17 i n black the areas t h a t have been tested? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. And we go t o the lowermost, the one t h a t was 

2 0 reported by Gandy as being i n the Atoka? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 Q. I s t h a t co r rec t? 

23 A. No, t h a t ' s not the Atoka, t h a t ' s the canyon 

24 sand. The Atoka i s severa l hundred f e e t down below where 

25 you see - - i t ' s below the Strawn. The Strawn carbonate i s 
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1 a very d i s t i n c t i v e and very c o r r e l a t i v e marker, and r i g h t 

2 below t h a t i s the Atoka. 

3 Q. Okay. I s t h a t i n t e r v a l i n the Upper Penn t h a t 

4 you show? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And i f I look at t h i s l o g , i s immediately below 

7 an area where you see mud shows and po r o s i t y ? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. I n t h a t s i t u a t i o n alone, would you not be 

10 concerned t h a t i n j e c t i n g i n t o t h a t zone could damage 

11 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s ? 

12 A. Absolutely. 

13 Q. You i n d i c a t e d a few minutes ago you've been 

14 involved w i t h the development of Dagger Draw. 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. What formation was t h a t in? 

17 A. The Lower Penn. 

18 Q. Were you inv o l v e d w i t h the d r i l l i n g of the 

19 i n i t i a l w e l l --

2 0 A. No, I was not involved i n the d r i l l i n g of the 

21 discovery w e l l , but an i n t e r e s t i n g facet of the discovery, 

22 t h i s i s a f i e l d t h a t now has over 480 w e l l s i n i t . 

23 And the discovery w e l l was d r i l l e d o r i g i n a l l y as 

24 a dry hole i n 1961, I be l i e v e . The dry hole t e s t e d wet on 

25 a d r i l l stem t e s t w i t h a s l i g h t show of o i l . No where 
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1 near as good as the show we had i n the 24 1. 

2 And i t was reentered about fo u r years l a t e r and 

3 kicked o f f a Dagger Draw f i e l d i n the Cisco Canyon, which 

4 i s p a r t of the Permo-Penn sequence we're seeing here as 

5 w e l l . 

6 So, the f a c t t h a t you get water production out 

7 of the Cisco Canyon or Lower Wolf Camp zone i s not 

8 n e c e s s a r i l y condemning of the p o t e n t i a l of t h a t formation 

9 t o produce economic hydrocarbons. And Mr. B e a l l w i l l 

10 elaborate on t h a t a l i t t l e b i t more during h i s testimony. 

11 But i t ' s not something t h a t I would walk away 

12 from j u s t because we had a show of water. Because my 

13 experience w i t h Dagger Draw and because of my experience 

14 w i t h other Cisco Canyon f i e l d s t h a t I helped t o develop i n 

15 Eddy County as w e l l . 

16 Q. I f we look at the Blue Fin 24 and we look at the 

17 d r i l l stem t e s t i n t h a t w e l l , t h a t r e a l l y t e l l s the whole 

18 s t o r y , does i t not? 

19 A. Well, what i t t e l l s me, despite the f a c t t h a t 

20 you don't have good sample shows, you have a good gas 

21 k i c k . I f you -- I know the mudlogs are a l i t t l e hard t o 

22 read because they're small, but there i s a b i g gas k i c k 

23 through t h a t i n t e r v a l t h a t was tes t e d . 

24 Samples shows d i d n ' t show very much because 

25 we're d r i l l i n g w i t h cut b r i n e , p r e t t y -- you know, not 
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1 t e r r i b l y overbalanced, but w i t h cut b r i n e . And i f you 

2 have any porous carbonates, i f you have f r a c t u r e s i n the 

3 carbonates, or i f you have a well-developed p o r o s i t y 

4 system, a l o t of t h a t show i s going t o be flushed back 

5 i n t o the formation. You're not going t o see i t on a 

6 mudlog. 

7 And I've seen t h i s I don't know how many 

8 hundreds of times i n my l i f e t i m e s i t t i n g w e l l s and logging 

9 w e l l s and loo k i n g at samples. Some of the most -- some of 

10 the best shows may not produce anything, but some of the 

11 worst shows might. I t j u s t depends upon the type of 

12 p o r o s i t y system you have, the extent of f r a c t u r i n g , a 

13 whole number of d i f f e r e n t aspects. What type of d r i l l i n g 

14 f l u i d was used, how much invasion, et cetera, et cetera. 

15 Q. And the d r i l l stem t e s t s and the data obtained 

16 from t h a t d r i l l stem t e s t i s from a zone t h a t had no o i l 

17 shown? 

18 A. That's r i g h t . 

19 Q. Now, l e t ' s go t o E x h i b i t No. 3. Would you 

20 i d e n t i f y and review that? 

21 A. I apologize f o r the fuzziness of t h i s e x h i b i t , 

22 but t h a t ' s the way i t came out on the map. This i s a 

23 s e c t i o n of the Lower Wolf Camp t h a t i s the producing zone 

24 i n the Eidson 23 No. 1. I t should say V-F Petroleum 

25 because they now operate t h i s w e l l . 
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1 The Eidson 23 No. 1, when we o r i g i n a l l y d r i l l 

2 stem t e s t e d what was t o become the producing zone, i t 

3 t e s t e d gas t o surface i n 25 minutes at a much lower r a t e , 

4 c a l c u l a t e d 24 hour r a t e and than t h i s show was i n the Blue 

5 Fin 24 No. 1, and i t a c t u a l l y t e s t e d -- i t reversed out 

6 heavy o i l and gas cut and mud w i t h no f r e e o i l . 

7 We had a show i n t h a t one, a gas k i c k i n t h a t 

8 one, not much of a sample show, and i f you look at the 

9 r e s i s t i v i t y l o g , which i s the l e f t side of the l o g , i t 

10 almost looks l i k e i t ' s going south, i t ' s going wet. 

11 But again, the r e s i s t i v i t y response i n a 

12 carbonate i s e n t i r e l y dependant upon the i n t e r a c t i o n 

13 between the types of p o r o s i t y and the types of f l u i d i n 

14 t h a t f i e l d of p o r o s i t y . 

15 And seeing a low r e s i s t i v i t y i n the range of 20 

16 t o 50 or 100 oms i s not ne c e s s a r i l y a condemning f a c t o r . 

17 I f we had thought so, we would never have p e r f o r a t e d t h a t 

18 zone and gotten 233 b a r r e l s of o i l a day out of i t . 

19 So here i s a case where i f you were t o bel i e v e 

2 0 the shows and the DST, you might not be tempted t o produce 

21 the w e l l , i f you were t o believe t h a t three days of 

22 t e s t i n g and recovering only water i s condemning your 

23 r e s e r v o i r , t h a t too can lead you down the wrong path. You 

24 have t o be able t o assess every zone on i t s own meri t and 

25 look at them i n d i v i d u a l l y because they're a l l going t o be 
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1 a l i t t l e b i t d i f f e r e n t . 

2 Q. Did you swab water out of t h i s well? 

3 A. I be l i e v e t h i s w e l l was swabbed on f o r at l e a s t 

4 18 days. I t produced a l o t of water before i t f i n a l l y 

5 kicked o f f . And Mr. B e a l l w i l l t e l l you about another 

6 instance of the same type i n another w e l l i n t h i s area. 

7 But t h a t ' s p r e t t y t y p i c a l . I've seen t h a t time 

8 and time again over the l a s t 28 years, p a r t i c u l a r l y i n the 

9 Dagger Draw area, and p a r t i c u l a r l y i n areas where you j u s t 

10 have those i n d i v i d u a l carbonate mound u n i t s t h a t seem t o 

11 d r i n k up a l o t of f l u i d . 

12 They d r i n k up a l o t of f l u i d because they've got 

13 very well-connected p o r o s i t y systems f o r one reason o r 

14 another, e i t h e r because they've been -- they're very muddy 

15 or they've been f r a c t u r e communicated. 

16 Q. What conclusions have you reached from your 

17 g e o l o g i c a l study? 

18 A. From a g e o l o g i c a l study, we had already 

19 determined before t h i s issue ever came up t h a t we were 

20 going t o t e s t the Permo-Penn i n t h i s area. 

21 And my conclusion i s t h a t we r i s k the chance 

22 t h a t i n j e c t i o n of water i n t o the Permo-Penn system here 

23 w i l l r i s k the reserves t h a t we might otherwise be able t o 

24 produce on our acreage, on V-F's acreage. 

25 Q. Can t h i s i n j e c t i o n cause the waste of 
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1 hydrocarbons? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. W i l l i t impair the c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s of V-F 

4 Petroleum? 

5 A. Yes, i t w i l l . 

6 Q. Do you recommend t h a t the i n j e c t i o n 

7 a u t h o r i z a t i o n , i f granted at a l l i n t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n , be 

8 confined t o the Abo? 

9 A. Yes. I t h i n k i t ' s already been proven t h a t the 

10 Abo i s capable of accepting the amounts of volume t h a t 

11 they're seeking t o i n j e c t . 

12 Q. Were E x h i b i t s 1 through 3 prepared by you or 

13 compiled under your d i r e c t i o n ? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 MR. CARR: I move the admission of V-F Petroleum 

16 E x h i b i t s 1 through 3. 

17 HEARING EXAMINER: Any objection? 

18 MR. DOMENICI: No o b j e c t i o n . Let me withdraw 

19 t h a t as f a r as the o b j e c t i o n . What I would l i k e i s the 

2 0 f u l l logs of these, summarized of -- one, two, three, 

21 four, f i v e , s i x logs. And I t h i n k i t ' s appropriate t h a t 

22 we have those f u l l logs. 

2 3 MR. CARR: Mr. Domenici could get anything he 

24 wants by subpoena or he could ask us, but t h i s e x h i b i t i s 

25 a cross-section of l o g sections. 
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1 MR. DOMENICI: I t ' s not t o a scale t h a t ' s 

2 useable or readable, so i t ' s not the best evidence of 

3 these logs. The logs would be the best evidence. 

4 MR. BROOKS: Well, aren't these logs on f i l e 

5 w i t h the New Mexico O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n ? 

6 MR. DOMENICI: Yes, s i r , there are. 

7 MR. BROOKS: Okay. I ' l l o v e r r u l e the o b j e c t i o n . 

8 MR. DOMENICI: I ' l l withdraw t h a t o b j e c t i o n . 

9 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay, w e ' l l admit E x h i b i t s 1, 

10 2 and 3. 

11 MR. CARR: And t h a t concludes my d i r e c t of Mr. 

12 Mazzullo. 

13 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

14 BY MR. DOMENICI: 

15 Q. Mr. Mazzullo, l e t ' s f i r s t s t a r t w i t h your 

16 statement about the Abo. And I t r i e d t o w r i t e i t down, 

17 but I'm going t o ask you t o r e s t a t e i t since you said i t 

18 twice. You s t a r t e d your testimony w i t h i t , and then you 

19 ended w i t h i t . 

20 So w i l l you r e s t a t e again your opinion as t o 

21 t h a t -- I t h i n k i t ' s something l i k e , " I t ' s been w e l l 

22 es t a b l i s h e d t h a t the Abo can take the volumes of water i n 

23 t h i s permit." 

24 A. W e l l , c o r r e c t me i f I ' m wrong, but I thought I 

25 heard t h i s morning f rom at l e a s t two of your witnesses 
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1 t h a t the Abo i s capable of accepting f o u r or four and a 

2 h a l f b a r r e l s an hour -- a minute, r a t h e r , which i s 5,500 

3 or 5,700 b a r r e l s of water a day. Or d i d I get t h a t wrong? 

4 Q. You got t h a t wrong. 

5 MR. SMITH: You got t h a t wrong. 

6 A. I got t h a t wrong? What were you t r y i n g --

7 MR. SMITH: That was i n co n j u n c t i o n w i t h the 

8 Upper Wolf Camp zone. 

9 A. A l l r i g h t . Then I was confused by the 

10 testimony. 

11 Q. Okay. But I want t o go back t o t h a t then. 

12 A. Okay. 

13 Q. Because I t h i n k you d i d s t a t e t h a t i t ' s been 

14 w e l l e s t a b l i s h e d t h a t the Abo could take the volumes 

15 proposed i n t h i s permit. I j u s t want t o see what you were 

16 r e l y i n g on when you made t h a t statement. I t may have been 

17 i n c o r r e c t , but what were you r e l y i n g on? 

18 A. I was r e l y i n g on the previous testimony. 

19 Q. Okay, nothing else, no independent study of your 

2 0 own, t h a t ' s what I'm t r y i n g t o f i n d out. 

21 A. Independent study on my own? Only i n s o f a r as I 

22 know the Abo t o be capable of producing hydrocarbons and 

23 water i n large volumes -- or i n large t o moderate volumes. 

24 But other than t h a t , no, i t was dependent on the previous 

25 testimony. 
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1 Q. Okay. And you weren't r e l y i n g on any data i n 

2 here, any p e r f o r a t i o n experience, or anything l i k e that? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. And i f you misheard t h a t testimony, then your 

5 testimony would need t o be changed, correct? 

6 A. I don't know, because I'm not sure -- I'm not 

7 sure i f I understand t h a t the Abo -- what the Abo i s 

8 capable of accepting. 

9 I t h i n k the question was asked t h i s morning, 

10 "Where i s the water going t o go?" And my understanding 

11 was t h a t you weren't too sure. I t wasn't r e a l l y brought 

12 out t o me where you thought -- you know, t h i s water volume 

13 was going. 

14 Q. I agree, but your testimony i s t h a t i t ' s w e l l 

15 established, and --

16 A. Well e s t a b l i s h e d -- I ' l l say t h a t i t ' s 

17 apparently -- i t was apparent t o me -- or i t was i n f e r r e d 

18 by the previous testimony t h a t t h a t ' s the case. 
19 Q. Okay. I s n ' t i t t r u e what the previous testimony 

20 i n d i c a t e d was t h a t the f i r s t t e s t was of two zone --

21 p e r f o r a t i o n s i n two zones, the Abo and what we've c a l l e d 

22 the number two zone, which i s a c t u a l l y the higher zone i n 

23 what's been c a l l e d the Wolf Camp, and then t h a t was the 

24 data t h a t showed fo u r b a r r e l s per minute? 

25 A. Uh-huh. 
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1 Q. And so you can't i n f e r r e a l l y anything about the 

2 Abo o f f t h a t , r i g h t ? 

3 A. I don't know, because I was not under the 

4 understanding t h a t t h a t was the zone t h a t was accepting 

5 the fou r and a h a l f b a r r e l s a minute. I t was not c l e a r t o 

6 me -- and I don't know i f i t was c l e a r t o the r e s t of my 

7 p a r t y , but i t wasn't c l e a r t o me t h a t t h a t , i n f a c t , was 

8 the case. 

9 Q. Okay. Well, l e t me ask you, you've been made an 

10 expert so you can make assumptions. Let me ask a somewhat 

11 -- you assume someone's going t o stand up and c l a r i f y t h a t 

12 and say t h a t i t went i n t o two p e r f o r a t e d areas and there 

13 was no t e s t done t o d i s t i n g u i s h where t h a t water went w i t h 

14 respect t o e i t h e r of those p e r f o r a t e d areas. 

15 A. Right. 

16 Q. I f you assume t h a t , then i n f a c t , you can't 

17 i n f e r anything about what the Abo --

18 A. Perhaps not, but I could also i n f e r t h a t 

19 i n j e c t i n g four and a h a l f -- i f you're saying t h a t four 

20 and a h a l f b a r r e l s a minute w i l l go i n t o the Wolf Camp or 

21 the Permo-Penn zone, then i t ' s a v i o l a t i o n t o our 

22 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s i n my experience and i n my mind t h a t 

23 t h a t i s -- you know, t h a t ' s going t o impair our 

24 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s t o the Permo-Penn preserves 

25 i r r e s p e c t i v e of where you might be able t o i n j e c t whatever 
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1 water you want t o i n j e c t . 

2 We don't want the water i n j e c t e d i n t o the 

3 Permo-Penn because we f e e l t h a t there are recoverable 

4 reserves t h a t are i n jeopardy by t h a t a c t i o n . 

5 Q. Okay, I was c l e a r on t h a t , but what I was t r y i n g 

6 t o do was make i t c l e a r t h a t w i t h t h i s c l a r i f i c a t i o n , you 

7 are not t e s t i f y i n g t h a t the 7Abo -- t h a t i t i s w e l l 

8 e s t a b l i s h e d t h a t the Abo can take a l l t h a t water, correct? 

9 A. I guess not. I guess I can't make t h a t 

10 assumption i f t h a t ' s -- i f you are sure t h a t t h a t ' s where 

11 a l l the water i s going t o . 

12 Q. Okay. What I am saying the testimony i s going 

13 t o say, there was a t e s t of two p e r f o r a t e d zones, not t h a t 

14 I'm sure i t ' s going t o the Wolf Camp or t o the Abo, but 

15 I'm saying you can't say i t ' s w e l l e s t a b l i s h e d t h a t the 

16 Abo can take a l l t h a t water, correct? 

17 A. Correct. 

18 Q. Okay. So t h a t p a r t of your testimony, i f i n 

19 f a c t , what I'm asking you t o assume, t h a t p a r t of your 

20 testimony r e a l l y i s not p a r t of t h i s hearing, i s r e a l l y 

21 not something you are prepared t o present t o the Hearing 

22 O f f i c e r ? 

23 A. Oh, I can't a t t e s t t o i t unless i t ' s made c l e a r 

24 t o me from the r e s u l t s of your t e s t i n g t h a t t h a t , i n f a c t , 

25 i s the case. 
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1 Q. Okay. So then l e t ' s move on t o the next 

2 issue -

3 A. Let' s move on. 

4 Q. -- which i s -- I j u s t want t o c l a r i f y t h i s , 

5 you're not presenting any testimony, and you're not 

6 planning -- you don't have any opinions t h a t t h i s w e l l 

7 would a f f e c t f r e s h water, adversely impact f r e s h water, 

8 you d i d n ' t t e s t i f y t o t h a t and you don't have any opinions 

9 on t h a t , r i g h t ? 

10 A. I don't have any op i n i o n on t h a t . That i s not 

11 the issue t h a t worries us. 

12 Q. Okay. So then your issue, as I understand i t , 

13 i s c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s and waste? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. Okay. And what, as I understand, you've 

16 presented are three e x h i b i t s t h a t have various types of 

17 i n f o r m a t i o n on them. What i s d i f f i c u l t f o r me t o t e l l on 

18 your -- l e t me use t h i s document which i s your E x h i b i t No. 

19 2 -- i s the distance from each of these w e l l s t o each 

2 0 other. 

21 A. Uh-huh. 

22 Q. I s t h a t on here anywhere? 

23 A. Yes. There 's an index map i n the lower, l e f t -

24 hand corner t h a t shows where the w e l l s - - This 

25 c r o s s - s e c t i o n runs f rom n o r t h t o south t o the w e l l s shown 
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1 on t h a t c r o s s - s e c t i o n . 

2 Q. Okay. 

3 A. So they're almost e q u a l l y spaced apart. 

4 Q. Okay. So as I understand, t h a t gives a r e l a t i v e 

5 distance --

6 A. Right. 

7 Q. Does t h a t give an a c t u a l distance? 

8 A. Well, i f you were t o measure i t o f f , I ' d say 

9 t h a t they're a l l w i t h i n about a h a l f mile of each other 

10 from n o r t h -- the f i r s t f o ur w e l l s , and then between the 

11 Blue Fin 25 and the Albacore, t h a t ' s something l i k e 2,3 0.0 

12 f e e t maybe, 2,3 00 f e e t apart, a s i m i l a r distance t o the 

13 w e l l i n Section 26. 

14 Q. So what I was t r y i n g t o do -- I t h i n k we could 

15 a c t u a l l y do t h i s , i s draw the purple l i n e on E x h i b i t 11. 

16 A. Uh-huh. 

17 Q. And I want t o be sure I understand which Blue 

18 Fin we're t a l k i n g about as the same as the top one on 

19 your --

20 A. Yeah. Section 24 on the northwest corner of 24 

21 i s one t h a t can you ba r e l y read. I t says McPhearson. 

22 I t ' s been renamed. Y o u ' l l see i t has a d i f f e r e n t name on 

23 my cross-section. But i t ' s been renamed JD&B No. 1 on my 

24 cross-section. 

25 Q. Can you c i r c l e that? 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. And maybe draw a l i n e o f f there an put a number 

3 " 1 " on t h a t or something? 

4 A. Okay. 

5 Q. Or whatever cross-reference you would use. 

6 A. Yeah. And the Payne No. 1 i s the w e l l i n the 

7 southeast quarter of Section 24 . And then of course., the 

8 Blue Fin 24 i s i n the southwest of 24. The Blue Fin 25 i s 

9 i n the northwest of 25. The Albacore i s i n the southwest 

10 of 25. And the S l i p Jack 26 1, i t cuts across i n t o the 

11 southeast southeast of 26. 

12 Q. Okay. Each segment i s i n the range of a h a l f 

13 mile? 

14 A. Yeah, except f o r between the l a s t three w e l l s , 

15 they're a l i t t l e b i t c l o s e r t o one another, I be l i e v e . 

16 But yeah, close t o t h a t . 

17 Q. And the one t h a t you have the i n s e t on? 

18 A. Uh-huh. 

19 Q. Which one i s t h a t on the purple --

20 A. Southeast of 24. 

21 Q. Okay. So i f we wanted t o do a distance from 

22 t h a t t o the Albacore, we'd be over a mile? 

23 A. From t h a t w e l l t o the Albacore? 

24 Q. Right. 

25 A. Looks l i k e i t ' s p r e t t y c lose . 
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Around a mile? 

2 A. Yeah. 

3 Q. Probably a l i t t l e more? 

4 A. Yeah, maybe a l i t t l e b i t more. 

5 Q. Okay. And t h a t i s -- so the record's c l e a r , 

6 t h a t ' s the Blue Fin 24 No. 1? 

7 A. Which one are you t a l k i n g about now? 

8 Q- The one t h a t ' s about a mile apart. 
v 

9 A. There's one i n the southeast quarter, the Payne 

10 No. 1. I t ' s No. 2 on my cross-section, the second from 

11 the l e f t on my cross-section. 

12 MR. DOMENICI: May I approach the witness? 

13 HEARING EXAMINER: Sure. 

14 Q. What I was lo o k i n g f o r , and maybe you d i d n ' t get 

15 my question, t h i s i n s e t seemed t o be important t o you. 

16 A. Yeah. That's the d r i l l stem t e s t . 

17 Q. Okay, the d r i l l stem t e s t . Now where i s t h a t 

18 well? 

19 A. Oh, t h a t ' s the Blue Fin 24. 

20 Q • That's what I said. 

21 A. That's t h a t one r i g h t t h e r e . Not t h a t one. 

22 Q. Okay. So on your i n s e t , where i s that? 

23 A. That's r i g h t there. 

24 Q. Okay. So t h a t ' s about a mile? 

25 A. From the Albacore, j u s t short of a mile, 
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1 something l i k e 4,900 f e e t or something l i k e t h a t . 

2 Q. Okay. Are you -- I know you gave testimony 

3 about a f f e c t i n g c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s f o r your c l i e n t . Just 

4 so I'm c l e a r and the record i s c l e a r , what c o r r e l a t i v e 

5 r i g h t s are you t a l k i n g about? 

6 A. I n the Permo-Penn s e c t i o n , which on t h i s cross-

7 s e c t i o n includes the Lower Wolf Camp, the Cisco, and the 

8 Canyon. Okay? That's what I define as the Permo-Penn. 

9 Q. Okay. And what r i g h t s does your c l i e n t have t o 

10 that? 

11 A. Y o u ' l l have t o ask Mr. B e a l l e x a c t l y what 

12 r i g h t s , but I bel i e v e he has a l l zones. 

13 Q. I'm t a l k i n g geographically, though, where would 

14 the surface of those r i g h t s be located? 

15 A. At the surface, from surface t o t o t a l depth. 

16 Q. Okay. Well, l e t me say i t t h i s way. So i f your 

17 c l i e n t had the Permo-Penn 20 miles away, h i s c o r r e l a t i v e 

18 r i g h t s would be affected? 

19 A. I d i d n ' t say t h a t . 

2 0 Q. Okay, I'm t r y i n g t o p i n you down. You're saying 

21 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . 

22 A. I'm saying h i s r i g h t s t o the Permo-Penn 

23 production i n the o f f s e t w e l l s , the w e l l s t h a t o f f s e t the 

24 Albacore. 

25 Q. Okay, i n the e x i s t i n g w e l l s . And which w e l l s 
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1 are those? 

2 A. That would be -- r i g h t now i t ' s the Blue Fin 24 

3 1 and the 25 1. 

4 Q. Okay. And 24 1 i s one mile away, and the 25 1 

5 i s -- where i s t h a t located? So t h a t ' s 2,300 fee t away? 

6 A. Right. 

7 Q. And t h a t ' s the one t h a t ' s c u r r e n t l y producing 

8 t h a t was t e s t i f i e d about by two of Gandy's witnesses? 

9 A. Which one now are we t a l k i n g about? 

10 Q. 25 1. 

11 A. 25 1, yeah. 

12 Q. And where on those two w e l l s -- which are 

13 depicted on several of your maps but I p r e f e r t o use 

14 E x h i b i t 2, where would the i n t e r v a l t h a t would be a f f e c t e d 

15 be? 

16 A. Well, there's several. I n a d d i t i o n t o the zone 

17 t h a t t e s t e d o i l and gas i n the Blue Fin 24 1, there are 

18 several zones. Anything t h a t I show i n yellow or green 

19 would be something t h a t we might want t o t e s t , p o t e n t i a l l y 

20 t e s t . 

21 And t h i s i s on the basis of what we know from 

22 our cu r r e n t production i n the other two we l l s i n the area, 

23 the Eidson w e l l s , which are even more than a mile away. 

24 But we would c e r t a i n l y t e s t some of those zones, 

25 p a r t i c u l a r l y i n the upper p a r t of -- w e l l , throughout the 
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1 Lower Wolf Camp se c t i o n . The zone at the base of t h a t red 

2 dashed l i n e t h a t I drew across there, which I t h i n k i s a 

3 f a i r l y good c o r r e l a t i o n of the top of the u n i t t h a t ' s 

4 p o t e n t i a l l y a r e s e r v o i r zone i n both Blue Fin w e l l s . 

5 Q. Okay, so t h a t ' s a red dashed l i n e ? 

6 A. Yeah. That's j u s t one. I j u s t put t h a t i n 

7 there t o give an example of a zone t h a t might be 

8 c o r r e l a t i v e i n t o two w e l l s , i n the two Blue Fin w e l l s , and 

9 also c o r r e l a t i v e perhaps t o a zone downdip from the 

10 Albacore w e l l . 

11 Q. And as I understand i t -- i t ' s t a k i n g me a 

12 l i t t l e w h ile t o catch on t o t h i s , but both of these Blue 

13 Fin w e l l s are producing? 

14 A. They're producing c u r r e n t l y from the Chester or 

15 Mi s s i s s i p p i a n . 

16 Q. And so what you're t a l k i n g about i s i f there 

17 were changes made t o those w e l l s t o p e r f o r a t e other areas, 

18 t h i s would be the t a r g e t area? 

19 A. Not ne c e s s a r i l y j u s t i n those w e l l s . We 

20 e n t e r t a i n the idea of d r i l l i n g w e l l s j u s t t o the 

21 Permo-Penn i n t h i s area. Before o i l p r i c e s collapsed, you 

22 know, we were e n t e r t a i n i n g t h a t idea l a s t year. 

23 And we abandoned those ideas because of the 

24 economic s i t u a t i o n . But not only i n these w e l l s , but 

25 these w e l l s might lead -- i f we were t o do these f i r s t , 
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1 then they would probably set up some a d d i t i o n a l l o c a t i o n s 

2 t h a t we want t o d r i l l , or we might decide t o d r i l l o f f the 

3 seismic and d r i l l a l o c a t i o n p a r t i c u l a r l y f o r the 

4 Permo-Penn. 

5 Q. And what i s the schedule f o r the 24 1 t o 

6 p e r f o r a t e these zones? 

7 A. Y o u ' l l have t o ask Mr. B e a l l , he's the operator. 

8 Q. Okay, E x h i b i t 2 shows s i x w e l l s . Do you have 

9 any plans or have you done any studies on any other w e l l s 

10 t h a t you would t e s t i f y -- e x i s t i n g w e l l s t h a t you would 

11 t e s t i f y t h a t would be a f f e c t e d by t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

12 A. I'm only concerned w i t h V-F's p o s i t i o n out here. 

13 No, j u s t -- the Blue Fin w e l l s are the most d i r e c t l y 

14 a f f e c t e d by t h i s a c t i o n . Because there i s -- you can 

15 almost -- and I t h i n k Mr. Smith also showed i t , you could 

16 show some c o n t i n u i t y between w e l l s i n c e r t a i n zones. And 

17 t h a t , t o me, i s a red f l a g . 

18 Q. Okay. But no other V-F w e l l s are going t o be 

19 affected? 

2 0 A. Well, u l t i m a t e l y there's a chance t h a t through 

21 time, i t could a f f e c t w e l l s updip. But, no, we don't have 

22 any other e x i s t i n g w e l l s i n the area t h a t I would consider 

23 i n immediate danger of being a f f e c t e d by t h i s a c t i o n . 

24 Q. Okay. And what i s the d i p d i r e c t i o n of those 

25 two wells? 
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1 A. Of which two wells? 

2 Q. The two t h a t you 1 re concerned about. 

3 A. Well, i f you look at any one of these horizons, 

4 l i k e the Lower Wolf Camp or the Cisco, d i p i s g e n e r a l l y 

5 from -- apparent d i p along t h i s l i n e of c r o s s - s e c t i o n - i s 

6 from n o r t h t o south towards the Albacore w e l l . 

7 And then when you come up on the S l i p Jack 2 6 1, 

8 you're g e t t i n g back up on the Shoebar high. So the d i p i s 

9 g e n e r a l l y i n t o the Albacore. 

10 Q. Now, lo o k i n g on your E x h i b i t No. 1, I j u s t want 

11 t o be sure I understand what the basis f o r the orange bar 

12 i s on E x h i b i t 2. • 

13 A. Oh, t h a t was simply t o give everybody a v i s u a l 

14 of where your three production and/or i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t s 

15 were run, over t h a t general i n t e r v a l , the two up i n the 

16 Wolf Camp and the one down i n -- t h a t s t r a d d l e d the Canyon 

17 Cisco border, according t o my c o r r e l a t i o n s what -- the one 

18 on the bottom would be what you would c a l l the Atoka, 

19 about 11,200 or some odd f e e t . 

2 0 Q. Okay. So I t h i n k you heard the Hearing Examiner 

21 ask the question, "Would you put a s t e e l plug 200 f e e t 

22 below the bottom of these?" For the record, I'm p o i n t i n g 

23 at E x h i b i t 13. Would t h a t occur i f there was a s t e e l plug 

24 200 fe e t below the bottom of those two? Where would t h a t 

25 be on the orange? 
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1 A. Let me see where h i s southern -- You're t a l k i n g 

2 about w i t h respect t o Zone 2? 

3 Q. No, the bottom one. I t h i n k what h i s question 

4 was, "Would you put a s t e e l p l u g w i t h a p l a t e , " or 

5 something, "200 f e e t , " as I i n t e r p r e t e d i t , "200 f e e t 

6 below the bottom of one of those?" I f t h a t occurred, 

7 where would t h a t be? 

8 A. I f t h a t occurred, No. 7. 

9 Q. Where would t h a t be on your orange l i n e ? 

10 A. Okay, give me a second and I ' l l t e l l you. That 

11 would be somewhere r i g h t at the base of t h a t green shaded 

12 horizon on t h a t south t o n o r t h seismic s e c t i o n . 

13 See where the green shaded horizon i s i n the 

14 Cisco? I t would be somewhere i n t h a t i n t e r v a l , r i g h t at 

15 the base or s t r a d d l i n g the base of t h a t i n t e r v a l . 

16 Q. Okay. I guess -- You put the orange l i n e on a 

17 d i f f e r e n t w e l l than the Albacore, so --

18 A. I put i t on the cross l i n e t h a t i n t e r s e c t s t h i s 

19 l i n e . This i s the n o r t h t o south l i n e . That l i n e t h a t i s 

20 on there, I j u s t put i t on there f o r v i s u a l purposes, i t ' s 

21 not implying any more than g i v i n g you a v i s u a l guide as t o 

22 where ev e r y t h i n g i s . 

2 3 Q. Okay. So t h a t ' s -- i f you look on the map next 

24 t o i t , i t would be --

25 A. I t would be r i g h t at t h a t i n t e r s e c t i o n between 
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1 the two l i n e s . 

2 Q. Between the two Blue Fin wells? 

3 A. Yeah. 

4 Q. Okay. I f you put i t on the Albacore, where 

5 would i t be? 

6 A. On the Albacore? The Albacore i s t h a t w e l l 

7 r i g h t there. So i t would be from here t o approximately 

8 here. See, your lower set of p e r f s s t r a d d l e -- according 

9 t o my c o r r e l a t i o n , s t r a d d l e t h i s l i n e . 

10 Q. Okay, I'm asking my assumption of the Hearing 

11 Examiner saying where the plug would go. I'm asking --

12 A. F i r s t of a l l , what plug are we t a l k i n g about? 

13 Q. Okay, l e t rephrase t h i s . The Hearing Examiner 

14 asked Mr. Duffey, he would object t o p u t t i n g a plug 200 

15 f e e t below those p e r f s t h a t are on E x h i b i t 13. 

16 A. For what purpose? 

17 HEARING EXAMINER: I ' l l go ahead and answer 

18 t h a t . I t ' s j u s t t o i s o l a t e the i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l . We 

19 u s u a l l y r e q u i r e a c a s t - i r o n bridge plug w i t h i n 200 fe e t of 

2 0 the bottom most p e r f , j u s t t o make sure there's not 

21 corroded casing below t h a t t h a t s t a r t s t a k i n g water down 

22 below your p e r f s . 

1 
23 A. Yeah. • I 

I 
t 

24 Q. I n f a c t , even i f i t was 50 f e e t below, I would ! 
I 

25 t r y -- My p o i n t i s , i f there was a c a s t - i r o n plug 200 | 
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1 f e e t , 50 f e e t below where we were a c t u a l l y i n t e n d i n g t o 

2 i n j e c t , not where we te s t e d , these maps would be 

3 d i f f e r e n t . These orange l i n e s would be d i f f e r e n t , they 

4 would be sh o r t e r --

5 A. Oh, they would only come up t o the Lower Wolf 

6 Camp. But the Lower Wolf Camp i s a prospective zone t o 

7 us. So you'd be i n j e c t i n g i n a zone t h a t we f e e l might 

8 p o t e n t i a l l y be productive i n the area. 

9 Q. I understand we don't a l l agree on t h a t , but I'm 

10 j u s t t r y i n g t o agree t h a t -- I'm not sure the orange l i n e 

11 i s u s e f u l f o r anything, and they're not i n j e c t i n g i n the 

12 orange l i n e area. 

13 A. No, no, I -- the orange l i n e was simply t o guide 

14 my v i s u a l reference as t o where your p e r f s -- where these 

15 two sets of p e r f s and the one down below what you c a l l the 

16 Atoka, where they were i n the scheme of things on t h i s 

17 seismic, j u s t t o get, you know, a f e e l f o r where t h a t was. 

18 Q. So i t ' s not meant t o depict the i n j e c t i o n --

19 A. No, no.-

2 0 Q. On your E x h i b i t 2, f o r the two Blue Fin 

21 w e l l s , where would the i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l s as shown on 

22 E x h i b i t 13, where would they show up on your E x h i b i t 2? 

23 A. Approximately c o r r e l a t i v e t o -- w e l l , the upper 

24 zone, are you t a l k i n g about a l l three of the --

2 5 Q. Just the two. 
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1 A. Okay, j u s t the two would be approximately 

2 c o r r e l a t i v e t o the yellow and green packages w i t h i n the 

3 upper, say, t w o - t h i r d s of my Lower Wolf Camp sec t i o n . 

4 Q. Okay. Could you go ahead and c i r c l e those? 

5 A. I say approximately c o r r e l a t i v e , because these 

6 i n d i v i d u a l u n i t s i n t e r f i n g e r q u i t e -- maybe a l i t t l e more 

7 than t h a t . 

8 Q. Okay. So would you c i r c l e and Crosshatch those 

9 where you contend show where the Blue Fin w e l l s were? 

10 A. Yes. That's assuming t h a t , you know, there i s 

11 i n t e g r i t y across each one of those sets of p e r f s i f you 

12 were t o i n j e c t i n t o those sets of p e r f s . 

13 Q. And as I understand i t , you've done a l o t of 

14 work i n the Permo-Penn? 

15 A. Uh-huh. 

16 Q. And there i s water i n the Permo-Penn? 

17 A. Yes. There's water l o t s of places i n the 

18 Permo-Penn. 

19 Q. That's a l l I have. Thank you. 

20 HEARING EXAMINER: Mr. Lakins, any questions? 

21 MR. LAKINS: No, s i r . 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: The Dagger Draw, i s t h a t an 

23 extremely extensive r e s e r v o i r , i s i t considered one 

24 r e s e r v o i r , or i s i t a whole bunch of d i f f e r e n t l i t t l e 

25 mounds? 
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1 THE WITNESS: A bunch of d i f f e r e n t mound 

2 sequences. 

3 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay, sequence of mounds. 

4 THE WITNESS: Sequence of mounds t h a t occurred 

5 at various s t r a t i g r a p h i c l e v e l s . Probably over an 

6 i n t e r v a l of approximately 600 f e e t of d i f f e r e n t mounds 

7 sequences, which i s k i n d of s i m i l a r t o t h i s . 

8 HEARING EXAMINER: So Upper Pennsylvanian, Lower 

9 Permian? 

10 THE WITNESS: I t might extend i n t o the Lower 

11 Permian. I don't have paleo on i t . 

12 HEARING EXAMINER: But i t ' s Upper Pennsylvanian, 

13 then? 

14 THE WITNESS: Yeah. I t ' s c e r t a i n l y i n t h i s 

15 range somewhere ( i n d i c a t i n g ) . 

16 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. And i t ' s got low TDS 

17 waters i n i t ; i s t h a t correct? 

18 THE WITNESS: That p a r t i c u l a r f i e l d , yeah, I 

19 t h i n k i t ' s s u l f u r , the water i s sul f u r o u s . 

20 HEARING EXAMINER: Sulfurous water, but i t ' s 

21 r e l a t i v e l y low t o t a l d i s s o l v e d solids? 

22 THE WITNESS: As I r e c a l l , yes. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: I s t h a t one of the 

24 i d e n t i f i e r s of mounds i s the TDS? 

25 THE WITNESS: No. The water q u a l i t y -- water 
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1 counterstream water q u a l i t y , and i n f a c t water volumes, 

2 vary across the board i n the Permo-Penn, and even 

3 sometimes w i t h i n a f i e l d . 

4 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. So why would i t be so 

5 low TDS there at the Dagger Draw? 

6 THE WITNESS: That's a s l i g h t l y d i f f e r e n t 

7 r e s e r v o i r mechanism i n Dagger Draw. You're t a l k i n g about 

8 a strong water d r i v e r e s e r v o i r . Highly f r a c t u r e d , 

9 v e r t i c a l f r a c t u r e . 

10 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. And yet they're able 

11 t o put those b i g volume pumps on there and a c t u a l l y draw 

12 the --

13 THE WITNESS: Draw the water o f f and -- That's 

14 what made Dagger Draw a f i e l d , was t h a t when they s t a r t e d 

15 doing t h a t , then i t went from 19 w e l l s t o 480 w e l l s i n a 

16 hurry. 

17 HEARING EXAMINER: And they have t o handle t h a t 

18 water somehow? 

19 THE WITNESS: Yeah. 

2 0 HEARING EXAMINER: You would have t o handle 

21 water somehow here. 

22 THE WITNESS: They put i t i n the Devonian i n 

23 t h a t case i n t h a t f i e l d . 

24 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. So i n t h i s case, you 

25 t h i n k -- Okay, a l i t t l e b i t more diagnostics on these 
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1 mounds. How do you see these mounds on -- Do you see them 

2 on logs, do you see them on d r i l l stem t e s t s , do you --

3 THE WITNESS: Well, you see them on seismic i f 

4 you have good seismic c o n t r o l over the area. You see them 

5 i n samples. I run a l o t of samples, and I can i d e n t i f y 

6 the d i f f e r e n t types --

7 HEARING EXAMINER: Limestone? 

8 THE WITNESS: Yeah, through sample evaluations, 

9 running v e r t i c a l sections. 

10 HEARING EXAMINER: They're j u s t limes, j u s t 

11 d i f f e r e n t --

12 THE WITNESS: Yeah, they're made up of 

13 d i f f e r e n t -- u s u a l l y s p e c i f i c t o the Permo-Penn -- through 

14 the Permo-Penn and the Strawn has the same s i m i l a r type of 

15 development i n t h i s w e l l , the a l g a l t o graphites 

16 (phonetic) type mound sequences. Just l i k e Townsend f i e l d 

17 and a l l those f i e l d s around there. 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: Townsend i s t h a t way? 

19 THE WITNESS: Townsend, i t ' s i n -- Yeah. The 

20 e n t i r e Permo-Penn complex i s g e n e r a l l y t h a t . That's what 

21 d r i v e s i t . I n the case of a Dagger Draw or an Indian 

22 Basin, i t ' s h e a v i l y d o l o m i t i z e d because of a l l the f l u i d s 

23 t h a t have come up through the f r a c t u r i n g and whatnot. 

24 But here i t ' s a l i t t l e b i t d i f f e r e n t . That's 

25 why I'm saying, every f i e l d i s d i f f e r e n t , every chemistry 
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1 i s a l i t t l e b i t d i f f e r e n t , water volumes are d i f f e r e n t 

2 from one t o the other. You can get a f i e l d t h a t i s 

3 a b s o l u t e l y dry gas, and then go t o the next township and 

4 i t w i l l be wet -- you know, o i l and water production. 

5 So i t 1 s very hard t o p r e d i c t . And you can't 

6 r e a l l y p r e d i c t i t n e c e s s a r i l y from e l e c t r i c logs alone, 

7 you have t o look at a l o t of d i f f e r e n t f a c t o r s . 

8 HEARING EXAMINER: You have t o look at -- and 

9 you run a l l three p o r o s i t y logs t o look f o r --

10 THE WITNESS: Yeah. I always recommend l o o k i n g 

11 at a sonic l o g , l o o k i n g at a compensated neutron density, 

12 and -- An FMI i s a c t u a l l y the most i d e a l way t o do i t . 

13 HEARING EXAMINER: The most expensive. 

14 THE WITNESS: The most expensive, but you can 

15 see eve r y t h i n g at t h a t p o i n t . And t h a t ' s how I define 

IS p o t e n t i a l i n these types of systems and other places where 

17 I've t r i e d t o convince my c l i e n t s t o complete. 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: I s i t Pinnacle Reach you're 

19 t a l k i n g about or are you t a l k i n g about mounds. 

2 0 THE WITNESS: They're mounds. They don't grow 

21 up, they grow out and down. 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: Out and down. 

23 THE WITNESS: They u s u a l l y grow i n q u i e t e r 

24 waters which i s why you can f i n d them i n low areas, 

25 p a r t i c u l a r l y since you have a l o t of sea l e v e l v a r i a t i o n 
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1 i n the system. As soon as you drop sea l e v e l , t h a t s t u f f 

2 w i l l prograde on out i n t o t h i s b a s i n a l areas, as they do 

3 i n Townsend, i n f i e l d s l i k e North Vacuum, you know, t h a t 

4 type of s i t u a t i o n . 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: North Vacuum Abo. 

6 THE WITNESS: North Vacuum Permo-Penn, or Wolf 

7 Camp, whatever they c a l l i t . 

8 HEARING EXAMINER: I guess I'm not f a m i l i a r 

9 w i t h --

10 MR. SMITH: We had sea l e v e l changes before man 

11 made g l o b a l warming. 

12 THE WITNESS: That's r i g h t . We had g l o b a l 

13 warming up the wazoo i n the Permo-Penn. 

14 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Well, there's a l o t of 

15 water t h a t they t e s t e d i n t h i s w e l l , and we've seen i t ' s 

16 low on s t r u c t u r e , and you even said i t ' s low on s t r u c t u r e . 

17 THE WITNESS: Yes. There's no denying t h a t . I 

18 show i t on my seismic time map. 

19 HEARING EXAMINER: I t ' s low on s t r u c t u r e . And 

20 you mentioned something about you would have t e s t e d more 

21 zones i n t h i s w e l l . 

22 THE WITNESS: Uh-huh. 

23 HEARING EXAMINER: You're probably not w i l l i n g 

24 t o t a l k about which zones you'd t e s t . 

25 THE WITNESS: Well, i n the Permo-Penn. I would 
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1 have t e s t e d some of those shows we saw i n the Permo-Penn. 

2 I t took a l l -- you know. We spent a considerable amount 

3 of time completing one of the Eidson w e l l s t h a t I r e f e r r e d 

4 t o . 

5 Because the operator at the time d i d n ' t b e l i e v e 

6 and we j u s t p r e v a i l e d , you know. "Just keep t e s t i n g on 

7 i t , don't give up on i t . " And, you know, i t broke 

8 through. I t took some time t o break through t o -- 18 or 

9 so days before i t broke through, but i t d i d . 

10 HEARING EXAMINER: But there's a caprock on i t 

11 t o seal the --

12 THE WITNESS: Well, every one of those - - I f 

13 these mound u n i t s are not t i e d v e r t i c a l l y -- and a l o t of 

14 them are going t o be because they overlap, any t i g h t 

15 carbonate, any nonreservoir faces between them could be an 

16 e f f e c t i v e seal. 

17 You don't need shales or anything l i k e t h a t , 

18 j u s t a hard carbonate. I've seen as l i t t l e as a f o o t of 

19 carbonate as an e f f e c t i v e b a r r i e r between two precious 

20 separated zones i n the Upper Penn. 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: I s there a l o t of other 

22 companies or other g e o l o g i s t s l o o k i n g f o r these Dagger 

23 Draw l o o k - a l i k e s or --
! 

24 THE WITNESS: Yeah. I mean, t h a t ' s the Holy I 
25 G r a i l of the Permo-Penn. 
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HEARING EXAMINER: There's a l o t of w e l l s around 

2 Tatum and Lovington t h a t are used f o r d i s p o s a l i n t o the 

3 zone, i s n ' t there? 

4 THE WITNESS: Yeah. There are some t h a t are 

5 being used as water f l o o d , which I f i n d -- you know, which 

6 I agree i s a hard nut t o crack i n the Permo-Penn when you 

7 have, you know, shingles l i k e t h a t . Because you don't 

8 know where the water's going f o r sure, but i t ' s going 

9 somewhere. 

10 But t o my knowledge, at l e a s t not the area t h a t 

11 I'm c u r r e n t l y working i n , I don't see a l o t of disposal i n 

12 the Permo-Penn. I f they dispose anything, they dispose i t 

13 i n t o the San Andres, which i s a great receptacle here, or 

14 the Devonian. 

15 HEARING EXAMINER: Yeah, the Lower San Andres. 

16 THE WITNESS: Yeah. These are cased t o the top 

17 of the San Andres, and then they blow through and then 

18 you've got a l l kinds of p o r o s i t y developed -- wet p o r o s i t y 

19 i n the San Andres. 

20 HEARING EXAMINER: So you're not i n t e r e s t e d --

21 or your c l i e n t wouldn't be i n t e r e s t e d i n buying t h i s w e l l 

22 and t r y i n g some h o r i z o n t a l s , you're t r y i n g f o r some more 

23 pumps on i t . 

24 THE WITNESS: Well, I can't a f f o r d i t . Y o u ' l l 

25 have t o ask my c l i e n t . 
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1 HEARING EXAMINER: I would, b u t I ' d p r o b a b l y 

2 f o r g e t the question by the time you'd b r i n g him around, so 

3 I asked i t now. But t h i s Blue Fin w e l l and t h i s Albacore 

4 w e l l , you t h i n k , are p r e t t y equivalent as f a r as 

5 p o t e n t i a l i n the Permo-Penn? 

6 THE WITNESS: Yeah. I may have t e s t e d -- I f i t 

7 was me doing the t e s t i n g , I might have picked a couple 

8 other zones t o t e s t i n there. 

9 But t h a t ' s because I have a l o t of experience i n 

10 t h i s area, and some th i n g s t h a t might be overlooked by 

11 some because maybe they haven't done enough or worked 

12 enough i n t h i s area, we have the b e n e f i t of, you know, 

13 p r e v a i l i n g on the operator t o t e s t on things t h a t might 

14 not normally be looked at as prospective. 

15 I might have picked a couple other zones there, 

16 but c e r t a i n l y , we have a number of p o t e n t i a l zones here i n 

17 the Blue Fin w e l l s t h a t we don't want t o be impacted. 
j 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. The other Shoebar, 1 

19 Wolf Camp production, i s t h a t mounds? 

20 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. And were those 

22 w e l l s -- could you d r i l l and produce those w e l l s and make 

23 decent economics? 
24 THE WITNESS: We have. Yeah. I t has been done. 
25 I t has. 
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1 HEARING EXAMINER: How long a l i f e and how many 

2 b a r r e l s per w e l l would you think? 

3 THE WITNESS: Well, i t r e a l l y v a r i e s q u i t e a b i t 

4 i n t h i s area. There are w e l l s down i n the deep basin 

5 around townsend or east of -- not Townsend, Vacuum n o r t h 

6 and east of Vacuum n o r t h , they make upwards of 3 00,00 0 t o 

7 400,000 b a r r e l s of o i l , plus associated gas per w e l l . 

8 HEARING EXAMINER: A l o t of gas? 

9 THE WITNESS: P r e t t y high g a s - t o - o i l r a t i o . 

10 Yeah, they are gassy. And then there are w e l l s t h a t w i l l 

11 make, you know, 87,000 t o 90,000 b a r r e l s of o i l , but 

12 t h e y ' l l make i t -- you know, t h e y ' l l j u s t go on and on i f 

13 you l e t them, or you can f r a c them and t r y t o accelerate 

14 production i n t h a t manner, or d r i l l several close t o space 

15 w e l l s . 

16 But they are capable i n t h i s environment, i n 

17 t h i s equivalent environment f o r making upwards of 300,000 

18 t o 400,000 b a r r e l s of o i l . And t h a t ' s j u s t o i l . So i f 

19 you count equivalent gas, you're t a l k i n g about h a l f a 

20 m i l l i o n b a r r e l p o t e n t i a l i n some zones i n some w e l l s . 

21 I'm not saying t h a t t h a t ' s what we've got here, 

22 we might have more of 156,000 or 160,000 b a r r e l p o t e n t i a l 

23 l i k e we have elsewhere i n an equivalent environment, but 

24 t h a t ' s a sizeable reserve. 

25 HEARING EXAMINER: Yeah. Now, t h i s i n j e c t i o n , 
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1 i f there was some disposal here and you have some depleted 

2 Shoebar w e l l s t o the west, wouldn't your i n j e c t i o n go t h a t 

3 way? 

4 THE WITNESS: Maybe, maybe not, i t j u s t 

5 depends --

6 HEARING EXAMINER: Maybe i t would go o f f 

7 s t r u c t u r e , do you think? 

8 THE WITNESS: I t might go along s t r u c t u r e . 

9 There are f a u l t s t h a t intervene here. Not any 

10 s i g n i f i c a n c e f a u l t i n g , e s p e c i a l l y not at t h i s l e v e l 

11 between here and the top of Shoebar where the Eidson w e l l s 

12 are, but there i s some deeper f a u l t i n g . 

13 And t h a t ' s -- the deeper f a u l t i n g a c t u a l l y has 

14 something t o do w i t h how these u n i t s step out i n t o the 

15 basin, as w e l l . So t h a t u n d e r l y i n g structural-imposed 

16 p o t t e r fee helps create these deposits where they are. 

17 HEARING EXAMINER: But they're not Permian, 

18 they're Pennsylvanian-aged f a u l t i n g ? 

19 THE WITNESS: No. The major f a u l t i n g t h a t 

20 bounds the west side i s a c t u a l l y Wolf Camp, but some of 

21 them go up t o the Atoka. 

22 HEARING EXAMINER: So you got your Shoebars t o 

23 the west, and i t was productive, and now you're on the 

24 other side of a f a u l t here t h a t t e s t e d wet. 

25 THE WITNESS: No, we're downdip. 
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HEARING EXAMINER: Downdip. Okay. What about 

2 the -- So there's nothing t h a t they could i n j e c t i n t o the 

3 Wolf Camp t h a t would not p o t e n t i a l l y a f f e c t --

4 THE WITNESS: I'm not saying t h a t the whole 

5 i n t e r v a l i s n e c e s s a r i l y productive. There could be wet 

6 zones. They could be the water l e g of a zone t h a t 

7 develops i n o i l lakes s l i g h t l y updip of i t . 

8 Like between the Albacore and the Blue Fin 25, 

9 or the Blue F i n 24, you could have -- and we've seen t h i s 

10 time and time again -- water, o i l , water, o i l , l i k e t h a t 

11 syndrome. 

12 HEARING EXAMINER: L a t e r a l l y ? 

13 THE WITNESS: Separate o i l / w a t e r context. I t ' s 

14 not one b i g connected r e s e r v o i r , they're separate water/ 

15 o i l contacts, separate o i l systems i n the s e c t i o n . So you 

16 could see t h a t . 

17 And t h a t ' s what bothers me the most, i s even i f 

18 you convince y o u r s e l f and t e s t i t long enough t o prove 

19 t h a t t h a t was an a c t u a l l y wet zone, t h a t doesn't mean t h a t 

20 t h a t one i s going t o be. 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. But disposal would not 

22 help sweep more o i l t o your well? 

23 THE WITNESS: I t may, depending on whether or 

24 not t h a t zone extends l a t e r a l l y i n t h a t d i r e c t i o n , but i t 

25 may also f l o o d the zone. j 
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HEARING EXAMINER: Sweep i t out. 

2 THE WITNESS: Sweep i t out. 

3 HEARING EXAMINER: So you don't know f o r sure? 

4 THE WITNESS: You don't know. You don't know. 

5 HEARING EXAMINER: But you sa i d something 

6 e a r l i e r , t h a t you d i d n ' t t h i n k Wolf Camp was a decent 

7 water f l o o d p o t e n t i a l , as w e l l . So you're lo o k i n g at 

8 primary production only as your --

9 THE WITNESS: You're l o o k i n g at primary 

10 production. The water f l o o d p o t e n t i a l on i t r e a l l y 

11 depends upon the c o n d u c t i v i t y of the d i f f e r e n t mound 

12 u n i t s . 

13 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay, s t r a t i g r a p h i c , 

14 geologic --

15 THE WITNESS: Yeah, i t ' s very s t r a t i g r a p h i c a l l y 

16 c o n t r o l l e d , and you don't know what t h a t a r c h i t e c t u r e i s 

17 going t o look l i k e . 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. The Abo has reefs 

19 also? 

20 THE WITNESS: Yeah. 

21 HEARING EXAMINER: So you're not worried 

22 about -- I s Abo not a t a r g e t here? 

23 THE WITNESS: Abo i s not a proven t a r g e t except 

24 on the very top of the s t r u c t u r e . And there, I t h i n k 

25 there are several w e l l s on top of the Shoebar f i e l d i n 
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1 Section 26 t h a t made I t h i n k the best w e l l may have 

2 made 77,000 of o i l . 

3 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. What about a separator 

4 between t h i s Abo and t h i s w e l l i n the Wolf Camp? 

5 THE WITNESS: A separator? 

6 HEARING EXAMINER: Separating -- I n other words, 

7 i f they do only use the Abo as an i n j e c t i o n and put q u i t e 

8 a b i t of pressure on i t , are you worried at a l l about --

9 THE WITNESS: Well, not being an engineer, I 

10 don't know what i m p l i c a t i o n t h a t might have f o r channeling 

11 behind casing or through cement or anything l i k e t h a t , but 

12 g e o l o g i c a l l y , no, i t doesn't -- You know, there's enough 

13 of a gap between the se c t i o n , enough hard rock between 

14 them. Unless there i s a mechanical reason f o r i t . 

15 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Well, t h a t ' s a l l my 

16 questions. 

17 HEARING EXAMINER: Mr. Brooks? 

18 MR. BROOKS: No questions. 

19 MR. CARR: That's concludes my examination of 

20 Mr. Mazzullo, and t h a t concludes the p r e s e n t a t i o n of V-F 

21 Petroleum. I do have c l o s i n g . 

2 2 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. 

23 MR. LAKINS: May put on some r e b u t t a l testimony, 

24 Mr. Hearing Examiner? 

25 HEARING EXAMINER: Does r e b u t t a l testimony sound 
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1 okay? 

2 MR. BROOKS: Yes. I f they want i t , they have 

3 the r i g h t t o put on r e b u t t a l i f i t ' s responsive t o 

4 something Mr. Carr put on. And I'm sure i f i t ' s not, 

5 Mr. Carr would o b j e c t . 

6 MR. LAKINS: Could we take f i v e before we do 

7 t h a t , Mr. Hearing Examiner? 

8 MR. BROOKS: Sounds good t o me. 

9 (Note: A break was taken.) 

10 HEARING EXAMINER: We're back on the record. 

11 MR. DOMENICI: Okay, w e ' l l c a l l Mr. Duffey. I 

12 have l i k e one or two questions on r e b u t t a l . 

13 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. 

14 REBUTTAL EXAMINATION 

15 BY MR. DOMENICI: 

16 Q. Mr. Duffey, now, you've heard q u i t e a b i t of 

17 testimony since you t e s t i f i e d . 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. And you also had a chance t o look at some of the 

20 e x h i b i t s presented by two g e o l o g i s t s . And my question t o 

21 you i s , as a petroleum engineer, have you heard anything 

22 t h a t would change your o p i n i o n t h a t the use of t h i s w e l l 

23 f o r the i n j e c t i o n purposes requested would a f f e c t 

24 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s -- aversely a f f e c t c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s 

25 or cause waste? 
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1 A. Well, the way I understand i t , i t appeared t o 

2 me, j u s t l o o k i n g at the cross-sections, you know, one, 

3 there's a l o t of d e t a i l on here. 

4 But j u s t t a k i n g i t k i n d of as a q u a l i t a t i v e look 

5 at i t , what I heard was, the Cisco Canyon appeared t o be 

6 what -- the m a j o r i t y of i n t e r v a l t h a t they were concerned 

7 w i t h c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . 

8 And i f you take t h a t out of the equation --

9 because we have no i n t e n t i o n of p u t t i n g water i n t o the 

10 Cisco Canyon -- and j u s t keep t h a t water up t o these Wolf 

11 Camp zones up at the top and j u s t l i m i t i t t o there, which 

12 i s what we in t e n d t o do, we're not r e a l l y going t o impact 

13 the rates down i n those zones t h a t they're concerned about 

14 down i n the bottom below the Wolf Camp. 

15 I heard testimony t h a t said, yes, we are 

16 downdip, confirmed our p i c t u r e on the s t r u c t u r a l 

17 i m p l i c a t i o n s , yes, t h a t the Wolf Camp does t y p i c a l l y 

18 produce or can produce a l o t of water, which we confirmed 

19 i n the t e s t s t h a t we made. 

20 You know, they pointed out t h i s Blue Fin 25 1, 

21 which i s a h a l f mile away t h a t may have an i n t e r v a l t h a t 

22 could be t e s t e d i n t h i s Lower Wolf Camp. I t h i n k t h a t 
1 

23 we've demonstrated t h a t --we be l i e v e t h a t i t ' s wet. I 
24 don't t h i n k anything was presented t h a t would change our 

1 
25 idea on t h a t . 
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1 As f a r as these carbonate mounds go, and they 

2 p o i n t e d out a w e l l t h a t ' s w e l l over a mile and a h a l f away 

3 t h a t i s supposedly i n some k i n d of a mound, I'm not r e a l l y 

4 sure what bearing t h a t may have on -- on down where we are 

5 down i n the lower area. But they alluded t o t h a t maybe we 

6 d i d n ' t t e s t f o r water long enough -- or we d i d n ' t t e s t 

7 long enough, t h a t when they t e s t e d a w e l l f u r t h e r on one 

8 of these mounds, a f t e r 18 days -- We don't know what they 

9 saw dur i n g the 18 days. You know, what kept them out 

10 there t e s t i n g ? Did they see a l i t t l e b i t of o i l ? Did 

11 they see a rainbow t h a t got b e t t e r ? We j u s t don't know 

12 what they saw. 

13 But t o sum i t up, I d i d n ' t hear anything i n the 

14 testimony t h a t said we're going t o be i n f r i n g i n g on 

15 somebody's c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s by i n j e c t i n g i n t o the Upper 

16 and the Lower Wolf Camp. 

17 Q. That's a l l I have. Thank you. 

18 HEARING EXAMINER: Thank you, Mr. Duffey. 

19 MR. BROOKS: Does t h a t conclude your r e b u t t a l ? 

20 MR. DOMENICI: That's my r e b u t t a l . 

21 MR. BROOKS: Okay. I'm always confused at the 

22 OCD by the way people do c l o s i n g statements i n some k i n d 

23 of order where people choose which -- Because I'm 

24 accustomed t o the p l a i n t i f f goes f i r s t , then the 

25 defendant, then the p l a i n t i f f gets a r e j o i n d e r . But I 
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1 guess since the custom around here i s t o ask people's 

2 preference --

3 MR. CARR: I don't care. 

4 MR. DOMENICI: We don't care e i t h e r . 

5 MR. BROOKS: I f they're not going t o o b j e c t , you 

6 can go ahead, Mr. Carr. Then I'm going t o l e t them sum 

7 up, which would be t h e i r r i g h t anyway. 

8 MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiners. Gandy 

9 Corporation i s before you seeking a u t h o r i z a t i o n t o i n j e c t 

10 i n t o a 1780 f o o t i n t e r v a l i n the Abo and the Upper Penn 

11 formations. 

12 They are not the operator of the w e l l . They 

13 w i l l become the operator of the w e l l only i f t h i s i s 

14 approved, and they w i l l only own the wellbore. I n t h i s 

15 circumstance, they have nothing a t r i s k . They have no 

16 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . 

17 V-F Petroleum o f f s e t s the property. They have a 

18 w e l l 2,100 f e e t away, and they object because they b e l i e v e 

19 what i s proposed would put reserves at r i s k causing waste, 

20 and t h e i r c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s w i l l thereby be impaired. 

21 As the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n , i t i s your 

22 duty t o prevent waste and p r o t e c t c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . And 

23 you are the two who w i l l have t o review the evidence i n 

24 t h i s case and decide whether or not t h e i r a p p l i c a t i o n can 

25 be granted without causing waste and impair i n g c o r r e l a t i v e 
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1 r i g h t s . 

2 And the d e c i s i o n i s yours, not Mr. Duffey's. We 

3 know what he t h i n k s . We know t h a t he t h i n k s there are 

4 th i n g s about what we presented they d i d n ' t know. But they 

5 d i d n ' t ask. 

6 And now they w i l l t r y and suggest by c a l l i n g 

7 t h e i r engineer t o pass judgment on a l l our g e o l o g i s t s , 

8 they somehow should be able t o i n f l u e n c e your d e c i s i o n and 

9 your petroleum engineers. You're atto r n e y s , you can make 

10 these decisions. 

11 But i t seems l i k e when we're t a l k i n g about 

12 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , maybe we ought t o go back f o r a minute 

13 and remember what they are. 

14 C o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s means by s t a t u t e the 

15 o p p o r t u n i t y a f f o r d e d t o each i n t e r e s t owner i n a pool. 

16 We're the only i n t e r e s t owners i n t h i s pool before you 

17 today t o produce without waste our j u s t and reasonable 

18 share of the reserves i n t h a t pool. I t i s the o p p o r t u n i t y 

19 t o produce. 

2 0 And Gandy coming i n here owning j u s t a wellbore 

21 w i t h an idea of i t w i l l help them make money, doesn't have 

22 a r i g h t t o i n j e c t . They have t o come i n here and show you 

23 t h a t i f they do, i t won't cause waste and i t won't impair 
24 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . And I w i l l t e l l you t h a t they have 

25 f a i l e d t o meet t h a t standard f o r several reasons. 
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1 F i r s t , the i n j e c t i o n i n t e r v a l i s simply too 

2 la r g e . Two pools. They're not going t o segregate t h i s . 

3 When they put a b a r r e l of water i n the ground, you don't 

4 know i f i t ' s going i n t o the Abo, you don't know i f i t ' s 

5 going i n t o the Wolf Camp i f you approve t h e i r a p p l i c a t i o n . 

6 But they came i n and they said, "We're not going 

7 t o h u r t anything because the zones are wet because of the 

8 production t e s t s . They have given i n f o r m a t i o n on i t i n 

9 t h e i r E x h i b i t 3. Nothing more than what's on the C-103 

10 f i l e d w i t h you. 

11 And when I asked Mr. White about, "What i s a 

12 production t e s t ? I s t h i s a production t e s t ? " You may 

13 r e c a l l , he shied away from c a l l i n g t h a t a production t e s t . 

14 And we asked Mr. Duffey about the production 

15 t e s t . And he said, "Well, I got t h a t from Mr. White." 

16 And then you come along and you ask Mr. Smith about i t , 

17 and he said, " I have nothing t o do w i t h t h a t thank God." 

18 So we have a production t e s t t h a t establishes 

19 t h a t the zones are wet and everybody runs from i t . And 

2 0 when you look at the cross-sections and the data provided 

21 by Mr. Mazzullo, you can see they d i d n ' t t e s t most of the 

22 zones where i t had shows on mudlogs. 

23 And the t e s t were w o e f u l l y short. The Dagger 

24 Draw would never have been discovered i f we cut our, 

25 quote, unquote, production t e s t s o f f a f t e r two or three 
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1 days. The Blue Fin 24 would not be a great w e l l i f we cut 

2 our p r o d u c t i o n t e s t s o f f , i f we cut them o f f a f t e r two 

3 days. They simply have not shown t h a t the zones they put 

4 at r i s k are wet. And they needed t o do t h a t . 

5 And then we get t o the Abo. And t h i s i s curious 

6 t o me. We t a l k about i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t i n g . We submit t o 

7 you t h a t t h a t has been done, and i t ' s inadequate. Again, 

8 we can't f i n d a witness who w i l l step up and a c t u a l l y 

9 support these i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t s . 

10 But as we saw from the evidence i n t h i s case, 

11 the i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t i n g showed t h a t the Abo would take 

12 water, and when the Penn was added, i t would take more. 

13 But we don't know how much water w i l l go i n t o e i t h e r zone. 

14 But as we heard t h e i r testimony, i t sounded t o 

15 us l i k e the Abo alone would take the 5,000 b a r r e l s t h a t 

16 they were asking you t o give them the a u t h o r i t y t o i n j e c t . 

17 And Mr. Domenici took r e a l issue w i t h t h a t and 

18 he corrected Mr. Mazzullo and sai d the Abo wasn't t e s t e d 

19 alone, i t was t e s t e d w i t h the Upper Penn. 

20 And we don't r e a l l y know what t o believe here, 

21 Mr. Jones, because i f you look at Mr. Duffey's testimony, 

22 i n h i s E x h i b i t No. 7, the l a s t two sentences i n the 

23 paragraph t h a t s t a r t s , "Abo Reef, " "The Albacore 25 Com 

24 No. 1 r e c e n t l y t e s t e d one hundred percent water from the 

25 Abo p e r f s 8,918 t o 8,952." 
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1 And then when I look at t h e i r E x h i b i t No. 2, the 

2 production t e s t s , those are the Abo p e r f s . That's where 

3 the i n j e c t i v i t y t e s t was run. 

4 And the next sentence says, "A subsequent 

5 i n j e c t i o n t e s t t h a t i s o l a t e d the Abo zone from Wolf Camp 

6 p e r f o r a t i o n s below i n d i c a t e good i n j e c t i v i t y . " 

7 We don't know whether t o b e l i e v e the statements 

8 of t h e i r counsel or the evidence presented by t h e i r expert 

9 witness. But the evidence says the Abo was t e s t e d 

10 separately and i n d i c a t e d good i n j e c t i v i t y . 

11 And you may r e c a l l the testimony t h i s morning, 

12 there was discussion about, "We had t o put pressure on the 

13 Abo and we could only get four b a r r e l s a minute i n t o the 

14 zone." 

15 And r i g h t before lunch, the question was posed 

16 by Mr. Lakins t h a t i f you had four b a r r e l s a minute, what 

17 would t h a t be a day? And i t came i n at around 5,500 

18 b a r r e l s , more than what they're asking f o r a u t h o r i t y t o 

19 i n j e c t . 

20 Now, I'm not going t o argue here what I heard 

21 against what Mr. Domenici may b e l i e v e , but i t w i l l be easy 

22 t o f i n d i n the record, because the evidence i s immediately 

23 before lunch and i t i s i n E x h i b i t 7. 

24 And i f what they say and what they o f f e r e d t o 

2 5 you i s c o r r e c t , they don't need the Upper Penn. The 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
61 fe694b-6911 -4915-b384-c0856342c0dd 



Page 170 

1 problem we have w i t h Gandy's p r e s e n t a t i o n i s they don't 

2 know how much water they're going t o put where. And I 

3 mean p e r f o r a t i o n . 

4 And then i f we l i s t e n t o Mr. Duffey i n h i s 

5 testimony about the formation, once i t ' s t here, we don't 

6 know where i t w i l l go. And on t h i s record, they haven't 

7 shown t h a t what they're proposing can be done without 

8 p u t t i n g reserves at r i s k , or t h a t what they ask you t o 

9 permit them t o do w i l l not cause waste and impair 

10 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , our c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . Because Gandy 

11 owns none. They own nothing but the wellbore i t s e l f . 

12 But look at the evidence we presented. We 

13 presented mudlog shows and o f f s e t w e l l s i n the i n j e c t i o n 

14 i n t e r v a l . We provided you w i t h a d r i l l stem t e s t on the 

15 Blue Fin 24 t h a t t e l l s the whole s t o r y . 

16 I t shows produ c t i o n coming from c o r r e l a t i v e 

17 i n t e r v a l s from the i n t e r v a l s from which they propose t o 

18 i n j e c t . You know, they may not be concerned about what 

19 the shows of the r e s e r v o i r are, but I would submit i t ' s 

2 0 because they're concerned not about waste, but j u s t about 

21 how much water they can get i n the ground. 

22 The h i s t o r y of the area and the w e l l s i n t h i s 

23 pool show t h a t w i t h s i m i l a r and more shows, great 

24 producing w e l l s can be obtained. 

25 And I bel i e v e on the record of t h i s case when 
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1 you look at i t as a whole, y o u ' l l see what they're 

2 proposing impairs our a b i l i t y t o produce the reserves 

3 under our t r a c t . I t denies us the o p p o r t u n i t y t o do t h a t , 

4 and thereby impairs our c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . 

5 And simply, the need of the i n d u s t r y t o have a 

6 place t o put water doesn't j u s t i f y damaging a formation or 

7 pushing operators t o where they may have t o d r i l l and 

8 develop p r o p e r t i e s i n improving waste. 

9 I t h i n k i t simply b o i l s down t o t h i s . On t h i s 

10 record, you can't approve t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n . Because there 

11 i s no record. Every s i n g l e t h i n g they've presented, they 

12 haven't f o l l o w e d up. They don't have witnesses t o respond 

13 or the data upon which i t can r e s t . 

14 And I would go beyond t h a t t o say t h a t on the 

15 f a c t s of t h i s case, you could never approve t h i s 

16 a p p l i c a t i o n . 

17 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. 

18 MR. DOMENICI: What I heard and what the 

19 evidence w i l l show -- and I t h i n k you guys u s u a l l y get the 

20 t r a n s c r i p t before you w r i t e your decision, we never heard 

21 of a t r a c t t h a t they own. We heard -- t r i e d t o f i n d out 

22 what they are claiming. 

23 And a l l we heard was two w e l l s , a c t u a l l y , t h a t 

24 they're concerned about t h a t they have c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s 

25 i n . I don't know which t r a c t Mr. Carr i s r e f e r r i n g t o , 
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1 because i t ' s not i n the evidence anywhere, no one 

2 t e s t i f i e d t o i t . 

3 They d i d give us two w e l l logs f o r the two w e l l s 

4 t h a t they c o n t r o l . One of them we showed you the 

5 production charts on t h a t w e l l which i n d i c a t e i t ' s h i g h l y 

6 u n l i k e l y i t ' s going t o be changed. I t ' s very productive 

7 and very steady and s t a b l e . 

8 Also, at the l e v e l we're i n j e c t i n g , i f you 

9 c o r r e l a t e the mudlogs, i t ' s the same type of formation we 

10 had t h a t we t h i n k we s u f f i c i e n t l y t e s t e d and found i s 

11 behind water and not productive, enough t h a t we're not 

12 going t o go any f u r t h e r , or t h a t the owner who came and 

13 t e s t i f i e d s a i d he's not going any f u r t h e r . 

14 He was prepared t o plug t h a t w e l l , go t o the 

15 expense of plugging i t a f t e r making h i s investment. So 

16 t h a t ' s one w e l l . 

17 The other w e l l i s over a mile away. Again, we 

18 don't know what else they own i n t h a t t r a c t . They're 

19 saying, "We only own --" Well, we don't know what they 

20 own other than t h a t w e l l , which w e ' l l take a t face value, 

21 even though i t was j u s t t h e i r g e o l o g i s t t e s t i f y i n g . 

22 And there's a b s o l u t e l y no proof the water i s 

23 going t o get t h a t f a r . I n f a c t , the proof by t h e i r own 

24 g e o l o g i s t i s r e a l l y d i f f e r e n t . I t ' s t h a t we know where 

25 t h i s water goes, but there's l o t s of water i n t h i s zone. 
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1 This i s downdip. I t probably w i l l go t o other d i r e c t i o n s , 

2 t o other w e l l s t h a t have been pumping. 

3 So there i s nothing i n d i c a t i n g t h a t w e l l i s at 

4 r i s k or t h a t c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s associated w i t h t h a t w e l l 

5 are at r i s k . 

6 So they're r e a l l y asking f o r a huge leap t o be 

7 made drawn o f f of some i n t e r e s t i n g data t o say "Our 

8 c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s would be a f f e c t e d " when what they've 

9 a c t u a l l y shown i s a w e l l t h a t ' s producing. 

10 I t ' s going t o continue t o produce, and i t ' s a 

11 w e l l t h a t ' s a mile plus away and there's no i n d i c a t i o n 

12 i t ' s ever going t o see any water from t h i s i n j e c t i o n w e l l . 

13 So I don't know i f t h a t ' s an overstatement or an 

14 o v e r s i m p l i f i c a t i o n , but t h a t ' s what I gathered from t h e i r 

15 testimony they can show -- I don't t h i n k they r e a l l y d i d 

16 show mudlogs c o r r e l a t i n g , but they showed a d r i l l stem 

17 t e s t at a much lower l e v e l of something t h a t looks l i k e i t 

18 might be workable. 

19 That's t o t a l l y i r r e l e v a n t since there's no 

20 i n d i c a t i o n t h a t our water would get t o t h a t l e v e l or 

21 a f f e c t t h a t production i n any way. 

22 So I t h i n k we have proven our elements. No one 

23 i s o b j e c t i n g , obviously, t o f r e s h water. No one i s 

24 o b j e c t i n g t o i n j e c t i n g i n t o the Abo. We are c e r t a i n l y 

25 prepared t o put a seal immediately below our i n j e c t i o n 
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1 areas which knocks out much of these maps, whatever they 

2 i n t e n d t o show; much of i t becomes c l e a r l y i r r e l e v a n t . 

3 And what i s l e f t as p o s s i b l y relevant i s t o t a l l y 

4 s p e c u l a t i v e , t h a t from an engineering perspective, t h a t 

5 water would go i n t h a t d i r e c t i o n i n such a r a t e as t o --

6 u p h i l l t o a f f e c t t h e i r r i g h t s i n t h a t w e l l . I t would be 

7 p r e t t y hard t o speculate as t o what t h e i r r i g h t s are other 

8 than they have a w e l l . 

9 So I don't t h i n k -- And I t h i n k our burden i s , 

10 we're the only p a r t y t h a t j o i n e d the case, t h a t presented 

11 any k i n d of c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . I t h i n k we've shown i t 

12 doesn't have t o be a f f e c t e d . 

13 And I t h i n k we've shown there won't be waste t o 

14 reserves because no one else has stepped forward and sa i d 

15 t h i s k i n d of -- more or less -- I won't c a l l i t 

16 s p e c u l a t i v e , more or less unique methodology i s going t o 

17 occur around t h i s w e l l or t h a t people have r i g h t s and 

18 people have the economic i n c e n t i v e or economic 

19 j u s t i f i c a t i o n t o pursue t h i s i n a way t h a t I t h i n k meets 

2 0 the burden of proof t h a t i f you -- t h a t you would l i k e l y 

21 b e l i e v e i t . 

22 I ' m not saying they d o n ' t have t h a t p l a n . 

23 Sounds l i k e they do. But they d i d n ' t prove we ' re going t o 

24 harm t h e i r p l a n . And they d i d n ' t prove anybody e lse i s 

25 f o l l o w i n g t h a t p l a n . 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
61fe694b-6911-4915-b384-c0856342cOdd 



Page 175 

1 We brought another operator i n and he's not 

2 prepared t o do i t . We bought our g e o l o g i s t i n , and he's 

3 not prepared -- who i s also an operator, and he's not 

4 prepared t o take those kinds of r i s k s . 

5 So there's no one else i n d i c a t i n g they're 

6 prepared t o take these kinds of r i s k s . And these are the 

7 r u l e s t h a t you've set. Very unpred i c t a b l e , f u l l of water, 

8 and the two w e l l s they have, are not going t o be impacted. 

9 So we would l i k e t o see the permit granted. 

10 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay. Thank you both. We 

11 have one t h i n g t h a t I should have brought up i n i t i a l l y . 

12 On Friday, I checked the Rule 5.9 status of both Primero 

13 and Gandy, and Primero i s okay, Gandy needs a bond posted 

14 on an i n a c t i v e w e l l . We have Rule 5.9. We can't grant --

15 David, you b e t t e r --

16 MR. BROOKS: We can't issue an i n j e c t i o n permit 

17 t o someone who i s out of compliance. And my understanding 

18 i s , according t o the OCD's computer record, Gandy owes us 

19 an i n a c t i v e w e l l bond on the State T No. 2. 

2 0 HEARING EXAMINER: So the issue of whether we 

21 keep the record open u n t i l t h a t happens or --

22 MR. BROOKS: Well, since we've already had the 

23 hearing, I t h i n k we can take i t under advisement, but we 

24 can't issue the order. And i f they don't do i t w i t h i n a 

25 reasonable p e r i o d of time, then they have t o dismiss the 
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1 case without e n t e r i n g an order. Because we can't grant 

2 i t . 

3 I guess unless we decide t o deny i t . We can 

4 deny i t , but we can't grant i t when they're not i n 

5 compliance. 

6 MR. DOMENICI: We have plugged t h i s w e l l and 

7 have not been able t o get i t o f f your computer data base. 

8 So I don't know e x a c t l y how we're going t o deal w i t h t h a t 

9 s i t u a t i o n . 

10 MR. BROOKS: Well, normally, i f the w e l l has 

11 been plugged and abandoned -- has i t been plugged and not 

12 released? 

13 MR. SMITH: I t ' s been plugged and released, and 

14 checked w i t h the State, and we've sent papers i n three 

15 times and i t has not -- the bond has been released. 

16 MR. BROOKS: Well, you need t o come t a l k t o the 

17 d i s t r i c t supervisor, then, because they're the ones t h a t 

18 do the approvals. 

19 MR. SMITH: We have contacted him and w e ' l l 

2 0 contact him again. 

21 MR. BROOKS: Which d i s t r i c t i s t h a t in? 

22 MR. SMITH: Lea County. 

23 MR. BROOKS: Okay. So t h a t would be Buddy. 

24 Yeah. Buddy's k i n d of a country boy, but he's a 

25 reasonable man, and I t h i n k i f he has a reason, h e ' l l t e l l 
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1 you, and i f he's made a mistake, h e ' l l c o r r e c t i t . And i f 

2 you can't get an adequate response, you can always ask f o r 

3 a hearing. 

4 HEARING EXAMINER: Okay, l e t ' s take Case 143 3 0 

5 under advisement. And t h a t being the l a s t case on the 

6 docket, t h i s docket i s closed. 

7 (Whereupon, the proceedings concluded.) 
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